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Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report

The directors present thewr report and audited financial statements of Manchester United Limited (‘the Company’) for the year
ended 30 June 2013

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company continues to be the operation of a professional football club together with related and
ancillary activities

Business review

The Manchester United first team maintained a high level of performance on the pitch, fimishing as Champions in the FA
Premier League achieving a record 20 English league titles (2012 runners-up) At the end of the year Sur Alex Ferguson retired
as first team manager David Moyes was subsequently appointed as the new first team manager

During the year Old Trafford staged 38 (2012 27) maich day events compnsing 28 (2012 25) Manchester United home games
(19 FA Premier League, 4 UEFA Champions League and 5 domestic cup), 1 Rugby League Grand Final and 9 Olympic
Games football matches

Turnover for the year was £163 2 mithion (2012 £126 9 million) Operating profit before operating expenses - exceptional
items was £90 7 milhon (2012 £63 7 milhon) Operating expenses — exceptional items for the year were £nil (2012 £89
mullion) - see note 4 to the financial statements The Company made a profit on ordinary activities before taxation of £20 7
mitllion (2012 £8 7 million)

Strategy
The four key elements for the Company's strategy for growth are

e  Mamtaming playing success
* Treating fans as customers

¢ Leveraging the global brand
* Developing club media righis

Future developments and outlook for 2013/14

¢ The Company continues to explore new commercial opportumties within the United Kingdom and overseas to further
leverage the Manchester United brand

Principal risks and uncertainties

The key business nsks and uncertamnties affecting the Group are considered to relate to
¢  mamtaining and enhancing our brand and reputation,
¢ recruitment and retention of key employees (including playing and coaching staff},
» the performance and popularity of our first team, and

renewal and replacement of key commercial agreements on simlar or better terms




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties {continued)

Maintaining and enhancing our brand and reputation

The success of our business depends on the value and strength of our brand and reputation Our brand and reputation are also
integral to the implementation of our strategies for expanding our follower base, sponsors and commercial partners To be
successful in the future we believe we must preserve, grow and leverage the value of our brand across all of our revenue
streams Unfavourable publicity regarding our first team’s performance in league and cup competitions or their behavior off
the field, our ability to attract and retain certain players and coaching staff or actions by or changes in our ownership, could
negatively affect our brand and reputation Failure to respond effectively to negative publicity could also further erode our
brand and reputation In addition, events n the football industry as whole, even 1f unrelated 10 us, may negatively affect our
brand or reputation As a result, the size, engagement, and loyalty of our follower base and the demand for our products may
decline Pamage to our brand or reputation or loss of our followers’ commitment for any of these reasons could wnpair our
abihty to expand our follower base, sponsors and commercial partners or our ability 1o sell significant quantities of our
products, which would result in decreased revenue across our revenue streams, and have a matenal adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow, as well as require additional resources 1o rebuild our brand
and reputation In additton, maintaining and enhancing our brand and reputanton may require us to make substanttal
investments Failure to successfully mamtain and enhance the Manchester United brand or our reputation or excessive or
unsuccessful expenses 1n connection with this effort could have a material adverse effect on our business, resulis of operations,
financial condition and cash flow

Recrunment and retention of key employees (including playing and coaching staff)

We face strong competition from other football clubs in England and Europe in attracting and retaiming talent We aim to
recruit and retain the best playing, coaching and general staff by offering attractive remuneration packages, by ensuning regular
communication with our employees and offering regular reviews of performance and traiming

The performance and popularity of our first team

Our revenues are dependent on the performance and popularity of our first team Sigmificant sources of our revenue are the
result of strong performances in the Enghsh domestic and European competitions Our first team’s performance affects
commercial revenue through merchandising and sponsorship revenues

Renewal and replacement of key commercial agreements on similar or better terms

The majonty of our commercial revenue 1s generated from commercial agreements with our spensors and these agreements
have finite terms When these contracts do expire we may not be able to renew or replace them with contracts on similar or
better terms or at all We aim to continue to grow our spensorship portfolio by developing and expanding our geographic and
product categorised approach which will include partnering with additional global sponsors, regional sponsors, and mobile and
media operatots

Finaneral nsk management
The Company’s activities expose 1t 1o a variety of financial risks market risk (including currency nisk and nterest rate risk),
credit nsk and hquidity nsk The Company uses denivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures

The policy for each of the above risks 1s descnbed in more detail below

a) Market risk

Currency risk

The Company 1s exposed to the following currency risks

+ Significant amount of sponsorship revenue denominated in US dollars

s Risks ansing from the predomnantly US dollar denominated amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings

The Company only considers hedging US doltar exposures to the extent that there 1s an excess of currency receivable after the
mterest payments have been made and after taking tnto consideration the credit nisk of the counterpany




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report (continued)

Financaial nsk management (continued)

Interest rate nsk

The Company has no sigmficant interest beanng assets other than cash on deposit Interest bearing habilities include a portion
of the amounts owed to group undertakings, any drawdown of the revolving credit facility and any bank overdraft which bears
interest at a vanable rate

b) Credit nsk

Credit nisk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obhigations resulting in financial loss to the
Company Credit nisk anses from cash held and debtors (excluding amounts owed by group undertakings, tax receivable,
prepayments and accrued income, and deferred tax asset) — the maximum credit exposure 1s £43,482,000 (2012 £53,881,000)
Management does not expect any matenal losses from non-performance by these counterparties and there are no significant
concentrations of credit sk within the Company

Credit terms offered by the Company vary depending on the type of sale Credit terms typically range from 14 - 30 days,
although specific agreements may be negotiated in individua! contracts with terms beyond 30 days

¢) Liquadity risk

The Company's liquidity posiiion and short-term debt finance ensures that 1t has sufficient funds avaitable for short-term
working capital requirements and for investment 1n the playing squad and other capital projects The annual cash flow 1s
cychcal in nature with a sigmificant portion of cash inflows beng received prior to the start of the playing season Ultimate
responsibility for hquidity risk management rests with the Executive Directors of Manchester United plc The Executive
Directors use management mnformation tools including budgets and cash flow forecasts to constantly monitor and manage
current and future hquidity

Cash flow forecasting 15 performed on a regular basis which ncludes rolling forecasts of the Company’s hquidity requtrements
to ensure that the Company has sufficient cash to meet operational needs

Dividends
An mterim dividend of £mil was paid during the year (2012 £mil) The directors do not recommend the payment of a final

dividend (2012 £ml)

Directors
The directors who held office throughout the year and up to the date of sigming the financial statements (unless otherwise

stated) were as follows

J Glazer (Chairman)

M Bolingbroke (resigned 31 December 2012)
D A Gill (resigned 31 December 2012)

A Glazer

B Glazer

D Glazer Kassewitz

E Glazer

K Glazer

E Woodward (resigned 31 December 2012)

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

At the time the report was approved a quahifying third party indemmity provision, made by the Manchester United plc Group
was 1n place for the directors of Manchester Umited plc and its subsidiary companies This qualifying indemnity provision was
in force throughout the financial year




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report (continued)

Dhfferences between market and balance sheet value of land and buildings
The directors consider that the market value of interests n freehold property 1s at least that shown as the net book value of the
assets

Chanitable and political donations
Charnable donations during the year amounted to £51,000 (2012 £548,000) In hine with Company policy, no donations were
made for political purposes (2012 £mil)

Charitable donations include payments totalling £m1 (2012 £288,000) to the Manchester Umited Foundation The Foundation,
which 1s a registered charity, 15 supported by the Group, tn that 1t has a licence to use the Manchester Umted brand, and also
has certain rights to use Manchester United Football Club’s ground at Old Trafford The Group 1s a significant donor to the
Foundation The purpose of the Foundation, through 1ts trading subsidiary, 1s to operate commercial fundraising activities
using the Manchester Unmited name, the profits from which are used to support local and national official chanty partners Other
charntable donations during the year included Unicef £50,000 (2012 £250,000) and the Riley Education Foundation £ml
(2012 £10,000)

Employment policies

The Company 1s committed to its "people philosophy' and, as a result, to promoting policies to ensure that employees and
apphcants for employment are treated fairly and consistently The Company has an equal opportumities policy, the aim of
which 1s not to discnminate against employees or apphcants for employment on the grounds of age, disability, ethnic ongin,
nationality or national ongin, religion, race, gender, sexual orentation, mantal status or family circumstances Entry into and
progression within the Company 15 determined solely by the job criteria and personal ability/competence

The Company also seeks to apply best practice in the employment, traimng, development and promotion of disabled persons
The Company takes seriously 1ts statutory obligations relating to disabled persons and seeks not to discriminate against current
or prospective employees because of a reason relating to their disabihity If an exasting employee becomes disabled, such steps
that are practical and rcasonable are taken, in respect of adjustments to premises or employment arrangements, to retain
him/her 1in employment Where appropriate, rehabilitation and suitable traiming are given

Employees are regularly updated on the performance of the Company This 15 achieved through a broad base of
communications including staff briefings, announcements and the staff newsletter 'RedLines’ Employees’ views are sought
through staff surveys and action plans are then developed to target prionity for improvement areas The Company 1s continuing
with its focus on reward and recognition of performance as one of these priortties for improvement and 1ts focus on a total
reward strategy which has three principal components compensation (pay package), benefits and the work expenence
Schemes are continually introduced which focus on rewarding individual performance

The Company has established its Vision and Values and these are communicated to all employees Our Vision and Values are
directly linked to performance and development review procedures, training and orgamsational change programmes and
reward and recogmition immatives, which apply to all our employees

Environmental pohiecies

The Company recognises its responsibility to ensure a safe and healthy environment and will endeavour to mamntain sound
environmental performance through the continued maintenance of our proactive environmental management system, which 1s
integrated inte our overall business activities




Manchester United Limited
Directors’ report (continned)

Statement of dircctors' reaponsibilities
The directoss are responsible for prcpanng the Anual Report wnd dhe [inancial statements i avsordunce with apphienble Jaw

and regulations

Company law requies the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have
preparod the finnncial statements i scegrdance with Umicd Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Avcuuntng Standards awd applivable law) Under wiipuny law ihe dactlors tust mel appruve Lhe financial
statements untess they are satisfied thal they pive a true and fair view of the siate of atfairs of the Company and of the profit or

loss of the Company for that period.

In preporing these Ninancin] statements, the directors ore required to

« selecy sultable accounting poticies and then apply them consistently,

« make judgoments and accounting estimates that arc reasonable and prudent,

o sinte whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject 1o any matenial depariures disclosed and
expiained in the financial statements, and

= prepare the financial statements on the gomg concern basis untess 1t 1s ingppropniate to presume that the Company will
continuc in busincss

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient 1o show end explam the Company's
trensactions and disclose with rcasonable accurncy at any bme the financial poshion of the Company and enahle them tn
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Componies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the
nsscts of the Company and hence for taking reasonahle steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregnlantics

Statement of disclosure of informatton to auditors

Iach dircetor who 13 a director ot the date ol approval of thss annug! report confirs thi

a) so far os the dircctor 1s aware, there 15 no relevant audit mformation of which the Company's sudrtors are unaware, ond

b} the dirsctor has taken all the steps that he/she cught o have 1aken as o director (n order to make himse) Pherself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's andiors are aware ol that informunon

Thus confirmation 1s given snd should be interpreted an avcoirdance with the provisions of 3418 ul the Cumpnints Avt 2000

Approved by the Board and signed on 1s hehall by

JQl
Divector

Repistered ofhee:

Old IMafford

Manchesier

MI16 ORA

Company regsicred in Fngland and Wales number 02570509

27 September 2013




Manchester United Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Manchester United Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Manchester United Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013 wihich comprise the
Profit and loss account, the Balance sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
therr preparation 15 applicable taw and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (Umited Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice}

Respective responsibihities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 7, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 15 to audit
and express an opinion on the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands 1t may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing '

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtainmg evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This
includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by directors, and
the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the
Annual Report and financial statements to 1dentify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we constder the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements .

In our opimion the financial statements

s give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2013 and of its profit for the year then ended,
s  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

+ have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Compames Act 2006

In our opinion the information given 1n the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements




Manchester United Limited
Independent auditors’ report to the members of Manchester United Limited
(continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, in
our opinion

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us, or

+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retumns, or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

s  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

(\:\—&‘A.A__-——

NWE Boden (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester

27 September 2013




Manchester United Limited
Profit and loss account

Year ended 30 June
2013 2012
Note £000 £°000
Turnover 2 163,155 126,937
Operating expenses - excluding exceptional items 3 (72,471) (63,219)
Operating expenses - exceplional items 4 - (8,936)
Total operating expenses (72,471) (72,155)
Operating profit 90,684 54,782
Interest payable and simitar charges 5 (72,156) (55,569)
Interest receivable 5 2,210 9,481
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 20,738 8,694
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 7 (10,650) (13,911)
Profit/(loss) for the year 14,15 10,088 (5,217)

The results for both the current and prior year derive from continuing activities

There were no recogmsed gains or losses 1n the current or prior year other than stated above and therefore no statement of

recogmsed gans and losses has been presented

There ts no matenal difference between the profit on ordinary activities before taxation and the profit/{(loss) for the year stated

above and therr historical cost equivalents

i0




Manchester United Limited
Balance sheet

As at 30 June

2013 2012
Nole L0100 £'N0t)
Fixed asscts
Tanpble aysets 22,9484 22,907
Investiient proporty 9 7,367 7,164
Other investments 10 32,439 120,784
62,790 151,655
Current assefs
Debtors — amounts falling due within ong year n 690,137 635,237
Debtors — amounts falling dus after more than one year " 8,084 587
Cash a1 bank and i hand 15,968 13,619
724,186 649,443
Creditors -- ameunts falling due within ane yeur 12 {504.844) {(619,8B61)
Net current assety 122,342 29,582
Tota] assets less current linbilities 185132 180.637
Defened income {115,616y (89,613)
Net nssets 169.516 91,024
Capital nnd reserves
Called-up share vopitul 13 26,519 26,519
Share premiun account 4 7,756 7,756
Capial eontnbution rescrve 14 68,404 -
Profit and loss accomnt 14 66,837 36,749
13 169,516 91024

Totul shareholders' funds

The linancial stalements on pages 10 1o 22 were approved by the board of directors on 27 September 201 and signed on us

behll by

1 Glaz,
Direct
Company number 03570509




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting pohicies

The financial statements have been prepared using the accounting policies described below which have been consistently
applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention and have been
drawn up 1n accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom and the Companies Act 2006

Fo Fergn currenciles

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the local currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and habilities denominated 1n foreign currencies are recogmised in the profit and
loss account

Turnover

Turnover represents mcome receivable from the Company's principal actuvities excluding value added tax Turnover 1s
analysed between Commercial, Broadcasting and Matchday

a) Commercial

Commercial turnover comprises income recelvable from the exploitation of the Manchester United brand through sponsorship
and other commercial agreements, including mimimum guaranteed income, and fees for the Manchester United first team
undertaking tours For sponsorship contracts any addiional income receivable over and above the mimimum guaranteed
income contamned n the sponsorship and licensing agreements 1s taken to turnover when a rehable estimate of the future
performance of the contract can be obtammed and 1t 1s probable that the amounts will not be recouped by the sponsor i future
years

Income 15 recogmised over the term of the sponsorship agreement in hine with the performance obligations included within the
contract and based on the sponsorship benefits enjoyed by the individual sponser This typically results in more income being
recogrused 1n the later stages of the contract as the level of support provided to sponsors increases over the term of the
sponsorship agreement, which 1s consistent with the payment profiles typically set out 1n the contract In instances where the
sponsorship benefits remain the same over the duration of the contract, income 1s recogmsed on a straight-line basis In respect
of contracts with multiple elements, the Company allocates the total consideration recervable to each separately 1dentifiable
element based on their relative fair values, and then recognises the allocated income on a straight-line basis over the relevant
period of each element

Commercial turnover which 1s received in advance of a period end but relating to future periods s treated as deferred
mecome The deferred income 1s then released to tumover on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreements

b) Broadcasting

Broadcasting turnover represents income receivable from the sale of MUTV international rights Broadcasting turnover which
1s recerved 1n advance of a period end but relating to future periods 1s treated as deferred income The deferred income 1s then
released to turnover on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the refevant agreements

12




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
Turnover {(continued)

¢} Matchday

Matchday tumover 1s recogmsed based on matches played throughout the year with income from each match being recogrused
only after the match to which the income relates has been played Matchday turnover includes ground catering and museum
ncome Matchday turnover which 1s received in advance of a period end but relating to future pertods 1s treated as deferred
mmcome The deferred income 15 then released to turnover as the matches are played

Accrued income
Income from matchday activities, broadcasting and commercial contracts, which 1s received after the financial period to
which it relates, 1s accrued as earned

Deferred income
Income from matchday activities, broadeasting and commercial contracts, which has been received or receivable prior to the
penod end 1n respect of future penods, 1s deferred

Tax
Current tax, which comprnises UK and overseas cerporation tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered)
using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date

Deferred tax 1s recogmsed 1n respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the reporting date where
transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more (or less) tax mn the future have occurred at the reporting date
Timing differences are differences between the Company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements
that anise from the inclusion of gains and losses on tax assessments in periods different from those 1n which they are recognised
in the financial statements

Deferred tax ts determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date and are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability 1s settled or the asset 1s realised and 1s charged or credited 1n the profit and
loss account Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis

Deferred tax assets and habihnies are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to offset current tax assets and current tax
liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and habilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there 1s an intention to settle the balances on a net basis

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated at historical purchase cost less accumulated depreciation Costs include only those costs directly
attributable to bring the asset into working conditien for its intended use

With the exception of frecheld property acquired before 1 August 1999, deprecration on tangible assets 1s provided using the
straight-line method at annual rates appropnate to the estimated useful economic lives of the assets, as follows

Freehold property 75 years
Computer equspment and sofiware (included within

plant and machinery} 3 years
Plant and machinery 4-5 years
Fixtures and fittings 7 years

Freehold property acquired before | August 1999 s depreciated on a reducing balance basis at an annual rate of 1 33%

13




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1 Accounting polictes (continued)

Investment property

Investment property 1s revalued annually with any temporary surplus or deficit against camrying value being transferred to an
mvestment property revaluation reserve A deficit which 1s considered to be permanent and which 1s 1n excess of any
previously recognised surplus over carrying value relating to the same property, or the reversal of such a deficit, 1s charged (or
credited) to the profit and loss account Depreciation 15 not provided in respect of investment property The directors consider
that this accounting policy, which represents a departure from the statutory accounting rules, 1s necessary to provide a true and
fair view as required under SSAP 19 ‘Accounting for investment properties’ The financial effect of this depanture from the
statutory accounting rules ts not matenal

Other investments

Other investments in the Company balance sheet are included at cost less any provision for impairment in value Impairment
reviews are performed by the directors when there has been an indication of potential impairment

Financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage 1ts exposure to fluctuations n foreign currency exchange rates
Dernvative instruments utilised by the Company are typically forward cumrency contracts The impact on the profit 1s deferred
until the underlying transaction ts recogmsed n the profit and loss account

Operzting leases

Leases in which a sigmficant pertion of the nisks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account ¢on a straight line basis over the lease
term Any incentives received at the inception of the lease are recognised on a straight-line basis over the hife of the lease

Pension costs

The Company 1s one of a number of participating employers 1n The Football League Limited Pension and Life Assurance
Scheme (‘the scheme’) The Company is unable to 1dentify its share of the assets and liabilities of the scheme As such the
Company’s contributions into the scheme are reflected within the profit and loss account when the contributions fall due

The Company also operates a defined contribution scheme The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Company n an independently admimstered fund The Company’s contnbutions into this scheme are reflected within the profit
and loss account when they fall due

Cash flow statement and related party disclosures

The Company 1s a subsidiary of Red Football Limited and 1s included in the consolidated financial statements of Red Football
Limited, which are publicly available Consequently, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a
cash flow statement under the terms of FRS | (revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow Statements’ The Company is also exempt under the
terms of FRS 8 ‘Related party disclosures’ from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are part of the Red
Football Lumited group or investees of the Red Football Limited group

14




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Turnover

Turnover, all of which arises from the Company’s principal activity and originates i the Umited Kingdom, can be analysed

mto 1ts mawn components as follows

2013 2012
£°000 £000
Commercial 149272 114,258
Broadcasting 2,358 2,697
Matchday 11,525 9,982
163,155 126,937
3 Operating expenses - excluding exceptional items
2013 2012
£’000 £7000
Staff costs (note 6) (31,912) (25,639)
Depreciation (note 8) (1341 (965)
Operating lease charges — land and bwldings (2,028) (1,492)
Operating lease charges — plant and machtnery {21) (28)
Other operating charges (36,442) (34,795)
Auditors’ remuneration audit services (289) (26}
Auditors’ remuneration tax complance services (279) (274)
Auditors’ remuneration other services (159) -
(72,471) (63,219)
4  Operating expenses - exceptional items
2013 2012
£°000 £°000
Professional adviser fees relating to a proposed public offer of shares - (8,936)

Professional adviser fees relating to a public offer of shares by Manchester Umited plc are recognised as an expense when they
are not directly attributable to the issue of new shares or when a particular offer 1s no longer being pursued The fees include

£ml (2012 £1,755,000) relating to services provided by the Company’s auditors

15




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5  Interest (payable)/receivable

2013 2012
£'000 £°000
Bank charges and other fees (833) (872)
Interest payable on amounts owed to group undertakings (33,499) (44,836)
Premium on early repayment of amounis owed to group undertakings {27,716) -
Amortisation of 1ssue discount and debt finance costs on loan owed to group
undertakings (7,596) {4,098)
Foreign exchange loss on US dollar denominated loan owed to group undertakings (2,512) (5,763)
Total interest payable and similar charges {72,156) (55,569)
Interest receivable on investment in semor secured notes and other 1,994 8,843
Foreign exchange gain on US dollar denominated bank accounts 205 21
Foreign exchange gain on investment i US dollar denominated senior secured notes 11 617
Total interest receivable 2,210 9,481
Net interest payable and similar charges (69,946) (46,088)
6  Staff costs
The average number of employees during the year, mcluding directors, was as follows
2013 2012
Number Number
By activity
Commercial 104 76
Media 69 67
Administration and other 178 156
Average number of employees 351 299
Particulars of employee costs are as shown below
2013 2012
£7000 £000
Wages and salanes (27,924) (22,553)
Social security costs (3,088) (2,435
Other pension costs (9500) (651)
(31,912) (25,639)

Directors’ emoluments amounted to £1,956,000 (2012 £3,534,000), including company contnbutions to defined contnbution
schemes of £40,000 (2012 £60,000) The number of directors who held office during the year and were members of a defined
contribution scheme was 2 (2012 2) Emotuments of the highest patd director amounted to £1,327,000 (2012 £2,593,000),

including Company contnbutions to defined contribution schemes of £25,000 (2012 £30,000)

16




Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

7  Tax on profit on ordinary activities

2013 2012

£°000 £000
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profit for the year (19,369 (13,573)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years 1,225 (125)
Total current tax (18,144) (13,700)
Deferred tax
OCngiation and reversal of iming differences 7,495 (104)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years 24 (55)
Impact of change in UK corporation tax rate (25) (52)
Total deferred tax (note 11) 7,494 (211
Total tax (10,650) (13,911)

The tax assessed for the year 15 higher (2012 higher) than the weighted average standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of

23 75% (2012 25 5%) A reconciliation of total current tax 1s shown below

2013 2012

£°000 £000
Profit on ordmary activities before taxation 20,738 8,694
Profit on ordinary activities multiphied by the weighted average UK Corporation tax rate
of 23 75% (2012 25 5%) (4,925) (2.217)
Tax effects of
Adjustment in respect of previous years 1,225 (125}
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (205) (2,504)
Capital allowances and other timing differences 75 104
UK/UK transfer pricing adjustments (13,961) (9,468)
Exempted finance income 7,461 510
Losses not claimed in the year (7.814) -
Total current tax (18,144) {13,700)

Factors that may affect future tax charges:

The man rate of UK corporation tax reduced from 24% 1o 23% from 1 Apnl 2013 The reduction to 23% was enacted 1n July

2012 and consequently deferred tax balances have been re-measured to 23%

Proposals have been announced to further reduce the rate to 21% from 1 Apnl 2014 and 10 20% from 1 Apnil 2015 The

further reductions to 21% and 20% were enacted in July 2013

The overall effect of the further reductions from 23% to 20%, if these apphed to the deferred tax balance at 30 June 2013,

would be to reduce the deferred tax asset by £1,054,000
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Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

8  Tangible assets

Freehold Plant and Fixtures and
property machmery fittings Total
£°000 £7000 £'000 £°000

Cost
At 1 July 2012 21,249 5,805 2,151 29,205
Additions - 624 794 1,418
Disposals - (223) (2) (225)
At 30 June 2013 21.249 6,206 2,943 30,398
Accumulated depreciation
At | July 2012 1,763 4,031 504 6,298
Charge for the year 114 881 346 1,341
Disposals - (223) (2) (225)
At 30 June 2013 1,877 4,689 848 7,414
Net book amount
At 30 June 2013 19,372 1,517 2,095 22,984
At 30 June 2012 19,486 1,774 1,647 22,907

Freehold property pnmanly comprises land at the Old Trafford stadium and mescellaneous builldings

9 Investment property

£°000
Valuation
Al 1 July 2012 7,364
Additions 3
Net book amount
At 30 June 2013 7,367
At 30 June 2012 7,364

Investment properties were externally valued as at 30 June 2013 1n accordance with UK practice statements contained within
the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Valuations Standards, 61h edihon There were no changes to the carrying amount of
mvestment property following this valuation
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Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

10 Other mvestments

Shares in
group Semor secured Loan to group
undertakings notes  undertaking Total

£'000 £000 £000 £°000
Cost
At | July 2012 21,851 98,371 562 120,784
Additons 2,664 - 7,362 10,026
Disposals - (98,371} - (98,371)
Net book amount
At 30 June 2013 24,515 - 7,924 32,439
At 30 June 2012 21,851 98,371 562 120,784

On 2 January 2013, the Company acquired the remaiming 33 3% of the 1ssued share capital of MUTYV Limited for a purchase
consideration (including transaction costs) of £2,664,000 The Company now holds 100% of the 1ssued share capital of MUTV
Limited On the same date, the Company acquired loan stock tssued by MUTV Limited, together with accrued interest,
totalling £7,362,000

The nvestment in sentor secured notes related to pounds sterbing and US dollar denominated semor secured notes 1ssued by
MU Finance plc, a wholly owned subsidiary of Manchester United Limited Duning the year ended 30 June 2013, MU Finance
plc repurchased the entire investment

The nvestment 1n subsidiary undertakings as at 30 June 2013 relates to the following companies

Description of
share classes

Subsidiaries Principal activaty Issued share capital  owned
Manchester United Feotball Club Limited Professional football club  GBP 1,008,546 100% Ordinary
MU Finance plc Debt-holding company GBP 15,000,000 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Interactive Limited Media company GBP 10,000 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Commercial Enterprises (Ireland)

Limuited Property investment EUR 13 100% Ordinary
Alderley Urban Investments Limited Property investment GBP2 100% Ordinary
MUTYV Limited Subscription TV channel ~ GBP 2,400 100% Ordinary

All of the above were incorporated and operate in England and Wales, with the exception of Manchester United Commercial
Enterprises (Ireland) Limited which was incorporated and operates in Ireland The directors believe that the net book value of
investments in subsidiaries 1s supported by their undertying net assets and future forecasts

The investment 1n senior secured notes related to notes 1ssued by MU Finance plc, a whotly owned subsidiary of Manchester
United Limited During the year ended 30 June 2013 the Company transferred the semor secured notes to MU Finance plc

The loan to group undertaking relates to unsecured loan stock 1ssued by MUTV Limited The loan stock accrues interest at
Libor + 1% to 1 5% and was repayable at par in 2007, subject to the availability of free cash flows within MUTV Limited It s
currently estimated that the loan will be repaid over approximately 17 years, based on current projections During the year
ended 30 June 2013, MUTV Limited repaid £l (2012 £mil) of the loan stock and interest of £mil (2012 £350,000)
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Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

11 Debtors
2013 2012
£°000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 17,514 37,762
Amounts owed by group undertakings 642,648 573,342
Tax recevable - 2,500
Prepayments and accrued income 29,975 21,633
690,137 635,237
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Deferred tax asset 8,081 587
8,081 587
Total debtors 698,218 635,824
Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand
The deferred tax asset comprises
2013 2012
£000 £000
Depreciation 1n excess of capital allowances 514 491
Carried forward tax losses 7,567 96
8,081 587
The movement 1n the deferred tax asset 15 as follows
2013 2012
£000 £000
At 1 July 587 798
Credited/(charged) 1o profit and loss account (note 7) 7,494 (211)
At 30 June 8,081 587
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Manchester United Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

12 Creditors — amounts fallimg due within one year

2013 2012

£°000 £000

Trade creditors 1,815 900
Amounts owed to group undertakings 480,485 594,772
Corporation tax 951 1,126
Other taxation and social security 5,352 3,836
Other creditors 13 -
Accruals 13,228 19,227
501,844 619,861

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand Interest 15 charged by group undertakings at

various rates from US dollar Libor plus an apphcable margin of between 1 625% and 2 875% to a fixed coupon of 8 875%

13 Called-up share capital

2013 2012
£°000 £7000

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
265,192,483 (2012 265,192,483) ordnary shares of £0 10 each 26,519 26,519

14 Reserves
Capital
Share premmum contribution Profit and loss

account reserve account Total
£000 £°000 £7000 £°000
At ] July 2012 7,756 - 56,749 64,505
Profit for the year - - 10,088 10,088
Capital contribution!” . 68,404 - 68,404
At 30 June 2013 7,756 68,404 66,837 142,997

V" Following the imtral public offering of shares in Manchester United plc on 10 August 2012, a parent undertaking invested

£68,404,000 by way of a capital contnbution on 13 September 2012

15 Reconcihation of movements in shareholders’ funds

2013 2012

£°000 £'000
Profit/(loss) for the year 10,088 (5,217)
Capital contribution 68,404 -
Opening shareholders’ funds 91,024 96,241
Closing shareholders’ funds 169,516 91,024
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Manchester United Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

16 Comnmutments and contingent habihties

16.1 Operating lease commitments
At 30 June 2013 the Company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, as follows

2013 2012

Land and Land and
bumldings Other buildings Other
£°000 £7000 £000 £000

Expiry date

- within one year 13 - - -
- between two and five years 2,058 23 2,016 18
2,071 23 2,016 18

16.2 Capital commitments
At 30 June 2013, the Company had capital commitments of £1 2m (2012 £mil)

16 3 Debt of subsidiary undertaking

MU Finance ple, a subsidiary of the Company, has 1ssued sentor secured notes that are secured by a first-ranking lien over all
shares and substantially all property and assets of the 1ssuer and guarantors, which by defimtion tncorporates Red Football
Limited, Red Football Junior Limited, Manchester Umted Football Club Limited and the Company The principal amount
outstanding at 30 June 2013 was the sterhng equivalent of £177 5 million ($269 2 mithon)

During the year ended 30 June 2013 MU Finance plc drew down a US dollar denominated secured term loan The loan s
secured against substantially all of the assets of each of the guarantors, which by definition incorporates Red Football Limited,
Red Football Jumor Limited, Manchester Umted Football Club Limited, MU Fiance ple and the Company The prnincipal
amount outstanding at 30 June 2013 was the sterling equivalent of £208 2 million ($315 7 rullion)

17 Immediate parent undertaking and ultimate controliing party

The immediate parent undertaking 15 Red Football Limited The ultimate parent undertaking and conirolling party 15 Red
Football Limited Partnership, a ltmited partnership formed in the state of Nevada, United States of America whose general
partner 1s Red Football General Partner, Inc, a corporation formed in the state of Nevada, Umited States of America Red
Football Limited Partnershup and Red Football General Partner, Inc are controlled by fanuly trusts affiliated with the Glazer
family

Manchester United plc, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and hsted on the New York Stock Exchange, 15 the
parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial statements as at 30 June 2013 The
consohidated financial statements of Manchester United plc can be obtained from the website www manutd com

Red Football Limited 1s the parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial statements

as at 30 June 2013 The consolidated financial statements of Red Football Linmted can be obtamned from the Company
Secretary, Red Football Limited, Old Trafford, Manchester, M16 ORA
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GENERAL INFORMATION

In this annual report en Form 20-F (*Annual Report”) references to

oy 0L LT

»  “Manchester United,” “the Company,” “our Company,” “our business,” “we,” “us” and “our” are, as the context
requires, to Manchester United ple together with its consolidated subsidiaries as a consolidated entity, for all
penods following the reorgamzation transactions (see below), and

*  “we,” “us” and “our” for perieds prior to the reorganization transactions are to Red Football Shareholder
Limmted together with 1ts consolidated subsidianes as a consolidated entity

” &

Throughout this Form 20-F, we refer to the following football leagues and cups

+ the Football Association Premuer League sponsored by Barclays (the “Premier League™),

+  the Football Association Cup 1n association with Budweiser (the “FA Cup™),

*  the Football League Cup sponsored by Capital One (the “League Cup™),

* the Union of European Football Associations Champions League (the “Champions League”), and
» the Union of European Football Associations Europa League (the “Europa League™)

The terms “matchday” and “Matchday” refer to all domestic and Evropean football match day activities from
Manchester United games at Old Trafford, the Manchester United football stadium, along with receipts for domestic cup
(such as the League Cup and the FA Cup) games not played at Old Trafford Fees for arranging other events at the stadium
are also included as matchday revenue

REORGANIZATION TRANSACTIONS AND INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (“IPO”)

We have histonically conducted our business through Red Football Shareholder Limuted, a pnivate limited company
incorporated 1n England and Wales, and its subsidianes Prior to the reorgamzation transactions, Red Football Shareholder
Limited was a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Red Football LLC, a Delaware hmited habihity company On 30 Apnl
2012, Red Football LLC formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Manchester Umted Ltd , an exempted company with Iimited
hability incorporated under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and restated from time
to time On 8 Avgust 2012, Manchester Umted Ltd changed its legal name to Manchester United plc

On 9 August 2012, Red Football LLC contributed all of the equity interest of Red Football Shareholder Limited to
Manchester United plc As a result of these transactions, Red Football Shareholder Limited became a direct, wholly-owned
subsidiary of Red Football Holdings Limtted, which 1s in turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Manchester Umited plc and our
business 1s now conducted through Manchester United plc and 1ts subsidianes We refer to these events throughout this
Annual Report collectively as the “recrgamzation transactions ™

Immedately following the reorgamization transactions on 9 August 2012, Manchester United plc had in1ssue
124,000,000 Class B ordinary shares and 31,352,366 Class A ordinary shares, totalhng 155,352,366 ordinary shares with a
total subscribed capital of £75,000 As a result historic earnings per share calculations refiect the capital structure of the new
parent with the required disclosures 1n note 10 to our audited consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2013 and 2012
and for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011 The reorgamzation transactions have been treated as a capital
reorgamization In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™), historic earnings per share
calculations and the balance sheet as of 30 June 2012 were restated retrospectively to reflect the capital structure of the new
parent rather than that of the former parent, Red Football Shareholder Limited

On 10 August 2012, the Company 1ssued 8,333,334 Class A ordinary shares and histed such shares on the New York
Stock Exchange at a price of $14 00 per share Net of underwriting costs and discounts, proceeds of US$110,250,000 were
recerved by the Company




PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

We report under IFRS, as i1ssued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”} and International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Comtmuttee (“IFRIC”} interpretations None of the financial statements were prepared in
accordance with generally accepied accounting pninciples in the United States Pnior to the reorgamization transactions, we
conducted our business through Red Football Shareholder Limited and 1ts subsidianes Unless otherwise spectfically stated,
the listorical financial information presented 1n this Annual Report 15 presented for the following entities

+  with respect to the financial information presented as of and for the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, Red
Football Shareholder Limited and 1ts consohidated subsidianes, and

= with respect to the financial information presented as of and for the year ended 30 June 2013, Manchester
United plc and 1ts consolidated subsidiaries
All references n this Annual Report to (1) “pounds sterhng,” “pence,” “p” or “£” are to the currency of the United
Kingdom, (1) “US dollar,” “USD" or “$” are to the currency of the United States, and (in) “Euro” or “€” are to the currency
introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant 1o the treaty establishing the
European Community, as amended

IMPLICATIONS OF BEING AN EMERGING GROWTH COMPANY

As a company with less than $1 0 bilhon in revenue duning our last fiscal year, we quahfy as an “emerging growth
company” as defined in the Jumpstart Qur Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) An emerging growth company
may take advantage of specified reduced reporting and other burdens that are otherwise apphicable generally to public
companies We may take advantage of these provisions until 30 June 2017 or such earher ime that we are no lenger an
emerging growth company We would cease to be an emerging growth company 1f we have more than $1 0 biltron i annuat
revenue, have more than $700 million 1n market value of our erdinary shares held by non-affiliates, or 1ssue more than
$1 0 lalhon of non-converttble debt over a three-year period We may choose to take advantage of some but not all of the
reduced burdens allowed under the JOBS Act We have not taken advantage of any of the reduced reporting burdens 1n this
filing, although we may choose 10 do so in future filings

Specifically, the JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth company” like us to take advantage of an extended
transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public compames We previously chose to
“opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we are complying, and will continue to comply, with new or revised accounting
standards as required when they are adopted This decision to opt out of the extended transition period 1s trrevocable

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains estimates and forward-looking statements Our estimates and forward-loocking
statements are mainly based on our current expectations and estimates of future events and trends, which affect or may affect
our businesses and operations Although we believe that these esuimates and forward-looking statements are based upon
reasonable assumptions, they are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties and are made 1n hght of information currently
available to us Many important factors, 1n addition to the factors described in this Annual Report, may adversely affect our
results as indicated 1n forward-looking statements You should read this Annual Report completely and with the
understanding that our actual future results may be matenally different and worse from what we expect

All s1atements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements The words “may,” “might,”
2 ¥

“will,” “could,” “would,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “inmtend,” “seek,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,”

“potential,” “continue,” “contemplate,” *“possible” and similar words are intended to 1dentify estimates and forward-locking

statements
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Qur estimates and forward-looking statements may be influenced by various factors, including without limitation
*  our dependence on the performance and populanty of our first team,

*  maintaimng, enhancing and protecting our brand and reputation, pamcularly in new markets, 1n order to expand
our follower and sponsorship base,

Hl




* our rehance on European competitions as a source of future income,
+ the negonation and pneing of key media contracts outside our control,
» actions taken by other Premier League clubs that are contrary to our interests,

»  our ability to attract and retain key personnel, including players, 1n an increasingly competitive market with
mcreasing salanes and transfer fees,

«  our ability to execute a digital media strategy that generates the revenue we anticipate,
«  our ability to meet growth expectations and properly manage such anticipated growth,

+  our ability to maintain, train and build an effective intemational sales and marketing infrastructure, and manage
the risks associated with such an expansion,

= our ability to renew or replace key commercial agreements on similar or better terms, or attract new spoensors,
+  our exposure to credit related losses 1n connection with key media, commercial and transfer contracts,

= our refationship with the various leagues to which we belong and the apphcation of their respective rules and
regulations,

+ our relationship with merchandising, licensing, sponsor and other commercial partners,
+  mamtaining our match attendance at Old Trafford,

*  our exposure to increased competition, both in football and the vanious commercial markets in which we do
business,

*  any natural disasters or other events beyond our control that adversely affect our operations,

+  the effect of adverse economic conditions on our operations,

» uncertainty with regard to exchange rates, our tax habihity and our cash flow,

»  our ability to adequately protect against mecha piracy and 1dentity theft of our follower account infermation,
+ our exposure to the effects of seasonality 1n our business,

+ the effect of our indebtedness on our financial health and competitive position,

» our ability to compete in our industry and with innovation by our competitors,

»  estimates and estimate methodologies used in preparning our consolhidated financial statements, and

+  the future trading pnices of our Class A ordinary shares and the impact of securities analysts’ reports on these
prices

Other secuions of this Annual Report include addiuonal factors that could adversely impact our business and
financial performance, principally “Item 3 Key Informatton—D Rusk Factors * Moreover, we operate 1n an evolving
eavironment New nsk factors and uncertainttes emerge from time to time and it 1s not possible for our management to
predict all nsk factors and uncertainties, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any
factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ matenally from those contained 1n any forward-looking
statements We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements




MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

This Annual Report contains industry, market, and competitive position data that are based on the industry
publications and studies conducted by third parties listed below as well as our own internal estimates and research These
industry publications and third-party studies generally state that the information that they contain has been obtamed from
sources beheved to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information While we
believe that each of these publications and third-party studies 1s reliable, we have not independently verified the market and
industry data obtained from these third-party sources While we believe our internal research 1s rehiable and the defimtion of
our market and industry are appropnate, neither such research nor these defimtions have been venfied by any independent
source

References to our “659 million followers™ are based on a survey conducied by Kantar Media (a division of WPP plc)
and paid for by us As in the survey conducted by Kantar Media, we define the term “followers™ as those individuals who
answered survey questions, unprompted, with the answer that Manchester United was either their favorite football team 1n the
world or a football team that they enjoyed following in additton to their favorite football team For example, we and Kantar
Med:a included in the definstion of “follower™ a respondent who either watched live Manchester United matches, followed
highlights coverage or read or talked about Manchester Umited regularly Although the survey sohicrted unprompted
responses, we do not distinguish between those respondents who answered that Manchester United was their favonte football
team in the world and those who enjoy following Manchester United in addttion to their favorite football team Since we
behlieve that each of our followers engage with our brand in some capacity, including through watching matches on television,
attending matches live, buying retail merchandise or monitoring the team’s highlights on the internet, we believe identifying
our followers in this manner provides us with the best data to use for purposes of developing our business strategy and
measunng the penetration of our brand However, we expect there to be differences in the level of engagement with our
brand between individuals, including among those who consider Manchester United to be their favorite team, as well as
between those who enjoy following Manchester United We have not identified any practical way 1o measure these
differences 1n consumer behavior and any references to our followers 1n this Annual Report should be viewed in that light

This internet-based survey 1dentified Manchester Umited as a supported team of 659 milhon followers (and the
favonite football team of 277 million of those followers) and was based on 53,287 respondents from 39 countries around the
world In order to calculate our 659 million followers from the 53,287 responses, Kantar Media apphed estimates and
assumphions to certain factors including population size, country specific charactenstics such as wealth and GDP per capita,
affimty for sports and media penetration Kantar Media then extrapolated the results to the rest of the world, representing an
extrapolated adult population of 5 billion people However, while Kantar Media believes the extrapolation methodology was
robust and consistent with consumer research practices, as with all surveys, there are inherent hmitations 1n extrapolating
survey results to a larger population than those actually surveyed As a result of these limitatiens, our number of followers
may be stgmficantly less or significantly more than the extrapolated survey results Kantar Media also extrapolated survey
results to account for non-nternet users in certain of the 39 countnes, particularly those with low internet penetration To do
so, Kantar Media had to make assumptions about the preferences and behaviors of non-internet users 1n those countries
These assumptions reduced the number of our followers in those countries and there 15 no guarantee that the assumptions we
applied are accurate Survey results also account only for claimed consumer behavior rather than actual consumer behavior
and as a result, survey results may not reflect real consumer behavior with respect to football or the consumption of our
content and products

In addition to the survey conducted by Kantar Media, this Annual Repert references the following industry
publications and third-party studies

+ television viewership data compiled by futures sports + entertainmeni—Medtabrands International Limited for
the 2011/12 season (the “Futures Data”),

+  Deloitte Touche Techmatsu Limited’s “Annual Review of Football Finance 2009” (the “Deloitte Annual
Review™), and

« a paper published by AT Kearney, Inc 1n 2011 entitled “The Sports Market” (‘AT Keamey™)




PART1
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A, SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected histonical financial information presented below as of 30 June 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and for
the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 has been denved from our audited consohidated financial
statements, which were prepared under IFRS, as 1ssued by the TASB and IFRIC interpretations

Prior to the reorganization transactions, we conducted our business through Red Football Shareholder Limited and
its subsidiaries, and therefore our historical financial statements as of and for the years ended 30 June 2012, 2011, 2010 and
2009 present the results of operations and financial position of Red Football Shareholder Limited unless otherwise
specifically noted Following the reorganization transactions, we have conducted our business through Manchester United plc
and 1ts consolidated subsidianes, and therefore our historical financial statements as of and for the year ended 30 June 2013
present the results of operations and financtal position of Manchester United plc and #s consolidated subsidianies
Manchester United plc’s historical financial statements prior to the reorgamization transactions are the same as Red Football
Shareholder Limited’s financial statements prior to the reorganization transactions, as adjusted for the reorgamzation
transactions The reorganization transactions have been reflected retroactively in Manchester United plc’s earmings/(loss) per
share calculations

The selected historical financial information presented in the tables below should be read in conjunction with, and 1s
qualified 1n 1ts entirety by reference to, our audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes The audited
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes as of 30 June 2013 and 2012 and for the years ended 30 June
2013, 2012 and 2011 have been included 1n this Annual Report

Unless otherwise specified, alt financial information included 1n this Annual Report has been stated 1n pounds
sterling

Year ended 30 June
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(£7000, unless otherwise indicated)

Income Statement Data

Revenue 363,189 320,320 331,441 286,416 278,476
Analyzed as
Commercial revenue 152,441 117,611 103,369 77,322 65,977
Broadcasting revenue 101,625 103,991 117,249 103,276 98,013
Matchday revenue 109,123 98,718 110,823 105,818 114,486
Operating expenses—before exceptional items {304,120)  (274.411) (267.936) (232.716) (232,034)
Analyzed as
Employee benefit expenses {180,523) (161,688) {152,915 (131,689) (123,120)
Other operating expenses (74,118) (66,983) (68,837) (52,306} (62,311)
Depreciation (7,769) (7,478) (6,989) (8,634) (8,962)
Amonrtization of players’ registrattons (41,714} (38,262) (39,245) (40,087) (37,641)
Operating expenses—exceptional 1tems (6,217) (10,728) (4,667) (2,775) (3,097)
Total operating expenses (310,337 (285,139) (272,653) (235,491) (235,131)
Operating profit before profit on disposal of players”
registrations 52,852 35,181 58,788 50,925 43,345
Profit on disposal of players’ registrations 9,162 9,691 4,466 13,385 80,185

Operating profit 62,014 44,872 63,254 64,310 123,530
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Year ended 30 June

2013 2012 2011 2010 1009
(£'000, unless otherwise indicated)}

Finance costs (72,082) (50,315) (52,960) (110,298) (118,743)
Finance income 1,275 779 1,710 1,715 1,317
Net finance costs (70,807) (49,536) (51,250)  (108,583) (117,426)
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (8,793) (4,664) 12,004 (44,273) 6,104
Tax credit/(expense) 155,212 27,977 986 (3,211 (844)
Profit/(loss) for the year 146,419 23,313 12,990 (47,484) 5,260

Attributable to

Owners of the parent 146,250 22,986 12,649 (47,757) 5,343

Non-controlling interest 169 327 341 273 (83)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

(thousands) 162,895 155,352 155,352 155,352 155,352
Basic and diluted earmings/(loss) per share (£) 090 015 008 (031) 003

As of 30 June
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(£'000, unless otherwise ndicated)

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents 94,433 70,603 150,645 163,833 150,530
Total assets 1,118,311 947,148 1,017,188 989,670 993,644
Total habilities 670,351 712,051 796,765 1,030,611 987,106
Total equity 447960 235,097 220,423 (40,941) 6,538
Equity attnbutable to owners of the parent 447,960 237,100 222,753 (38,270) 9,482

Exchange Rate Information

Our functional and reporting currency 15 pounds sterling and substantially all of our costs are denominated 1n pounds
sterling However, Broadcasting revenue from our participation in European competitions, as well as certain other revenue, 1s
generated in Euros We also occasionally enter into transfer agreements which are payable in Euros In addition, we have
currency exposure against the US dollar relating to our US dollar denominated secured term loan and semor secured notes
and our Commercial revenue from certain sponsors For all dates and penods, the exchange rate refers to the exchange rate as
set forth in the H 10 statistical release of the Federal Reserve Board The rates represent the noon buying rate 1n New York
for cable transfers payable n foreign currencies These rates may differ from the actual rates used in the preparation of the
financial statements and other financial information appeanng in this Annual Report Inclusion of these exchange rates 1s not
meant to suggest that the US dollar amounts actually represent such pounds sterling amounts or that such amounts could have
been or could be converted into US dollars at any particular rate, or at all On 18 October 2013, the exchange rate was §1 62
to £1 00

The following table sets forth information concerning exchange rates between the pounds sterling and the US dollar
for the penods indicated These rates are provided solely for convensence

Noon Buying Rate

Period Perod End  Average(l) Low High
(5 per £1 00)
Fiscal Year 2009 165 1 60 137 200
Fiscal Year 2010 149 158 143 170
Fiscal Year 2011 16l 159 150 167
Fiscal Year 2012 157 159 154 165
Fiscal Year 2013 152 157 149 163
April 2013 155 153 151 156
May 2013 152 153 150 156
June 2013 152 155 152 157
July 2013 152 152 148 154
August 2013 155 155 151 157
September 2013 162 159 155 162
October 2013 (through 18 October 2013) 162 161 159 162




Source Federal Reserve Bank of New York and Federal Reserve Statistical Release

(1) Fiscal year and interim peniod averages were calculated by using the average of the exchange rates on the last day of
each month during the relevant period Monthly averages are calculated by using the average of the daily rates
during the retevant month

B. CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Not apphicable

C. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not apphcable

D RISK FACTORS

Investment in our Class A ordinary shares involves a high degree of risk. We expect to be exposed to some or all of
the risks described below in our future operations Any of the nsk factors described below, as well as addinional risks of
which we are not currently aware, could affect our business operations and have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and prospects and cause the value of our shares to decline Moreover, 1f
and to the extent that any of the nsks described below materialize, they may occur in combination with other risks which
would compound the adverse effect of such risks on our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and
prospects

Risks Related to Our Business

If we are unable to maintarn and enhance our brand and reputation, particularly in new markets, or if events occur that
damage our brand and reputation, our ability to expand our follower base, sponsors, and commercal partners or to sell
significant quantities of our products may be impaired.

The success of our business depends on the value and strength of our brand and reputation Our brand and reputation
are also integral to the implementation of our strategies for expanding our follower base, sponsors and commercial partners
To be successful 1n the future, particularly outside of Europe, we believe we must preserve, grow and leverage the vatue of
our brand across all of our revenue streams For instance, we have in the past experienced, and we expect that 1n the future
we will continue to receive, a hugh degree of media coverage Unfavorable publicity regarding our first tearmn’s performance
in feague and cup competitions or their behavior off the field, our ability to attract and retain certain players and coaching
staff or actions by or changes in our ownership, could negatively affect our brand and reputation Failure to respond
effectively to negative pubhaity could also further erode our brand and reputation In addition, events in the football industry,
even If unrelated to us, may negatively affect our brand or reputation  As a result, the size, engagement, and loyalty of our
follower base and the demand for our products may decline Damage to our brand or reputation or loss of our followers’
commitment for any of these reasons could impair our ability to expand our follower base, sponsors and commercial partners
or our ability to sell significant quantities of our products, which would result in decreased revenue across our revenue
strearns, and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financtal condition and cash flow, as well
as require additional resources to rebwld our brand and reputation

In addiion, maintaimng and enhancing our brand and reputation may require us to make substantial investments
We cannot assure you that such investments will be successful Failure to successfully maintain and enhance the Manchester
United brand or our reputation or excessive or unsuccessful expenses in connection with this effort could have a materal
adverse effect on our business, resulis of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Our business s dependent upon our ability to attract and retain key personnel, including players.

We are highly dependent on members of our management, coaching staff and our players Competition for talented
players and staff 1s, and will continue to be, intense Our ability to attract and retain the highest quahty players for our first
team, reserve team and youth academy as well as coaching staff 1s critical to our first team’s success in league and cup
competitions and increasing populanty and, consequently, crtical to our business, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flow OQur success and many achievements over the last twenty years does not necessanly mean that we will




continue to be successful in the future, whether as a result of changes 1n player personnel, coaching staff or otherwise A
downtumn n the performance of our first team could adversely affect our ability to aitract and retain coaches and players In
addition, our popularnty in certain countries or regions may depend, at least 1n part, on fielding certamn players from those
countnies or regions While we enter into employment contracts with each of our key personnel with the aim of securing their
services for the term of the contract, the retention of their services for the full term of the contract cannot be guaranteed due
to possible contract disputes or approaches by other clubs Our failure to attract and retain key personnel could have a
negative impact on our ability to effectively manage and grow our business

We are dependent upon the performance and popularity of our first team.

Our revenue streams are driven by the performance and popularity of our first team Sigmficant sources of our
revenue are the result of historically strong performances in English domestic and European competitions, specifically the
Premier League, the FA Cup, the League Cup, the Champions League and the Europa League Qur income varies
significantly depending on our first team’s participation and performance in these competiions Qur first team’s performance
affects all five of our revenue streams

= spensorship revenue through sponsorship relationships,
» retaill, merchandising, apparel & product licensing revenue through product sales,
+ new media & mobile revenue through telecom partnerships and our website,

»  broadcasting revenue through the frequency of appearances and performance based share of league
broadcasting revenue and Champions League prize money, and

* matchday revenue through ticket sales

Qur first team currently plays 1n the Premuer League, the top football league in England Our performance n the
Premier League directly affects, and a weak performance in the Premier League could adversely affect, our business, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flow For example, our revenue from the sale of products, media nghts, tickets and
hosputality would fall considerably 1f our first team were relegated from (or otherwise ceased to play 1n) the Premer League,
the Champrons League or the Europa League

We cannot ensure that our first team will be successful in the Premier League or in the other feagues and
tournaments 1n which 1t plays Relegation from the Premier League or a general decline in the success of our first team,
particularly 1n consecutive seasons, would negatively affect our ability to attract or retain talented players and coaching staff,
as well as supporters, sponsors and other commercial partners, which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

If we fail to properly manage our anticipated growth, our business could suffer.

The planned growth of our commercial operations may place a significant strain on our management and on our
operational and financial resources and systems To manage growth effectively, we will need to maintain a system of
management controls, and attract and retain qualified personnel, as well as, develop, tramn and manage management-level and
other employees Failure to manage our growth effectively conld cause us to over-invest or under-invest 1n infrastructure, and
result 1n losses or weaknesses 1n our infrastructure, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flow Any faiture by us to manage our growth effectively could have a negative
effect on our ability to achieve our development and commerctahization goals and strategies

If we are unable to maintain, train and build an effective international sales and marketing infrastructure, we will not be
able to commercialize and grow our brand successfully.

As we grow, we may not be able to secure sales personnel or organizations that are adequate in number or expertise
to successfully market and selt our brand and products on a global scale If we are unable to expand our sales and marketing
capability, tramn our sales force effectively or provide any other capabilities necessary to commerciahize our brand
internationally, we will need to contract with third parties to market and sell our brand 1f we are unable to establish and
maintain compliant and adequate sales and marketing capabilities, we may not be able to 1ncrease our revenue, may generate
increased expenses, and may not continue to be profitable




It may not be possible to renew or replace key commercial agreements on simular or better terms, or attract new sponsors.

Our Commercial revenue for each of the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011 represented 42 0%, 36 7% and
31 2% of our total revenue, respectively The substantial majonty of our commercial revenue 1s generated from commercial
agreements with our sponsors, and these agreements have finite terms When these contracts do expire, we may not be able to
renew or replace them with contracts on similar or better terms or at all Our most important commercial contracts include
contracts with global, regional, mobile, media and supplier sponsors representing industries including financial services,
automotive, beverage, airline, imepiece, betting and telecommunications, which typically have contract terms of two to five
years

If we fail to renew or replace these key commercial agreements on similar or better terms, we could experience a
matenal reduction in cur Commercial and sponsorship revenue Such a reduction could have a matenal adverse effect on our
overall revenue and our abihity to continue to compete with the top football clubs 1n England and Europe

As part of our business plan, we intend to continue to grow our sponsorship portfolio by developing and expanding
our geographic and product categonzed approach, which will include partnering with additional global sponsors, regional
sponsors, and mobile and media operators We may not be able to successfully execute our business plan in promoting our
brand to attract new sponsors We are subject to certain contractual restrictions under our sponsorship agreement with Nike
that may affect our ability to expand on our categones of sponsors, including certain restrnictions on our ability to grant
sponsorship, supphership, advertising and promotional rights te certain types of businesses We cannot assure you that we
will be successful it implementing our business plan or that our Commercial and sponsorship revenue will continue to grow
at the same rate as 1t has in the past or at all Any of these events could negatively affect our abihty to achieve our
development and commercialization goals, which could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flow

Negonation and pricing of key media contracts are outside our control and those contracts may change in the future.

For each of the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, 30 8%, 32 6% and 39 8% of our Broadcasting revenue,
respectively, was generated from the media rights for Champions League matches, and 60 5%, 59 0% and 51 4% of our
Broadcasting revenue, respectively, was generated from the media nghts for Premier League matches Contracts for these
media nghts and certain other revenue for those competitions (both domestically and internationally) are negotiated
collectively by the Prermier League and the Union of European Football Associations (“UEFA’) We are not a party to the
contracts negotiated by the Premuer League and UEFA Further, we do not participate in and therefore do not have any direct
influence on the outcome of contract negotiations As a result, we may be subject 1o media rtghts contracts with media
distributors with whom we may not otherwise contract or media rights contracts that are not as favorable to us as we might
otherwise be able to negotiate individually with medha distributors  Furthermore, the limited number of media distnbutors
bidding for Premier League and Champions League media nights may result in reduced prices paid for those nghts and, as a
result, a decline in revenue recerved from our media contracts

In addition, although an agreement has been reached for the sale of Premier League domestic and mternational
broadcasting rights through the end of the 2015/16 football season and for the sale of Champions League broadcasting rights
through the end of the 2014/15 football season, future agreements may not maintain our current level of Broadcasting
revenue Moreover, if international broadcasting revenue becomes an increasingly large portion of total revenue for the
Premier League, a single club’s domestic success and corresponding revenue may be outweighed by international media
rights, which are distnbuted among all Prermer League clubs in even proportion As a result, success of our first teamn n the
Premier League could become less of an overall competitive advantage

Future intervention by the European Commussion, the European Court of Justice (the “ECJ”") or other competent
authonttes and courts having jurisdiction may also have a negative effect on our revenue from media rights For example, on
4 October 2011, the ECJ ruled on referrals 1t had received from English courts involving the cases of the Premier League &
others vs QC Leisure & Others / Karen Murphy vs Media Protection Services The ruling held that any agreement designed
to guarantee countiry-by-country exclusivity within the European Umon (the “EU™) (1 ¢ by stopping any cross-border
provision of broadcasting services) 15 deemed to be anti-competitive and prohibited by EU competition law The ECJ also
addressed copyright matters and determined that (1) there 1s no copyright in an actual football match itself but there s
copyright in other elements such as the broadcast of the match or the copyright holder’s logo and music, (1) a copyright 15
not infringed where a member of the public in the EU buys a decoder and card from within the EU and watches a match in
his own home, and (in) a copynight may be infringed where commercial premises broadcast a match to the public This
decision has created uncertainty as to the commercial viabihity of copynight holders continuing to adopt the same
country-by-country sales model within the EU as they have adopted previously A change of sales model could negatively
affect the amount which copyright holders, such as the Premier League, are able to denive from the exploitation of nghts
within the EU As a result, our Broadcasting revenue from the sale of those rights could decrease Any significant reduction
n our Broadcasting revenue could matenally adversely affect our business, resutts of operations, financial condition and cash
flow




European competiions cannot be relted upon as a source af income.

Qualfication for the Champions League 1s dependent upon our first team’s performance in the Prermer League and,
n some circumstances, the Champions League itself in the previous season Qualification for the Champions League cannot,
therefore, be guaranteed Failure to qualify for the Champions League would result in a matenal reduction in revenue for
each season in which our first team did not participate

In addition, our participation in the Champions League or Europa League may be influenced by factors beyond our
control For example, the number of places in each league available to the clubs of each national football association in
Europe can vary from year 1o year based on a ranking system 1f the performance of Enghsh ciubs in Europe declines, the
number of places in each European competition available to English clubs may decline and 1t may be more difficult for our
first team to qualify for each league mn future seasons Further, the rules goverming quahification for Evropean competitions
(whether at the European or national level} may change and make 1t more difficult for our first team to qualify for each
league 1n future seasons

Moreover, because of the prestige associated with participating in the European competitions, particularly the
Champions League, fatlure to qualify for any European competition, particularly for consecutive seasons, would negatively
affect our ability to attract and retain talented players and coaching staff, as well as supporters, sponsors and other
commercial partners Any one or more of these events could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of
operation, financial condihion and cash flow

Our business depends in part on relationships with certmn third parties.

We consider the development of our commercial assets to be central to our ongoing business plan and a driver of
future growth However, we do not currently have retail, merchandising and apparel operattons in-house For example, our
contract with Nike provides them with certain rights to operate our global merchandising, product hicensing and retail
operations While we have been able to execute our business plan to date with the support of Nike, we remain subject to these
contractual provisions and our business plan could be negatively impacted by non-comphance or poor execution of our
strategy by Nike Further, any interruption 1n our ability to obtain the services of Nike or other third parties or deterioration in
their performance could negatively mmpact this portion of our operations Furthermore, if our arrangement with Nike 15
terminated or modified against our interest, we may not be able to find alternative solutions for this portion of our business on
a timely basis or on terms favorable to us or at all

In the future, we may enter into addibional hicensing arrangements permutting third parties to use our brand and
trademarks Although we take steps to carefully select our hicensing partners, such arrangements may not be successful Our
licensing partners may fail to fulfill their obligations under their license agreements or have interests that differ from or
conflict with our own For example, we are dependent on our sponsors and commercial panners to effectively implement
quality controls over products using our brand or trademarks The mab:lity of such sponsors and commercial partners to meet
our guality standards could negatively affect consumer confidence in the quality and value of our brand, which could result 1n
lower product sales Any one or more of these events could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of
operation, financial condition and cash flow

We are exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to Premier League and UEFA
media contracts as well as our key commercial and transfer contracts.

We denve the substantial majonty of our Broadcasting revenue from media contracts negotiated by the Premier
League and UEFA with media distnbutors, and although the Premmer League obtains guarantees to support certain of its
media contracts, typically in the form of letters of credit 1ssued by commercial banks, 1t remans our single largest credit
exposure We derive our commercial and sponsor revenue from certain corporate sponsors, including global, regional,
mobile, media and supplier sponsors in respect of which we may manage our credit nisk by seeking advance payments,
installments and/or bank guarantees where appropnate The substantial majonity of this revenue 1s denved from a limated
number of sources During the year ended 30 June 2013, those sources that represented greater than 10% of our total revenue
were

*  Premier League (Broadcasting revenue) 17 6% of our total revenue, and

*  Nike (Commerctal revenue) 10 6% of our total revenue




We are also exposed to other football clubs globally for the payment of transfer fees on players Depending on the
transaction, some of these fees are paid to us 1n installments We try to manage our credit nisk with respect to those clubs by
requining payments in advance or, in the case of payments on installment, requinng bank guarantees on such payments 1n
certain circumstances However, we cannot ensure these efforts will eliminate our credit exposure to other clubs A change in
credit quality at one of the media broadcasters for the Premier League or UEFA, one of our sponsors, or a club to whom we
have sold a player can increase the nisk that such counterparty 1s unable or unwilling to pay amounts owed to us The failure
of a major television broadcaster for the Premuier League or Champions League to pay outstanding amounts owed 10 115
respective league, or the Failure of one of our key sponsors or a club to pay outstanding amounts owed to us could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Matchday revenue from our supporters is a significant portion of overall revenue.

A sigmficant amount of our revenue denves from ticket sales and other Matchday revenue for our first tearn matches
at Old Trafford and our share of gate receipts from cup matches In particular, the revenue generated from ticket sales and
other Matchday revenue a1 Old Trafford will be highly dependent on the continued attendance at matches of our individual
and cerporate supporters as well as the number of home matches we play each season During each of the 2012/13, 2011/12
and 2010/11 seasons, we played 28, 25 and 29 home matches, respectively, and our Matchday revenue were £109 1 mulhon,
£98 7 mulhion and £110 8 million for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively Match attendance 1s
influenced by a number of factors, some of which are partly or wholly outside of our control These factors include the
success of our first team, broadcasting coverage and general economic conditions 1n the United Kingdom, which affect
personal disposable income and corporate marketing and hospitality budgets A reduction in matchday attendance could have
a matenal adverse effect on our Matchday revenue and our overall business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flow

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, both withun Europe and internationally, and increased
compettion could cause our profitability to decline.

We face competition from other football clubs in England and Europe In the Premier League, recent investment
from wealthy team owners has led to teams with deep financial backing that are able to acquire top players and coaching
staff, which could result in improved performance from those teams 1n domestic and European competitions  As the Premier
League continues to grow in popularity, the interest of wealthy potential owners may increase, leading to additional clubs
substantially improving their financial position Competition from European clubs also remains strong Despite the adoption
of the UEFA financial fair play imnatve, a set of financial monionng rules on clubs participating in the Champions League
and Europa League, Eurcpean and Prenner League football clubs are spending substantial sums on transfer fees and player
salaries Competition from nside and outside the Premier League has led to lugher salaries for our players as well as
increased competition on the field The increase 1n competition could result 1n our first team fimishing lower in the Premser
League than we have in the past and jeopardizing our qualification for or results in the Champions League Competition
within England could also cause our first team to fail to advance in the FA Cup and League Cup

In additton, from a commercial perspective, we actively compete across many different industnes and within many
different markets We believe our primary sources of competition, both in Europe and internationally, include, but are not
limited to

+  other businesses seeking corporate sponsorships and commercial partners such as sports teams, other
entertainment events and television and digital media outlets,

«  providers of sports apparel and equipment seeking retail, merchandising, apparel & product hicensing
opportunities,

» digial content providers seeking consumer attention and leisure time, advertiser income and consumer
e-commerce activity,

+  other types of television programming seeking access to broadcasters and advertiser income, and

« alternative forms of corporate hospitality and live entertainment for the sale of maichday tickets such as other
live sports events, concerts, festivals, theater and similar events

All of the above forms of competitton could have a matenal adverse effect on any of our five revenue streams and
our overall business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow
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We are subject to special rules and regulatons regarding insolvency and bankruptcy

We are subject to, ameng other things, special insolvency or bankruptcy related rules of the Premier League and the
Football Association (the “FA”) Those rules empower the Premier League board to direct certain payments otherwise due to
us to the FA and 1ts members, associate members and affiliates, certain other English football leagues and certain other
entities 1f 1t 1s reasonably satisfied that we have failed to pay certain creditors including other football clubs, the Premier
League and the Football League

If we expernience financial difficulty, we could also face sanctions under the Premier League rules, including
suspension from the Premier League, the Champions League, the FA Cup and certain other competitions, the deduction of
league points from us in the Premier League or Football League and loss of control of player registrations For example, the
Premier League could prevent us from playing, thereby cutting off our income from ticket sales and putting many of our
other sources of revenue at nisk Any of these events could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, resulis of
operation, financial condition, or cash flow, as well as our abihity 1o meet our financial obligations

Prenuer League voting rules may allow other clubs to take action contrary to our interests.

The Premier League 1s governed by its 20 club shareholders with most rule changes requining the support of a
mimmum of 14 of the clubs This aliows a minornity of clubs to block changes they view as unfavorable to their interests In
addrion, 1t allows a concerted majonty of the clubs to pass rules that may be disadvantageous to the remaiming six clubs As
one of the larger clubs 1n the Premier League 1n terms of revenue and follower base, we can exert some influence on the
rulemaking process, however, our interests may not always align with the majority of clubs and it may be difficult for us to
effect changes that are advantageous to us At the same time, 1t 15 possible that other clubs may take action that we view as
contrary to our interests 1f the Premier League clubs pass rules that linut our abihity to operate our business as we have
planned or otherwise affect the payments made to us, we may be unable to achieve our goals and strategtes or increase our
revenue

Our digital media strategy is unproven and may not generate the revenue we anticipate.

We maintatn contact with, and provide entertainment to, our global follower base through a number of digital and
other med:a channels, including the internet, mobile services and social media While we have attracted a sigmficant number
of followers to our digital medsa assets, including our website, the future revenue and income potential of our new media
business 1s uncertain Y ou should consider our business and prospects 1in light of the challenges, risks and difficulties we may
encountet 1n this new and rapidly evolving market, including

«  our digital media strategy will require us to provide offenings such as video on demand, highlights and
international memberships that have not previously been a substantial part of our business,

«  our ability to retain our current global follower base, build our follower base and increase engagement with our
followers through our digital medra assets,

+  our ability to enhance the content offered through our digital media assets and increase our subscriber base,
= our ability to effectively generate revenue from interaction with our followers through our digital media assets,

+  our abtlity to attract new sponsors and advertisers, retain existing sponsors and advertisers and demonstrate that
our digital media assets will deliver value to them,

*  our abthty to develop our digital media assets in a cost effective manner and operate our digital media services
profitably and securely,

= our ability to 1dentify and capitalize on new digital media business opportunmities, and
= our ability to compete with other sports and other media for users’ time

In addition, as we expand our digital and other medta channels, including the internet, mobile services and social
media, revenue from our other business sectors may decrease, inctuding our Broadcasting revenue Moreover, the increase in
subscriber base 1n some of these digital and other media channels may himit the growth of the subscniber base and populanty
of other channels Failure to successfully address these nisks and difficulties could affect our overall business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flow, hiquidity and prospects




Sertous tnjuries to or losses of playing staff may affect our performance, and therefore our results of operations and ‘
Sinancral condition.

Injunes to members of the playing staff, particularly 1f career threatening or career ending, could have a detrimental
effect on our business Such imjunes could have a negative effect upon our first team’s performance and may also result in a
loss of the income that would otherwise have resulted from a transfer of that player’s registrabon In addition, depending on
the circumstances, we may write down the carrying value of a player on our balance sheet and record an impairment charge
In our operating expenses to reflect any losses resulting from career threatening or career ending imjunes to that player Our
strategy Is to maintan a squad of first team players sufficient to mitigate the nisk of player injuries However, this strategy
may not be sufficient to mitigate all financial losses 1n the event of an injury, and as a result such inyury may affect the
performance of our first team, and therefore our business, results of operations financial condition, and cash flow

Inability to renew our insurance policies could expose us to significant losses.

We nsure against the death, permanent disablement and travel-related injuries of members of our first team,
although not at such player’s market value Moreover, we do not carry insurance against inyunes to our players sustained
while playing or training We also carry non-player related insurance typical for our business (including business mterruption
msurance) When any of our msurance policies expire, it may not be possible to renew them on the same terms, or at all In
such circumstances, some of our businesses and/or assets may be uninsured If any of these uninsured businesses or assets
were to suffer damage, we could suffer a financial loss Our most valuable tangible asset 15 Old Trafford An nability to
renew msurance policies covering our players, Old Trafford, our training facilities at Carnngton and other valuable assets
could expose us to sigmificant losses

Furthermore, although some national football asscciations, such as the FA (which insures English players), do
provide insurance for members of our first team while playing for their home country, our insurance policies do not cover our
players during those penods and, under the rules of the Féderation Intemationale de Football Associatton (“FIFA™), national
football associations are not obliged 1o provide insurance cover for players on international duty

Our international expansion and operations in foreign markets expose us to risks associated with international sales and
operations

We intend to continue to expand internationally and operate 1n select foreign markets Managing a global
orgamization 1s difficult, ime consuming and expensive Our inexpenence 1n operating the club’s businesses globally
increases the risk that any future international expansion efforts that we may undertake will not be successful In addition,
conducting international operations subjects us to nsks such as the lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes tn foreign
regulatory requirements, difficulties in managing and staffing international operattons, fluctuations tn currency exchange
rates, potentially adverse tax consequences, including foreign value added tax systems, and restrictions on repatnation of
earnings, the burdens of complying with a wide vanety of foreign laws and legal standards, increased financial accounting
and reporting burdens and complextties, the tack of strong intellectual property regimes and political, social and economic
instabihty abroad Operating in intemational markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources
The investment and additional resources required to establish operations and manage growth 1n other countries may not
produce desired levels of revenue or profitability

Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect our results of operanons.

Our functional and reporting currency 1s pounds sterling and substantially all of our costs are denominated in pounds
sterling However, Broadcasting revenue from our participation in the Champions League, as well as certain other revenue, 1s
generated in Euros We also occasionally enter into transfer agreements or comimercial partner agreements which are payable
tn Euros In addition, we have transactional currency exposure against the US dollar relating to our secured term loan and
senior secured notes as well as Commercial revenue from certain sponsors In the year ended 30 June 2013, we recorded a
foreign exchange loss of £2 5 imlhon from our US dollar denominated secured term loan and sensor secured notes, whereas
in the year ended 30 June 2012, we recorded a foreign exchange loss of £5 2 mullion For the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012
and 2011 approximately 9 3%, 11 0% and 14 4% of our total revenue were generated 1n Euros, respectively, and
approximately 16 0%, 11 1% and 8 2% of our total revenue were generated in US dollars, respectively We may enter into
foreign exchange contracts to hedge a portion of this transactional exposure We net the value of our non-sterling revenue and
the value of the corresponding hedge before including such amounts 1n our overall revenue Our results of operations have in
the past and will in the future fluctuate due to movements in exchange rates




Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property and curb the sale of counterfeit merchandise could injure our
brand.

Like other popular brands, we are susceptible to nstances of brand infringement (such as counterfeiting and other
unauthorized uses of our mtellectual property nghts) We seek 1o protect our brand assets by ensuring that we own and
control certain mtellectual property nghts in and to those assets and, where appropriate, by enforcing those intellectual
property nghts For example, we own the copynight in our logo, and our logo and trade name are registered as trademarks (or
are the subject of applications for registration) 1n a number of jurisdictions in Europe, Asia Pacific, Africa, North Amenca
and South Amenca However, it 1s not possible to detect all instances of brand infringement  Additionally, where instances of
brand infringement are detected, we cannot guarantee that such tnstances will be prevented as there may be legal or factual
circumstances which give nise to uncertainty as to the vahidity, scope and enforceability of our ntellectual property nghts in
the brand assets Furthermore, the laws of certain countnies in which we license our brand and cenduct operations,
particularly those in Asia (such as China) may not offer the same level of protection to intellectual property rights holders as
those in the United Kingdom, the rest of Europe and the United States, or the ttme required to enforce our intellectual
property rights under these legal regimes may be lengthy and delay recovery For example, the unauthonzed use of
intellectual property 1s common and widespread in China and enforcement of intellectual property nghts by Chinese
regulatory agencies 1s inconsistent If we were to fail or be unable o secure, protect, maintain and/or enforce the intellectual
property rights which vest 1n our brand assets, then we could lose our exclusive nght to exploit such brand assets
Infringement of our trademark, copyright and other intellectual property nghts could have an adverse effect on our business
We also hicense our intellectual property nights to third parties In an effort to protect our brand, we enter into [icensing
agreements with these third parties which govern the use of our intellectual property and which require our Licensees to abide
by quality control standards with respect to such use Although we make efforts to pohice our licensees’ use of our intellectual
property, we cannot assure you that these efforts will be sufficient to ensure their compliance The failure of our licensees to
comply with the terms of their hcenses could have a maternial adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flow

We could be negatively affected if we fail to adegquately protect follower account information.

We collect and process personal data (1ncluding name, address, age, bank details and other personal data) from our
followers, customers, members, supphers, business contacts and employees as part of the operation of our business (including
online merchandising), and therefore we must comply with data protection and privacy laws in the United Kingdom and, in
certain situations, other junsdictions where our followers reside Those laws impose certain requirements on us 1n respect of
the collection, use and processing of personal information relating to our followers In addition, we are exposed to the nsk
that the personal data we control could be wrongfully accessed and/or used, whether by employees, followers or other third
parties, or otherwise lost or disclosed or processed n breach of data protection regulations If we or any of the third party
service providers on which we rely fail 10 process such personal data in a lawful or secure manner or if any theft or loss of
personal follower data were to occur, we could face hability under data protection laws, including requirements to destroy
customer information or notify the people to whom such information relates of any non-compliance as well as civil or
criminal sanctions This could also result tn the loss of the goodwill of our followers and deter new followers Each of these
factors could harm our business reputation, our brand and have a matenal adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition, cash flow and prospects

Piracy and illegal live streaming may adversely umpact our Broadcasting and new media & mobile revenue

For each of the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, Broadcasting revenue constituted 28 0%, 32 5% and
35 4%, respectively, of our total revenue QOur Broadcasting revenue 1s principally generated by the broadcasting of our
matches on pay and free to air television channels as well as content delivered over the internet and through our own
television channel, MUTV In recent years, piracy and illegal live streaming of subscription content over the internet has
caused, and 1s continuing to cause, lost revenue to media distributors showing our matches For example, the Premier League
has iittated htigation against Google and YouTube for facihitating piracy and 1illegal streaming of subscription content,
however there can be no guarantee that this or similar actions will prevent or hmit future piracy or illegal streaming of
subscription content 1f these trends increase or continue unabated, they could pose a risk to subscnption television services
The result could be a reduction in the value of our share of football broadcasting rights and of our online and MUTV
services, which could have a matenal adverse effect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow
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Our operating results may fluctuate due to seasonality.

Our operating results are subject to seasonal vanation, imiting the overall comparability of nterim financial
perieds The seasonality of our eperating results 1s pnmanly attnbutable to the number of games played n each financial
period and therefore Matchday and Broadcasting revenue recogmzed Similarly, certain of our costs denve from hosting
games at Old Trafford, and these costs will also vary based on the number of games played in the penod We have
historically generated higher revenue 1n the second and third quarters of our fiscal year However because of the strong
performance of our first tearn in the Champions League and domestic cups, which has resulted in us reaching the advanced
stages of these competitions and therefore generating significant additional Broadcasting and Matchday revenue, we have
generated the most revenue 1n our fourth quarter during the past few fiscal years As a result, our interim results and any
quarterly financial information that we publish should not be viewed as an indicator of our performance for the fiscal year

We are subject to greater tax liabtlity than in previous years.

During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, our principal operating subsidianes were tax residents in the United
Kingdom For the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011 we were subject to weighted statutory tax rates of 25 5% and 27 5%
respectively Following the reorganization transactions, although we are orgamized as a Cayman Islands corporation, we
report as a US domestic corporation for US federal income tax purposes and we are subject to US federal income tax
{currently at a statutory rate of 35%) on the majornity of our worldwide income

In addition, we are subject to income and other taxes 1n various other junsdictions The amount of tax we pay 1s
subject to our interpretation and application of tax laws 1n junsdictions in which we operate Changes in current or future
laws or regulations, or the imposition of new or changed tax laws or regulations or new related interpretations by taxing
authonties in the US or foreign junsdictions, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flow

Business interruptions due to natural disasters and other events could adversely affect us and Old Trafford.

Our operations can be subject to natural disasters and other events beyond our control, such as earthquakes, fires,
power failures, telecommunication losses, terronst attacks and acts of war Such events, whether natural or manmade, could
cause severe destruction or interruption to our operations, and as a result, our business could suffer serious harm Our first
team regularly tours the world for promotional matches, visiting vanous countries with a listory of terronsm and civil unrest,
and as a result, we and our players could be potential targets of terronism when visiting such countries In addition, any
prolonged busimess interruption at Old Trafford could cause a dechine 1n Matchday revenue Qur business interruption
msurance only covers some, but not all, of these potential events, and even for those events that are covered, 1t may not be
sufficient to compensate us fully for losses or damages that may occur as a result of such events, including, for example, loss
of market share and dimunution of our brand, reputation and client loyalty Any one or more of these events could have a
matenal adverse effect on our business, results of operation, financial condition or cash flow

Rusks Related to Qur Industry
An economic downturn and adverse economic conditions may harm our busmess.

The recent economic downturn and adverse condittons 1n the United Kingdom and global markets may negatively
affect our operations in the future Our Matchday and Broadcasting revenue in part depend on personal disposable income
and corporate marketing and hospitality budgets Further, our sponsorship and Commercial revenue are contingent upon the
expenditures of businesses across a wide range of industnes, and as these industries continue to cut costs 1n response to the
economic downturn, our revenue may similarly dechine Continued weak economic conditions could cause a reduction in our
Commercial and sponsorship, Broadcasting and Matchday revenue, each of which could have a matena) adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

An increase in the relative size of salanies or transfer costs could adversely affect our business
Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain the lughest quality players and coaching staff As a result, we

are obliged to pay salaries generally comparable to our mamn competitors in England and Europe Any increase in salanes
may adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow




Other factors that affect player salaries, such as changes in personal tax rates, changes to the treatment of income or
other changes to taxation 1n the Umited Kingdom and the relative strength of pounds sterling, may make 1t more difficult 1o
attract top players and coaching staff from Europe or elsewhere or require us to pay higher salanes to compensate for higher
taxes or less favorable exchange rates In additron, if our revenue fall and salartes remain stable (for example as a result of
fixed player or coaching staff salanies over a long period) or increase, our results of operations would be matenally adversely
affected

An 1ncrease (n transfer fees would require us to pay more than expected for the acquisition of players’ registrattons
in the future, although the effect of these increased costs may be mitigated by our ability to sell the registrations of existing
players at increased prices However, 1f the mcrease n transfer fees occurred at a ime when we were looking to buy rather
than sell players, there 1s a nisk that net transfer costs could increase, resulting 1n a reduction in the amount of cash available
for us to meet cur obligations In addition, certain players’ transfer values may dimimish after we acquire them, and we may
sell those players for transfer fees below their net book value, resulting 1n a loss on disposal of players’ regisirations Net
transfer costs could also increase 1f levies imposed by FIFA, the Premier League or any other organization in respect of the
transfer of players’ registrations were to increase

We remain commutted to attracting and retaiming the highest quality players for our first team Our average annual
net player capital expenditure from 1999 to 2013 has been £17 8 milhon (excluding the sale of a player in the year ended
30 June 2009 that generated significant cash inflow, the average annual net player capital expenditure over the same period
would have been £23 1 million), and we continue to expect it to vary significantly from period to pertod Although we
beheve our average net player capital expenditures will be consistent with our historical average over the long term, we may
explore new player acquisitions in connection with future transfer periods that may matenally increase the amount of our net
player capital expenditure The actual amount of cash we use on player acquisibons will also depend, i part, on the amount
of any cash we recerve as a result of the sale of any players

Recently approved UEFA restrictions could neganively affect our business

As the pnmary governing body of European football, UEFA continually evaluates the dynamics n the football
industry and considers changes to the regulatory framework governing European football clubs As an example, UEFA
recently approved certain financial monitoring rules on clubs participating 1n the Champions League and Europa League
competitions, known as the financial fair play imtiative The rules, among other things, may result in withholding of prize
money, transfer bans and ultimately disqualification from European competitions for clubs whose costs and capital
expenditures on players exceed their revenue over a three year peniod These rules are intended te discourage clubs from
continually operating at a loss However, the implementation of the financial fair play rules, and in particular the potential
purishment for non-comphance, remains uncertain  There 15 a risk that applicaton of the financial fair play imtiative could
have a matenal adverse effect on the performance of our first team and our business, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flow

We could be negatively affected by current and other future Premier League, FA, UEFA or FIFA regulations.

Future changes to the Premier League, FA, UEFA, FIFA or other regulations may adversely affect our results of
operations These regulations could cover varnious aspects of our business, such as the format of competitions, the ehigibility
of players, the operation of the transfer market and the distnibution of broadcasting revenue In addition, changes are being
considered 10 address the financial sustainabihity of clubs such as more robust ownership rules and tests in relation to board
directors and sigmificant shareholders In particular, changes to football regulations designed to promote competitton could
have a significant impact on our business Such changes could include changes to the distribution of broadcasting income,
changes to the relegation structure of English football and restrictions on player spending In addition, rules designed to
promote the development of local players, such as the Home Grown Player Rule, which requires each Premier League club to
mclude at least eight “home grown” players in therr squads, could limit our ability to select players Any of these changes
could make tt more difficult for us to acquire top quality players and, therefore, adversely affect the performance of our first
team

Changes in the format of the league and cup competitions 1 which our first team plays, or might in the future play,

could have a negative impact on our results of operations In addition, 1n the event that new competitions are introduced to
replace existing competitions (for example, a European league), our results of operations may be negatively affected
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There could be a decline in our popularity or the popularity of football.

There can be no assurance that football will retain 1ts populanty as a sport around the world and 1ts status in the
United Kingdom as the so-called “national game,” together with the associated levels of media coverage In addition, we
could suffer a decline m populanty Any decline tn populanty could result in lower ticket sales, broadcasting revenue,
sponsorship revenue, a reduction in the value of our players or our brand, or a decline 1n the value of our securnies, including
our Class A ordnary shares Any one of these events or a combimation of such events could have a matenal adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow

Risk Related to Our Indebtedness
Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financral health and competitive position.

As of 30 June 2013, we had total indebtedness of £389 2 million Our indebtedness increases the nsk that we may be
unable to generate cash sufficient to pay amounts due 1n respect of our indebtedness It could also have effects on our
business For example, 1t could

+  limit our ability to pay dividends,
* ncrease our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions,

*  require us to dedicate a matertal portion of our cash flow from operations to make payments on our
indebtedness, thereby reducing the availabiity ef our cash flow to fund the hining and retention of players and
coaching staff, working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes,

+  limut our flexibility 1n planning for, or reacting to, changes 1n our business and the football industry,
+  affect our ability to compete for players and coaching staff, and
*  limit our ability to borrow additional funds

In addition, our existing revolving credt facihity, our existing secured term loan facility and the indenture governing
our semor secured notes contain, and any agreements evidencing or goverming other future indebtedness may contain, certain
restrictive covenants that will liimit our ability to engage 1n certain activities that are n our leng-term best interests (see “—
Our indebtedness may restnct our ability to pursue our business strategies™ below) We have not previously breached and are
not 1n breach of any of the covenants under any of these facilities, however our faylure to comply with those covenants could
result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result 1n the acceleration of all of our indebtedness

To service our indebtedness, we requuire cash, and our ability to generate cash 1s subject to many factors beyond our
control.

Our abihty to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness and to fund planned capital expenditures will
depend on our ability to generate cash in the future Thus, to a centain extent, is subject to the performance and populanity of
our first team as well as general economie, financial, competitive, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control

We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings
will be available to us 1n an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other hguidity needs We
may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before matunty We cannot assure you that we will be able to
refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at afl Failure to refinance our indebtedness on terms
we believe to be acceptable could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flow

Our indebtedness may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.

Our revolving credit facihity, our secured term loan facility and the indenture governing our senior secured notes
limit our ability, among other things, to

* mcur additional indebtedness,
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»  pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our shares,

» make investments,

« sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsichanes,

+  enter into agreements restricting our subsidiartes’ ality to pay dividends,

+ consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets,
»  enter into sale and leaseback transactions,

+  enter into transactions with our affiliates, and

»  ncur hens

Our abihty to comply with these covenants and restrictions may be affected by events beyond our control If we
breach any of these covenants or restrictions, we could be in default under our revolving credit facility, our secured term loan
facility and our senior secured notes This would permit the lending banks under our revolving credit facility and our secured
term loan facility to take certain acuions, including declaring all amounts that we have borrowed under our revolving credit
facality, our secured term loan facility and other indebtedness to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid
interest This would also result in an event of default under the indenture governing our senor secured notes Furthermore,
lending banks could refuse to extend further credit under the revolving credit facility If the debt under our revolving credit
facility, our secured term loan facility, our semior secured notes or any other material financing arrangement that we enter into
were to be accelerated, our assets, 1n particular hquid assets, may be insufficient to repay our indebtedness The occurrence of
any of these events could have a matenial adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

Qur variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations fo increase
significantly.

We are subject to interest rate nisk 1in connection with borrowings under our revolving credst facthity and our secured
term loan facility, which bear interest at variable rates Interest rate changes will not affect the market value of any debt
incurred under such facihties, but could impact the amount of our interest payments, and accordingly, our future earmings and
cash flow, assuming other factors are held constant As of 30 June 2013, we had £205,014,000 of vanable rate indebtedness
outstanding under our secured term loan facility In addition, we previously entered into interest rate swaps that involved the
exchange of floating for fixed rate interest payments 1n order to reduce interest rate volatihty However, most of these mterest
rate swaps were terminated at the time we 15sued our sentor secured notes We cannot assure you that any hedging activities
entered 1nto by us will be effective in fully mitigating our 1nterest rate nisk from our vanable rate indebtedness

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Ordinary Shares

Because of us significant share ownershuip, our principal shareholder will be able to exert control over us and our
significant corporate decisions.

The shares owned by our principal shareholder, Red Footbali LLC, represent approximately 82 28% of the voting
power of our outstanding capital stock Each Class A ordinary share 15 entitled to one vote per share and 1s not convertible
into any other shares of our capital stock Each Class B ordinary share 1s entitled to 10 votes per share and 15 convertible into
one Class A ordinary share at any time In addition, our Class B ordinary shares will automatically convert into shares of our
Class A ordinary shares upon certain transfers and other events, including upon the date when holders of all Class B ordinary
shares cease to hold Class B ordinary shares representing at least 10% of the total number of Class A and Class B ordinary
shares outstanding For special resolutions, which require the vote of two-thirds of the votes cast, at any time that Class B
ordinary shares remain outstanding, the voting power permitted to be exercised by the holders of the Class B ordinary shares
will be wetghted such that the Class B ordinary shares shall represent, in the aggregate, 67% of the voting power of all
shareholders As a result, our principal shareholder will have the ability to determine the outcome of all matters submitted to
our shareholders for approval, including the election and removal of directors and any merger, consolidation, or sale of all or
substanuially all of our assets The interests of our principal shareholder might not comncide with the interests of the other
holders of our capital stock This concentration of ownership may harm the value of our Class A ordinary shares, among
other things




+  delaying, defeming or preventing a change in contro! of our Company,
» mpeding a merger, consohdation, takeover or other business combination invelving our Company, or
s causing us to enter mnto transactions or agreements that are not in the best interests of all shareholders

As a foretgn private issuer and “controlled company™ within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange's corporate
governance rules, we are permitted to, and we do, rely on exemptions from certain of the New York Stock Exchange
corporate governance standards, including the requirement that a majority of our board of directors consist of
independent directors. Our reliance on such exemptions may afford less protection to holders of our Class A ordinary
shares.

The New York Stock Exchange’s corporate governance rules require listed compantes to have, among other things,
a majonty of independent board members and independent director oversight of executive compensation, nommation of
directors and corporate governance matters As a foreign pnivate 1ssuer, we are permitted to, and we do, follow home country
practice in hieu of the above requirements As long as we rely on the foreign private 1ssuer exemption to certain of the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, a majority of the directors on our board of directors are not required to
be independent directors, our remuneration commutiee 15 not required to be compnsed entirely of independent directors and
we are not required to have a nominating and corporate governance commitiee Therefore, our board of directors’ approach to
governance may be different from that of a board of directors consisting of a majonty of independent directors, and, as a
result, the management oversight of cur Company may be more limited than 1f we were subject to all of the New York Stock
Exchange corporate governance standards

In the event we no longer qualify as a foreign private 1ssuer, we intend to rely on the “controlled company”
exemption under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules A “‘controlled company’” under the New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance rules 1s a company of which more than 50% of the voting pawer 1s held by an
individual, group or another company OQur principal shareholder, Red Football LLC, controls a majority of the combined
voting power of our outstanding ordinary shares, making us a “controlled company” within the meaning of the New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance rules As a controlled company, we are ehigible to, and, in the event we no longer
qualify as a foreign private 1ssuer, we intend to, elect not to comply with certain of the New York Stock Exchange corporate
governance standards, including the requirement that a majority of directors on our board of directors are independent
directors and the requirement that our remuneration committee and our nominating and corporate governance committee
consist entirely of independent directors

Accordingly, our shareholders do not have the same protection afforded to shareholders of companies that are
subject to all of the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, and the abihity of our independent directors
to influence our business pohicies and affairs may be reduced

We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies make our Class A ordinary shares less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined 1n the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS
Act™), and, as such, we take advantage of certain exemptions from vanious reporting requirements that are apphcable to other
pubhic compames that are not “emerging growth companies™ including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with
the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) We
cannot predict 1f investors wall find our Class A ordinary shares less attractive because we rely on these exemptions If some
investors find our Class A ordinary shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A
ordinary shares and our share price may be more volatile

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of
the extended transition pertod provided in Section 7(a)(2){B) of the Securnities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Secuntues
Act™), for complying with new or revised accounting standards In other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay
the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private compames However, we
previously chose to “opt out” of such extended transition pertod, and as a result, we will comply with new or revised
accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards 1s required for non-emerging growth
companies Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision 10 opt out of the extended transition period for complying
with new or revised accounting standards 15 irrevocable
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The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources and management attention

As a public company in the Umted States, we incur legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not previously
Incur as a private company We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act™), and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange and other
applicable secunties rules and regulations Compliance with these rules and regulations increases our legal and financial
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, ume-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and
resources, particularly after we are no longer an “‘emerging growth company * The Exchange Act requires that we file annual
and current reports with respect 10 our business, financial condition and results of operations The Sarbanes-Oxley Act
requires, among other things, that we establish and maintain effective intemal controls and procedures for financial reporting
Furthermore, the need to establish the corporate infrastructure demanded of a public company may divert management’s
attention from implementing our growth strategy, which could prevent us from improving our business, financial condition
and results of operanons We have made, and will continue to make, changes to our mternal controels and procedures for
financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting obligations as a public company However, the measures we
have taken, and will centinue to take, may not be sufficient to satisfy our obligations as a public company In addition, these
rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and
costly For example, these rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and
officer liability 1nsurance, and we may be required to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar coverage These
additional obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flow

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are
creating uncertainty for pubhic comparues, increasing legal and financial comphance costs and making some activitics more
time consuming These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack
of specificity, and, as a result, their application 1n practice may evolve over ime as new guidance 1s provided by regulatory
and governing bodies This could result 1n continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated
by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws,
regulations and standards, and this mvestment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of
management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities 1f our efforts to comply with
new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities
related to their application and practice, regulatory avthonties may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could be adversely affected

For as long as we are an “emerging growth company” under the recently enacted JOBS Act, our independent
registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act We could be an emerging growth company until 30 June 2017
Furthermore, after the date we are no longer an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm
will only be required to attest to the effectiveness of our interal control over financial reporuing depending on cur market
capinalization Even f our management concludes that cur internal controls over financial reporting are effective, our
independent registered public accounting firm may still dechine to atiest to our management’s assessment or may 1ssue a
report that 1s quahfied 1f it 1s not satisfied with our controls or the level at which our contrels are documented, designed,
operated or reviewed, or if it interprets the relevant requirements differently from us In addition, in connection with the
implementation of the necessary procedures and practices related to internal control over financial reporting, we may 1dentify
deficiencies that we may not be able 1o remediate 1n time 10 meet the deadline imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act for
compliance with the requirements of Section 404 Failure to comply with Section 404 could subject us to regulatory scrutiny
and sanctions, imparr our abihty to raise revenue, cause mvestors to lose confidence 1n the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports and negatively affect our share pnce

We may lose our foreign private issuer status in the future, which could result in significant additional costs and
expenses.

We are a “foreign private 1ssuer,” as such term is defined in Rule 405 under the Securtties Act, and therefore, we are
not required to comply with all the periodic disclosure and current reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and related
rutes and regulations Under Rule 405, the determination of foreign private 1ssuer status 1s made annually on the last business
day of an 1ssuer’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter and, accordingly, the next determination will be made with
respect to us on 31 December 2013
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In the future, we would lose our foreign private 1ssuer status 1f a majonty of our shareholders, directors or
management are US citizens or residents and we fail to meet additional requirements necessary to avoid loss of foreign
private 1ssuer status  Although we have elected to comply with certain US regulatory provisions, our loss of foreign private
1ssuer status would make such provisions mandatory The regulatory and comphance costs to us under US secunities laws as a
US domestic 1ssuer may be significantly higher If we are not a foresgn private issuer, we will be required to file periodic
reports and registration statements on US domestic 1ssuer forms with the US Secunties and Exchange Comimssion (the
“SEC™), which are more detailed and extensive than the forms available to a foreign private 1ssuer For example, the annual
report on Form 10-K requires domestic 1ssuers 1o disclose executive compensation information on an individual basis with
specific disclosure regarding the domestic compensation philosophy, objectives, annual total compensation (base salary,
bonus, equity compensation) and potential payments 1n connection with change 1n control, retirement, death or disability,
while the annual report on Form 20-F permits foreign pnivate issuers to disclose compensation information on an aggregate
basis We will also have to mandatonly comply with US federal proxy requirements, and our officers, directors and principal
shareholders will become subject to the short-swing profit disclosure and recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange
Act We may also be required to modify certain of our policies to comply with good governance practices associated with US
domestic 1ssuers Such conversion and modifications will involve additional costs In addition, we may lose our ability to rely
upon exempuons from certain corporate governance requirements on US stock exchanges that are available to foreign private
155U€ers

Anfti-takeover provisions in our orgamizational documents and Cayman Islands law may discourage or prevent a change
of control, even if an acquusition would be beneficral to our shareholders, which could depress the price of our Class A
ordinary shares and prevent attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current management,

Our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association contain provisions that may discourage
unsolicited takeover proposals that shareholders may consider to be 1n their best interests In particular, our amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association permut our board of directors to 1ssue preference shares from time to time,
with such nights and preferences as they consider appropriate Our board of directors could also authorize the tssuance of
preference shares with terms and conditions and under circumstances that could have an effect of discouraging a takeover or
other transaction We are also subject to certain provisiens under Cayman Islands law which could delay or prevent a change
of control In particular, any merger, consolidation or amalgamation of the Company would require the active consent of our
board of directors Our board of directors may be appointed or removed by the holders of the majority of the voting power of
our orchinary shares (which 1s controlled by our principal shareholder) Together these provisions may make more difficult the
removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing
market prices for our Class A ordinary shares

The price of our Class A ordinary shares might fluctuate significantly, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
Volatihty in the market price of our Class A ordinary shares may prevent investors from being able to sell their

shares of our Class A ordinary shares at or above the price they paid for such shares The trading price of our Class A
ordinary shares may be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations in response to various factors, including

»  performance of our first team,

+ the overall performance of the equity markets,

+ ndustry related regulatory developments,

+  1ssuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations,
= addtions or departures of key personnel,

» nvestor perceptions of us and the football industry, changes in accounting standards, policies, gutdance,
terpretations or principles,

+  sale of our Class A ordinary shares by us, our principal sharehelder or members of our management,
»  general econcmic conditions,

. changes n interest rates, and

» availlability of capital
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These and other factors might cause the market price of our Class A ordinary shares to fluctuate substantially, which
might limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of our Class A ordinary share and may otherwise negatively
affect the hqudity of our Class A ordinary shares In addition, 1n recent years, the stock market has expenenced sigmficant
price and volume fluctuations This volatihty has had a sigmficant impact on the market price of secunties issued by many
compames across many industnes The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of
the affected companies Accordingly, the price of our Class A ordinary shares could fluctuate based upon factors that have
little or nothing to do with our Company, and these fluctuations could matenally reduce our share pnce Secunties class
action hitigation has often been instiuted against companes following penods of volatility in the overall market and in the
market pnice of a company’s secunities This htigation, 1f instituted against us, could result in substantial costs, divert our
management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, operating results and financial condition

Future sales of our Class A erdinary shares, or the perception in the public markets that these sales may occur, may
depress our stock price.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A ordinary shares, or the perception that these sales could occur, could
adversely affect the price of our Class A ordinary shares and could impair our ability to raise capatal through the sale of
additional shares As of 22 October 2013 we had 39,812,443 shares of Class A ordinary shares outstanding The Class A
ordinary shares are freely tradable without restriction under the Secunties Act, except for any of our Class A ordinary shares
that may be held or acquired by our directors, executive officers and other affihiates, as that term 1s defined in the Secunities
Act, which will be restnicted secunities under the Secunties Act Restnicted secunties may not be sold in the public market
unless the sale 1s registered under the Secunties Act or an exemption from registration 1s available

With the exceptton of 74,612 unvested shares of our Class A ordinary shares held by our executives, all of our
Class A ordinary shares outstanding as of the date of this Annual Report may be sold in the public market by existing
shareholders, subject to applicable limitations tmposed under federal securities laws

In the future, we may also 1ssue our securnities 1f we need to raise caprtal in connection with a capital raise or
acquisiion The amount of our Class A ordinary shares 1ssued in connection with a capital raise or acquisnion could
constitute a matenal portion of our then-outstanding Class A ordinary shares

Our ability to pay dividends is subject to restrictions in our existing revelving credit facility, our existing secured term loan
Jacilty, the indenture governming our senior secured notes, results of operations, distributable reserves and solvency
requirements; our Class A ordinary shares have no guaranteed dividends and holders of our Class A ordinary shares have
no recourse if divedends are not declared.

Any deterrmination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend
upon our results of operations, financial condition, distributable reserves, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by
applicable law and other factors our board of directors deems relevant Furthermore, neither of our Class A ordinary shares or
Class B ordinary shares have any guaranteed dividends and holders of our Class A ordinary shares and holders of our Class B
ordinary shares have no recourse if dividends are not declared Our ability to pay dividends on the Class A ordinary shares 1s
limited by our existing revolving credit facility, our existing secured term loan facility and the indenture governing our semor
secured notes, which contain restricted payment covenants The restnicted payment covenants allow dividends in certain
circumstances, including to the extent dividends do not exceed 50% of the cumulative consohidated net income of Red
Football Linmted and its restnicted subsidianes, provided there 1s no event of default and Red Football Limited 1s able to meet
the principal and interest payments on its debt under a fixed charge coverage test Our ablity 10 pay dividends may be further
restricted by the terms of any of our future debt or preferred secunties Additionally, because we are a holding company, our
ability to pay dividends on our Class A ordinary shares 1s imited by restrictions on the abihty of our subsidianes to pay
dividends or make distnbutions to us, including restrictions under the terms of the agreemenis governing our indebtedness

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our Class A ordinary shares, and, consequently, your ability to achieve a
return on an investment in our Class A ordinary shares will depend on appreciation in the price of our Class A ordinary
shares.

We do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our Class A ordinary shares for the foreseeable future The
payment of any future dividends will be determined by the board of directors 1n light of conditions then existing, including
our revenue, financial condition and capital requirements, business conditions, corporate law requirements and other factors




The rules of the Premier League and our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association umpose certain
Iimutanons on shareholders’ ability to invest in more than one football club.

The rules of the Premier League prohibit any person who holds an interest of 10% or more of the total voting nghts
exercisable in a Premier League football club from holding an interest in voting rights exercisable in any other Premier
League football club As a result, our amended and restated memorandum and arucies of association prohibit shareholders
from holding (1) 10% or more of our Class A ordinary shares if they hold any interest in voting rights exercisable 1n another
Premier League football club and (11) any Class A ordinary shares 1f they hold an mterest of 10% or more of the total voting
nights exercisable 1in another Premier League football club In addition, under our amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association, 1f any shareholder 1s determined by us, at our absolute discretion, 1o be holding any Class A ordinary
shares 1n violation of this rule or the rules of certain other relevant goverming bodies, we have the nght to direct that
shareholder to transfer those shares to another persen or, failing such transfer, we have the right to sell those shares to another
person on behalf of that shareholder Until such transfer or sale 15 effected, that shareholder will not be entitled to receive or
exercise any nghts, benefits or privileges attaching to those Class A ordinary shares

Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely affect the foreign currency value of the Class A ordinary shares and any
dividends.

Our Class A ordinary shares are quoted 1n US dollars on the New York Stock Exchange Our financial statements
are prepared 1n pounds sterling  Fluctuations 1n the exchange rate between the pounds sterling and the US dollar will affect,
among other matters, the US dollar value of the Class A ordinary shares and of any dividends

The rights afforded to shareholders are governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands.

Our corporate affairs and the rights afforded to shareholders are poverned by our amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association and by the Compames Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and
restated from time to time (the “Companies Law™) and common law of the Cayman Islands, and these nghts differ in certain
respects from the nghts of shareholders 1n typical US corporations In particular, the laws of the Cayman Islands relating to
the protection of the interests of minority shareholders differ in some respects from those estabhshed under statutes or
jJudicial precedent 1n existence in the Umited States The laws of the Cayman Island provide only hmited circumstances under
which shareholders of companies may bring denvative actions and (except 1n limited circumstances) do not afford appraisal
rights to dissenting shareholders in the form typically available to shareholders of a US corporation other than in hmited
circumstances 1n relation to certain mergers A summary of Cayman Islands law on the protection of mimnonty shareholders 1s
set out n “Item 10 Add:itional Information—B Memorandum and Articles of Association and Other Share Information ”

We report as a US domestic corporation for US federal income tax purposes.

As discussed more fully under “Item 10 Additional Information—E Taxation”, due to the circumstances of our
formation and the apphcation of Section 7874 of the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), we report
as a US domestic corporation for afl purposes of the Code As a result, we are subject to US federal income tax on our
worldwide income In addition, 1f we pay dividends to a Non-US Holder, as defined in the discussion “Item 10 Additional
Information—E Taxation,” we will be required to withhold US income tax at the rate of 30%, or such lower rate as may be
provided 1n an applicable income tax treaty Each mvestor should consult its own tax adviser regarding the US federal
income tax position of the Company and the tax consequences of holding the Class A ordinary shares

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports or publish unfavorable research about our business,
our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A ordinary shares depends 1n part on the research and reports that securities or
ndustry analysts pubhsh about us, our business or our industry If one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our
stock, our share price will likely decline If one or more of these analysts ceases to cover us or fails to publish regular reports
on us, interest 1n the purchase of our Class A ordinary shares could decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading
volume to decline

It may be difficult to enforce a US judgment against us, our directors and officers and certain experts named in this
Annual Report outside the United States, or to assert US securities law clmms outside of the United States.
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The majority of our directors and executive officers are not residents of the United States, and the majonty of our
assets and the assets of these persons are located outside the United States As a result, it may be difficult or impossible for
mvestors to effect service of process upon us within the Umted States or other junsdictions, including judgments predicated
upon the civil hability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States Additionally, 1t may be difficult to assert
US securities taw claims in actions originally insttuted outside of the United States Foreign courls may refuse to hear a US
secunties law claim because foreign courts may not be the most appropnate forums 1n which to bning such a claam Evenifa
foreign court agrees to hear a claim, it may determne that the law of the jurisdiction in which the foreign court resides, and
not US law, 1s applicable to the claim Further, 1f US law 1s found to be apphicable, the content of applicable US law must be
proved as a fact, which can be a ttme-consuming and costly process, and certain matters of procedure would sull be governed
by the law of the junisdiction in which the foreign court resides

In particular, investors should be aware that there 15 uncertainty as to whether the courts of the Cayman Islands
would recognize and enforce judgments of Umited States courts obtained agamst us or our directors or management as well as
against the selling shareholder predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any
state in the United States or entertain onginal actions brought 1n the Cayman Islands courts aganst us or our directors or
officers as well as against the selling shareholder predicated upon the secunties laws of the United States or any state in the
Umted States As a result of the difficulty associated with enforcing a judgment against us, you may not be able to collect any
damages awarded by erther a US or foreign court

ITEM 4 INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
Our Company—Manchester United

We are ¢ne of the most popular and successful sports teams in the world, playing one of the most popular spectator
sports on Earth Through our 135-year heritage we have won 62 trophies, including a record 20 Enghish league titles,
enabling us to develop what we believe 1s one of the world’s leading sports brands and a global commumty of 659 milhion
followers Our large, passionate community provides Manchester United with a worldwide platform to generate significant
revenue from multiple sources, mcluding sponsorship, merchandising, product licensing, new media & mobile, broadcasting
and matchday We attract leading global companties such as Aon, General Motors (Chevrolet) and Nike that want access and
exposure to our communty of followers and association with our brand

Qur global commumty of followers engages with us in a vanety of ways

+  Dunng the 2012/13 season, our games generated a cumulative audience reach of over 3 billion viewers,
according to the Futures Data, across 191 countries On a per game basis, our 54 games attracted an average live
cumulative audience reach of 47 mallton per game, based on the Futures Data

= Over 5 milhon items of Manchester United branded licensed products were sold tn the last year, including over
2 million Manchester United jerseys Manchester Urited branded products are seld through over 200 hcensees
m over 120 countries

*  Our products are sold through more than 10,000 doors worldwide

»  Premier League games at our home stadium, Old Trafford, have been sold out since the 1997/98 season In the
2012/13 season, our 28 home games were attended by over 2 millton people

*  We undertake exhibition games and promotional tours on a global basis, enabling our worldwide followers to
see our team play These games are 1n addition to our competitive matches and take place duning the summer
months or duning gaps in the football season Over the last 3 years, we have played {8 exhibihon games in
Austraha, China, Germany, Hong Kong, Ireland, Japan, Norway, South Africa, Sweden, Thailand and the
United States

+  Ouwr customer relationship management (“CRM?”) database, a propnietary data repository that includes contact
and transactional details of followers and customers around the globe, enables us 1o analyze and better
understand prospects and customers to dnve revenues The CRM database now holds 1n excess of 33 mullton
records, an increase of over 15 million year-on-year
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+  We have one of the strongest online global brands providing us with significant opportunities to further engage
with our followers and develop our media assets and revenue streams

+  Our website, www manutd com, 1s published in 7 languages and over the last 12 months attracted an average of
more than 63 million page views per month

*  We have a very popular brand page on Facebook with over 36 1 milhion connections In comparison, the New
York Yankees have approximately 6 5 million Facebook connections and the Dallas Cowboys have
approximately 5 7 million Facebook connections Furthermore, Apple and Google, which were ranked first and
second on Interbrand’s ‘Best Global Brands 2013’ survey, have 9 § million and 15 1 mulhion Facebook
connections, respectively

+  Our July 2013 launch on Twatter attracted approximately 345,000 followers in 1ts first 24-hours making it one
of the most successful launches ever

Our Business Model and Revenue Dnvers

We operate and manage our business as a single reporting segment—the operation of a professional sports team
However, we review our revenue through three principal sectors—Commercial, Broadcasting and Matchday

»  Commercial. Within the Commercial revenue sector, we monetize our global brand via three revenue streams
sponsership, retail, merchandtsing, apparel & product licensing, and new media & mobile We believe that
Commercial Revenue will be our fastest growing sector over the next few years

*  Sponsorship We monetize the value of our global brand and community of followers through
marketing and sponsorship relationships with leading international and regional companies around the
globe To better leverage the strength of our brand, we have developed a global, regional and product
segmentation sponsorship strategy Our global sponsorships include leading brands such as Aeroflot,
Aon, DHL, Epson, General Motors (Chevrolet), Singha, Toshiba and Yanmar In addition to our global
sponsorships, we also have regional sponsors, such as Gloops, Honda, Kagome, Multistrada, Pepsi and
Wahaha, who are our sponsors across a variety of products and categories in certain regions and local
markets around the world Our sponsorship revenue was £90 9 miltion, £63 1 million and
£54 9 million for each of the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively

s Retail, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing 'We market and sell sports apparel, traiming and
leisure wear and other clothing featuning the Manchester United brand on a global basis In addition,
we also sell other heensed products, from coffee mugs to bed spreads, featuning the Manchester United
brand and trademarks These products are distributed through Manchester United branded retail centers
and e-commerce platforms, as well as our partners” wholesale distribution channels All of our retail,
merchandising, apparel & product licensing business 1s currently managed by Nike, who pays us a
minmum guaranteed amount and a share of the business’ cumulative profits During the 2012/13
season, we received £25 3 million, which reflects the mimimum guaranteed amount We also
recognized an additional £12 8 milhon, which represents a proportion of the 50% cumulative profits
due under the Nike agreement during the 2012/13 season as compared to the £8 4 million profit share
we recognized duning the 2011/12 season Our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing
revenue was £38 6 million, £33 8 mitlion and £31 3 milhon for each of the years ended 30 June 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively

¢ New Media & Mobile Due to the power of our brand and the quality of our content, we have formed
maobile telecom partnerships in numerous countries In addition, we market content directly to our
followers through our website, www manutd com, and assoctated mobile properties Qur new media &
mobile revenue was £23 0 milhion, £20 7 million and £17 2 milhon for each of the years ended 30 June
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively

Our Commercial revenue was £152 5 milhion, £117 6 nuilion and £103 4 million for each of the years ended
30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and grew at a compound annual growth rate of 21 4% from fiscal
year 2011 through fiscal year 2013 The growth rate of our Commercial revenue from fiscal year 2011 to fiscal
year 2012 was 13 7% and from fiscal year 2012 to fiscal year 2013 was 29 7% Our historical growth rates do
not guarantee that we will achieve comparable rates 1n the future
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Our other two revenue sectors, Broadcasting and Matchday, provide consistent cash flow and global media
visibihty that enables us to continue to invest in the success of the team and expand our brand

= Broadcasting: We benefit from the distribution and broadcasting of live football content directly from the
revenue we receive and indirectly through increased global exposure for our commercial pantners Broadcasting
revenue 15 derived from the global television nghts relating to the Premuer League, Champions League and
other competitions In addition, our wholly-owned global televiston channel, MUTYV, delivers Manchester
Uruted programming to over 80 countnies around the world Broadcasting revenue including, 1n some cases,
prize money received by us In respect of vanicus competitions, will vary from year to year as a result of
variabihity 1n the amount of available prnze money and the performance of our first team i such competitions
Our Broadcasting revenue was £101 6 million, £104 0 million and £117 2 milhon for each of the years ended
30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively

s Matchday: We believe Old Trafford 1s one of the world’s 1conic sports venues It currently seats 75,766 and 1s
the largest sporting club stadium in the U K We have averaged over 99% of attendance capacity for our
Premier League matches 1n each of the last 16 years Matchday revenue will vary from year to year as a result
of the number of home games played and the perfermance of our first team 1n vanous competitions Our
Matchday revenue was £109 1 million, £98 7 million and £110 8 million for each of the years ended 30 June
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively

Industry Overview

Football 1s one of the most popular spectator sports on Earth and global follower tnterest has enabled the sport to
commercialize 1ts activities through sponsorship, retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing, new media & mobule,
broadcasting, and matchday As a consequence, football constitutes a sigmificant portion of the overall global sports industry,
according to AT Kearney

Football’s growth and ncreasing populanty are primanly a preduct of consumer demand for and interest in live
sports, whether viewed in person at the venue or through television and digital media The sport’s revenue growth has been
dniven by the appetite among consumers, advertisers and media distributors for access to and association with these live
sports events, n particular those featuring globally recognized teams

The major football leagues and clubs 1n England, Germany, Spain, Italy and France have established themselves as
the leading global entities due to their lustory as well as their highly developed television and advertising markets, according
to AT Keammey The combination of historical success and media development in the core European markets has helped to
drive revenue, which in turn enables those leagues to attract the best players in the world, further strengthening their appeal to
followers

As television and digital media such as broadband internet and mobile extend their reach globally, the availabihity of
and access to live games and other content of the leading European leagues has increased and hive games are now viewed
worldwide In addition, advances in new technology continue to both improve the television and digital media user
experience and the effectveness of sponsorships and advertising on these platforms These trends further strengthen the
commercial benefit of associating with football for media distnibutors and advertisers and increase the global opportunihes
for the sport

Our Competitive Strengths
We believe our key competitive strengths are

*  One of the most successful sports teams n the world Founded in 1878, Manchester Umited 1s one of the most
successful sports teams in the world—playing one of the world’s most popular speciator sports We have won
62 trophies 1n mne different leagues, competitions and cups since 1908 Qur on-going success 1s supported by
our highly developed football infrastructure and global scouting network

» A globally recognized brand with a large, worldwide following: Qur 135-year hustory, our success and the
global populanty of our sport have enabled us to become what we belteve to be one of the world’s most
recognizable brands We enjoy the suppert of our worldwide community of 659 mithon followers The
composition of our follower base 1s far reaching and diverse, transcending cultures, geographies, languages and
socio-demographic groups, and we beheve the strength of our brand goes beyond the world of sports
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»  Ability to successfully monetize our brand- The populanty and quality of our globally recogntzed brand make
us an attractive marketing partner for compantes around the world Qur global sponsorships include leading
brands such as Aeroflot, Aon, DHL, Epson, General Motors (Chevrolet), Nike, Singha, Teshba and Yanmar In
addition to our global sponsorships, we also have regional sponsors, such as Gloops, Honda, Kagome,
Mulustrada, Pepsi and Wahaha, who are our sponsors across a vanety of products and categones in certain
regions and local markets around the world Our community of followers is strong 1n emerging markets,
especially 1n certain regions of Asia, which enables us to deliver media exposure and growth to our partners in
these markets

»  Well established global media and marketing infrastructure driving commercial reveniue growth: We have a
large global team, working from our U K and Hong Kong offices, dedicated to the development and
monetization of our brand and to the sourcing of new revenue opportunities The team has considerable
expenence and expertise in sponsorship sales, customer relationship management, marketing execution,
advertising support and brand development In addition, we have developed an increasing range of case studies,
covering multiple sponsorship categones and geographtes, which in combination with our many years’
experience enables us to demonstrate and deliver an effective set of marketing capabihities to our partners on a
global and regional basis Our teamn 1s dedicated to the development and monetization of our brand and to the
sourcing of new revenue opportunities

«  Sought-after content capitaliung on the proliferanon of digital and social media. We produce content that ts
followed year-round by our global community of followers Our content distnbution channels are intemational
and diverse, and we actively adopt new media channels to enhance the accessibility and reach of our content
We believe our ability to generate proprietary content, which we distnbute on our own global platforms as well
as via popular third party social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, Sina Weibo and others, constitute
an on-going growth opportumty

> Seasoned management team and commutted ownership: Our semor management has considerable expenence
and expertise 1n the football, commercial, media and finance industnes

Our Strategy

‘We aim to increase our revenue and profitabihty by expanding our hugh growth businesses that leverage our brand,
global commumity and marketing infrastructure The key elements of our strategy are

= Expand our pertfolio of global and regional sponsors: We are well positioned to continue to secure
sponsorships with leading brands Over the last few years, we have implemented a proactive approach 1o
identifying, secunng and supporting sponsors This has resulted in a 28 7% compound annual growth rate in our
sponsorship revenue from fiscal year 2011 through fiscal year 2013 {the growth rate from fiscal year 2011 to
fiscal year 2012 was 14 9% and from fiscal year 2012 to fiscal year 2013 was 44 1%) Dunng fiscal year 2013
we announced 7 global sponsorship partnerships including a highly attractive shirt sponsorship deal with
Chevrolet, 4 regional sponsorship partnerships, and 9 financial services and telecom agreements Our histerical
growth rates do not guarantee that we will achieve comparable rates in the future In addition to developing our
global sponsorship portfolio, we are focused on expanding a regtonal sponsorship model, segmenting new
oppertumtes by product category and temtory As part of this strategy, we opened an office in Hong Kong n
August 2012, which has already successfully completed muluple sponsorship contracts, and are in the process
of opening an office in North Amenca These are in addition to our London and Manchester offices

»  Further develop our retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing business: We will focus on growing
this bustness on a global basis by increasing our product range and improving distnbution through further
development of our wholesale, retail and e-commerce channels In the future, we plan to invest to expand our
portfolic of product licensees to enhance the range of product offerings available to our followers Additionally,
we may also seek to refine how we segment the different elements of this business, and may retain, redefine or
limit some of the nghts currently held and managed by our existing partner We may also increase our focus on
developing these nights more proactively, alone or with other partners

- Exploit new media & mobile opportunines. The rapid shift of media consumption towards intermet, mobile
and social media platforms presents us with multiple growth opporturities and new revenue streams Our digital
media platforms, such as mobile sites, applications and social media, are expected to become ene of the pnmary
methods by which we engage and transact with our foliowers around the world We have made a number of
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recent new employee hires to enhance our ability to address these opportunities In January 2013, we also
acquired the remaining one-third stake in MUTV Together these actions help to ensure that we have both a
greater degree of control over the production, distnbution and quahity of our proprietary conient, and better
insight into how to evolve our new media strategy, as we continue to develop and roll out carefully targeted new
products and services

In addition to developing our own digital properties, we 1ntend to leverage third party media ptatforms and cther
social media as a means of further engaging with our followers and creating a source of traffic for our digital
media assets Our new media & mobile offerings are in the early stages of development and present
opportumties for future growth We behieve we have the opportunity to further leverage our extensive CRM
database, which includes over 33 mullion CRM records, and our 35 milhon Facebook followers We plan to
implement a carefully considered strategy to target these individuals by the end of calendar year 2014

»  Enhance the reach and distribution of our broadcasting rights. We are well positioned to benefit from the
increased value and the growth in distnbution associated with the Premier League, the Champions League and
other competitions The Premier League has recently finalized the sale of the television nghts for its next three
seasons commencing with the current 2013/14 season Based on our expectation, we believe that, in the
aggregate, the value of the domestic and international broadcast nghts will increase from approximately
£3 5 ballion 1o over £5 0 billion for the next three-year cycle ending with the 2015/16 season This demonstrates
how the value of live sports pregramming has grown dramatically in recent years due to changes in how
television content 1s distnbuted and consumed Unlike other television programming, the unpredictable
outcomes of hive sports ensures that individuals consume sports programiming in real time and 1n full, resulting
1n higher audiences and increased interest from television broadcasters and advertisers

Furthermore, MUTYV, our global broadcasting platform, delivers Manchester United programming to over 8¢
countries around the world We plan to continue to expand the distribution of MUTYV supported by improving
the quality of 1ts content and 1ts production capabilities

«  Dwversify revenue and improve margins: We aim to increase the revenue and operating margins of our
business as we further expand our high growth commercial businesses, in¢luding sponsorship, retail,
merchandising, licensing and new media & mobile

Our Market Opportumty

We believe that we are one of the world’s most recognizable global brands with a commumity of 659 milhon
followers Manchester Umted 1s at the forefront of live football, which 1s a key component of the global sports market

Other markets driving our business include the global advertising market, the global pay tetevision market and the
global apparel market

While our bustness represents only a small portion of our addressable markets and may not grow at a corresponding
rate, we behieve our global reach and access to emerging markets positton us for continued growth

In addition, the explosion of growth 1n mobile technelogy and social media has driven a surge i demand for
content, from news to video, which has resulted in a four-fold increase 1n our revenue from new media & mobile over the
four years ending 30 June 2013 Qur new media & mobile revenue was £23 0 milhon for the year ended 30 June 2013, which
represented 6 3% of annual revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 The mobile technology and social media markets 1n
China and certain other developing countries are, however, still earty in their growth process

Our Team’s History
Founded in 1878 as Newton Heath L&YR Football Club, our club has operated for over 135 years The team first
entered the English First Division, then the highest league 1n English football, for the start of the 1892-93 season Our club

name changed to Manchester United Foetball Club in 1902, and we won the first of our 20 English League titles in 1908 In
1910, we moved o Old Trafford, our current stadium
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In the late 1940s, we returned 1o on-field success, winmung the FA Cup in 1948 and finishing within the top four
feague positions duning each of the first five seasons immediately following the Second World War During the 1950s, we
continued our on-field success under the leadership of manager Sir Matt Busby, who bwilt a popular and famous team based
on youth players known as the “Busby Babes »

In February 1958, an awplane crash resulted in the death of eight of our first team players Global support and
tnbutes followed this disaster as Busby galvanized the team around such popular players as George Best, Bobby Charlton
and Denus Law Rebuilding of the club culminated with a victory 1n the 1968 European Cup final, becoming the first Enghsh
club to win thes title

In 1986, our club appointed Sir Alex Ferguson as manager In 1990, we won the FA Cup and began a pertod of
success that has continued until the present day Since 1992, we have won the Premier League 13 times and have never
fimshed lower than thard place In total, we have won a recard 20 English League titles, a record 11 FA Cups, 4 League Cups,
3 European Champions Cups and 1 FIFA Club Wotld Cup, making us one of the most successful clubs in England

At the end of the 2012/13 season, Sir Alex Ferguson retired as team manager Sir Alex will remain a key member of
the club as he became a director of Manchester Umited FC on 1 July 2013 In his place, David Moyes has been appointed
team manager Dawvid has won the League Managers’ Association’s Manager of the Year Award on three occasions mn 2003,
2005 and 2009

Since the inception of the Premier League in 1992, our club has enjoyed consistent success and growth with popular
players such as Enc Cantona, David Beckham, Ryan Giggs, Paul Scholes, Roy Keane, Bryan Robson, Cristiano Ronaldo,
Wayne Rooney and Robin van Persie The populanty of these players, our distinguished tradition and history, and the
on-field success of our first team have allowed us 1o expand the club into a global brand with an internaticnal follower base

The following graph shows the success of our first team in the Premier League over the last 21 seasons

FA Premier League Finishing Positions
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Our Old Trafford stadium, commonly known as “The Theatre of Dreams,” was onginally opened on February 19,
1910 with a capacity of approximately 80,000 Dunng the Second World War, Old Trafford was used by the military as a
depot, and on March 11, 1941 was heavily damaged by a German bombing raid The stadiurn was rebuit following the war
and reopened on August 24, 1949 The addition of floodlighting, permutting evening matches, was completed in 1957 and a
project to cover the stands with roefs was completed in 1959 Afier a senes of additions during the 1960s, 1970s and early
1980s, capacity at Old Trafford reached 56,385 1n 1985 The conversion of the stadium to an all- seater reduced capacity to
approximately 44,000 by 1992, the towest 1n 1ts history Thereafier, we began to expand capacity throughout the stadium,
bringing capacity to approximately 58,000 by 1996, approximately 68,000 by 2000, and approximately 76,000 1n 2006
Current capacity at Old Trafford 1s 75,766
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The following chart shows the historical success of our first team by trophies won

TROPHIES WON
FA Premier League/Football League
Division One FA Chanty/Commumty Shield
1908 1965 1997 2007 1908 1965 1993 2007
1911 1967 1999 2008 1911 1967 1994 2008
1952 1993 2000 2009 1952 1977 1996 2010
1956 1994 2001 2011 1956 1983 1997 2011
1957 1996 2003 2013 1957 1990 2003 2013
FA Cup Football League Cup
1909 1977 1990 1999 1992 2006 2009 2010
1948 1983 1994 2004
1963 1985 1996 European Cup/UEFA Champions League
1968 1999 2008
FIFA Club World Cup UEFA Super Cup
2008 1991
European Cup Winners’ Cup Intercontinental Cup
1991 1999

Our Football Operations

Qur football operations are primanly comprised of the following activities our first team, our reserve team, our
youth academy, our global scouting networks, and other operations such as our sport science, medical and fitness operations
at the Aon Traming Complex, Carrington

First team

Our first team plays professional football 1n the Prerier League, domestic cup competitions in England including
the FA Cup and League Cup and, subject to qualhifying, intemational cup competitions, including the Champions League

Our first team 15 led by our manager, supported by an assistant team manager and a club secretary, who 1n turn are
supported by a team of approximately 90 individuals, including coaches and scouts for both our first team and youth
academy, medical and physiotherapy staff, sports science and performance and match analysis staff

We have 59 players under contract of whom 35 have made an appearance for our first team The remaiming players
may play for the reserve team or youth academy teams but are being developed such that they may make it to a starting
position on our first team or the first team of other clubs This structure has been put 1n place with the aim of developing
some of the world’s best football players and maxrmizing our first team’s chances of winning games, leagues and
tournaments

Domestic transfers of players between football clubs are governed by the Premier League Rules and the FA Rules,
which allow a professional player to enter into a contract with and be registered to play for any club, and to recerve a
signing-on fee 1n connection with such contract Players are permitted to move to another club during the term of their
contract if both clubs agree on such transfer In such circumstances a compensation fee may be payable by the transferee
club FIFA Regulations on the Status and Transfer of Players (the “FIFA Regulations”) govern international transfers of
players between clubs and may require the transferee club to distnbute 5% of any compensation fee to the clubs that trained
the relevant player The transferor club 1 an international transfer may also be entitled to receive payment of “training
compensation” under the FIFA Regulations when certain conditions are met If an out-of-contract player (1 e , a player whose
contract with a club has expired or has been terminated) wishes to play for another club, the player’s former club will only be
entitled to a compensation fee in a domestic transfer, or a payment of training compensation under the FIFA Regulations in
an international transfer, 1f certain conditions are satisfied, including conditions regarding the player’s age and requiring the
former club to offer the player a new contract on terms which are no less favorable than his current contract Subject to
himited exceptions, transfers of professional players may only take place durning one of the “transfer windows,” which for the
Premier League 1s the month of January and the period beginning on the day following the last Premier League match of the
season and ending on 31 August (or the following Monday if the 31 August falls on a weekend) of that year
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Our players enter into contracts with us that follow a prescnibed model based on Football Association Premier
League Limited rules Players on our first team typically also enter into an image nghts agreement with us, which grants us
rights to use thewr image Our first team players generally enter into contracts of between two and five years” duration

As of 22 October 2013, our first team"” was compnsed of the following players

Player Position Nationahty Age Apps™
David de Gea Goalkeeper  Spanish 22 92 0
Anders Lindegaard Goalkeeper  Damsh 29 26 6
Ben Amos Goalkeeper  English 23 7 5
Patrice Evra Defense French 32 344 52
Rio Ferdinand Defense English 34 439 81
Chns Smalling Defense Enghsh 23 92 7
Nemanja Vidic (captain) Defense Serbian 32 275 56
Fabio Pereira da Silva Defense Brazilian 23 54 2
Rafael Pereira da Silva Defense Brazilian 23 135 8
Jonny Evans Defense Northern Irish 25 159 34
Phil Jones Defense English 21 74 8
Alexander Buttner Defense Dutch 25 15 ¢
Marnick Verml Defense Belgian 21 1 0
Michael Keane Defense English 20 3 ¢
Anderson Lwis de Abreu Ohiverra (Anderson} Midfield Brazilian 25 175 8
Ryan Giggs Midfield Welsh 39 948 64
Michael Carrnick Midfield English 32 331 31
Luis Carlos Almeida da Cunha (Nani) Midfield Portuguese 27 221 70
Darren Fletcher Midfield Scottish 29 312 61
Antomio Valencia Midfield Ecuadorian 28 156 60
Tom Cleverley Midfield Enghsh 24 55 11
Ashley Young Midfield Enghish 28 61 30
Shinp Kagawa Mdfield Japanese 24 30 51
Nick Powell Mdfield English 19 6 0
Larnel] Cole Midfield Englhish 20 1 0
Tiago Manuel Dias Correta (Bebe) Midfield Portuguese 22 7 0
Wilfned Zaha Mdfield Enghish 30 1 2
Marouane Fellaim Mdfield Belgian 26 6 45
Wayne Rooney Forward Enghsh 27 411 86
Javier “Chichanto” Hemandez Forward Mexican 25 122 57
Danny Welbeck Forward Enghsh 22 112 20
Robin van Persie Forward Dutch 30 58 81
Federico Macheda Forward Itahan 22 36 0
Adnan Januzay Forward Belgian 18 6 0
William Keane Forward English 20 1 0
n The table includes all players who are contracted to Manchester United as of 22 October 2013 and have made at
least one appearance for the Manchester United first team
() Apps means appearances for our first team through 22 October 2013
3) Caps means appearances for a sentor national football team through 22 October 2013

Youth academy

Our youth academy 15 a primary source of new talent for our first team as well as a means of developing players that
may be sold to generate transfer income The aim of our youth academy 1s to create a flow of talent from the youth teams up

to our first team, thereby saving us the expense of purchasing those players in the transfer market Players in our youth

academy and reserve teams may be loaned to other clubs 1n order to develop and gasn first team expertence with those other

clubs and enhance their transfer value Players from our youth academy who do not make it into our first team frequently
achieve a place at another professional football club, thereby generating income from player loans and transfer fees
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Our youth academy program consists of 11 junior teams ranging from under 9s to under 19s Each team consists of
15 to 23 players, each of whom 15 assessed during the season

Scouting network

Together with our youth academy, our scouting system 1s a source of our football talent Through our scouting
system, we recruit players for both our first team and youth academy Our scouting system consists of a professional network
of staff who scout in general and for specific positions and age groups

Our scouting systemn was traditionally onented towards the United Kingdom, but we have increasingly shifted our
focus toward a more international approach 1n order to identify and attract football players from the broadest talent pool
possible
Traimng facithnes

We have invested sigmificant resources into developing a performance center which contains advanced sports and
science equipment We intend to further invest 1n our tramnimg facihities 1n the near future 'We have highly experienced
training staff working at the performance center, where we provide physiotherapy, bio-mechanical analysis and nutntional
guidance to our players as part of our dnive to ensure that each player 1s able to achieve peak physical condition We beheve

the quality of our performance center differentiates our club from many of our competitors

We expect to spend approximately £5 milhion n the year ended 30 June 2014 tn connection with further updating
and expanding the Aon Training Complex, our traming facility

Revenue Sectors
Commercial

Our Commercial revenue 18 pnmarily compnsed of income from sponsorship, retail, merchandising, apparel &
product licenstng, and new media & mobile

Sponsgrship

Our sponsorship agreements are negotiated directly by our commercial team Our sponsors are granted various
nights, which can include

» rnights in respect of our brand, logo and other intellectual property,

« nghts in respect of our player and manager imagery,

*  exposure on our television platform, MUTV,

*  exposure on our website,

«  exposure on digital perimeter advertising boards at Old Trafford,

+  exposure on interview backdrops, and

+  the nght to administer promotions targeted at customers whose details are stored on our CRM database

Any use of our ntellectual property rights by sponsors 15 under hcense However, we retain the ownership rights in
our intellectual property

Sponsorshup development and strategy
We pursue our global and regional sponsorship deals through a developed infrastructure for commercial activities
We have a dedicated sales team, recnuited from three continents, located n Europe that focuses on developing commercial

opportumties and sourcing new sponsors We have opened an office in Hong Kong and will be opening an office in North
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America We target potential sponsors we believe will benefit from assoctation with our brand and have the necessary
financial resources to support an integrated marketing relationship By cultivating strong relationships with our sponsors, we
generate significant revenue and leverage our sponsors co-branded marketing strategies to further grow our brand We are
successful in executing a geographic and product categonzed approach to selling our sponsorship nights

We offer category exclusivity on a global basis to companies within particular industnes, such as airline,
automobile, beverage and logistics We also offer sponsorship exclusivity within a particular geography for certain industnes,
such as motorcycles, social gaming, soft drinks and tires

In seeking any mdividual partnership, we aim to estabhish an indicative value for that sponsorship based on the
prospective sponsor’s imdustry and marketing objectives We will only pursue a sponsorship 1f we behieve it reflects the value
we dehver

We believe that certain key sectors play an active role in sports sponsorship We have sponsors in a number of these
sectors and we beheve that there 1s significant potential to expand this platform by selectively targeting compames within the
remaining sectors and by growing revenue in existing sectors through additional sponsorship arrangements

We intend to continue to grow our sponsorship portfolio by developing and expanding our geographic and product
category segmented approach, which will include partnenng with additional global and regional sponsors Emerging markets
such as Asia, which we expect to be a key focus for many of our prospective sponsors, are an important element of our
sponsorship efforts
QOur current sponsors

The following graph shows our annual sponsorship revenue for each of the last three fiscal years

Sponsorship Revenue Growth
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Note Sponsorship revenue does not include revenue generated from our agreement with Nike
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The table below highlights some of our global and regional sponsors as of | July 2013

Sponsor Type of sponsorship Product category

Aeroflot Global sponsor Airhne

Aon Global sponsor Shirt, Training kit, Traiming Complex and Tour
sponsor

Bwin Global sponsor Betting

Chevrolet Global sponsor Automobile

Concha y Toro Global sponsor Wine

DHL Global sponsor Logistics

Epson Global sponsor Office equipment

Kansa Global sponser Paint

Muster Potato Global sponser Snack

Singha Global sponsor Beer

Thomas Cook Global sponsor Travel

Toshiba Medical Systems
Yanmar

Global sponsor
Global sponser

Medical Systems
Marine Diesel Engine

Gloops Regronal sponsor (Japan) Social gaming
Honda Regional sponser (Thailand} Motorcycles
Kagome Regional sponsor (Japan) Soft drinks
Multistrada Regtonal sponsor (Indonesia) Tyres
PepsiCo Regional sponsor (Asia} Soft drinks
Wahaha Regional sponsor (China} Soft drinks

Note Shirt sponsorship revenue from Aon was £19 2 mallion, or 21 1% of our total sponsership revenue, for the year ended
30 June 2013 Other than our shirt sponsorship agreements, we are not party to any agreement with any sponsor that 1s
expected to contribute more than 4% of our revenue n any fiscal year (based on revenue 1n fiscal year 2013)

Sponsorship income from the Premier League

In addition to revenue from contracts that we negotiate ourselves, we receive revenue from sponsorship
arrangements negotiated collectively by the Premier League on behalf of 1ts member teams We receive, for example, income
from the sale by the Premier League of the nght to have a brand 1dentity associated with the Premier League competition
The current title sponsor 1s Barclays plc under a contract that will expire at the end of the 2015/16 season and will pay the
league £120 0 rmillion over the course of the three year contract Income from other commercial contracts negotiated by the

Premier League 15 shared equally between the clubs that are to be in the Premier League for the season to which the tncome
relates Our pro rata income received from the other commercial contracts negotiated by the Premier League 1s not matenial to
the Company’s results of operations

Shirt sponsor

We are in the third season of a shirt sponsorship with Aon that 1s contracted through the end of the 2013/14 season
Under the agreement, we grant Acn exclusive shirt sponsorship rights which include the right for Aon to have 1ts logo on our
playing and replica kit, the nght to use our brand and intellectual property in certain marketing campaigns as well as the nght
to advertise certain products at our stadium and 1n club media

In addition to our shirt sponsorship agreement, we have an affinity insurance agreement with Aon that covers the
nsurance category of our financial services affinity program The shirt sponsorship and affimity agreements were entered into
on 24 and 27 May 2009, respectively, and expire on 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015, respecuvely Together, the agreements
guarantee an aggregate mimimum of approximately £88 million in payments to the club Shortly afier signing, Aon made a
payment to us of £34 3 million, representing an advance payment of approximately £8 6 mitlion for each year of the shint
sponsorship agreement Termination of the affinity agreement 1s not inter-conditional with the termination of the shirt
sponsorship agreement We retain the unitateral nght to termunate either contract 1f the other 1s terminated Our shirt
sponsorship agreement with Vodafone provided for revenue of approximately £8 ¢ millton per year for the years ended
30 June 2000 through 30 June 2006 and our shint sponsorship with AIG previded for revenue of approximately £14 1 million
per year for the years ended 30 June 2007 through 30 June 2010 The Vodafone and AIG shirt sponsorships included
sponsosship nghts to our training kit while the Aon agreement does not, sponsorship nghts to our traimng kit were sold 1n a
separate agreement Our shirt sponsership contracts are an example of our demonstrated ability to increase the value of our
sponsorship relationships by either renewing our contract with an existing sponsor in return for increased payments or
negotiating an agreement with a new sponsor i the category for increased payments
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The shirt sponsorship agreement gives Aon typical termination nghts for a contract of this nature 1n respect of a
material breach In the event that Aon successfully terminates the shirt sponsorship agreement for a matenial breach, we will
be required to pay a termination payment to Aon in respect of the advance payment made by Aon This payment 15 calculated
by reference to the number of days remaining 1n the contract’s term and the imtial down payment made by Aon

On 26 July 2012, consistent with our strategy to grow our global sponsorship revenue, we entered into an agreement
with General Motors for Chevrolet to become our exclusive shirt sponsor, beginning 1n our 2014/15 season The term of the
agreement runs through the end of the 2020/21 season Annual fees from our new shirt sponsorship agreement will be
$70 0 milhion 1n the first season, and will increase by an additional 2 1%6 1n each season thereafter through the term of the
agreement We also recerved approximately $18 6 million 1n fees 1n the 2012/13 season and we expect to receive
approximately $18 6 million 1n fees in the 2013/14 season under the terms of our new shirt sponsorship agreement relating to
pre-sponsorship support and exposure Total fees payable through the end of the 2020/21 season under our new shirt
sponsorship agreement are approximately $559 mithon

The following graph shows our growth from shirt sponsorships since 2000

Average Annual Payments Under
Recent Shirt Sponsorship Contracts
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Note The Aon and Chevrolet shirt sponsorship agreements do not include sponsorship rights for our traiming kit The
Chevrolet annual payment does not include pre-spensorship payments and assumes a £ $ exchange rate of 1 5166 as of
30 June 2013

Trarmng kit partner

As a continuation of our approach to categonzing our commercial nghts, we entered into our first traiming kit
partnership with DHL effective from season 2011/12 Our kit includes apparel worn by our players while traiming and while
warming up prior to a match Under the training kit partnership agreement, we granted DHL the rights to have its logo on all
tratming Kit worn by the team as well as replica training kit Our agreement with DHL terminated effective 30 June 2013

In Apnl 2013 we announced a new business partnership with Aon which, from 1 July 2013, extended our
relationship with Aon by an additional eight years to 2021 Under the new agreement, in addition to succeeding DHL as our
training kit partner effective 1 July 2013, Aon has become the first ever partner of our traxning facility at Carmington Aon has
also become the presenting partner of all our pre-season tours through 2021
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Trarmng facilines partner

On 8 Apnl 2013, we announced that Aon will become the first ever partner of our traimng facilities at Carnagton,
which has now been renamed the Aon Training Complex The agreement runs from 1 July 2013 through the end of the
2020/21 season

Global, regional and supplier sponsors

In addition 1o revenue from our shirt and training kat sponsors, we generated a further £34 3 mullion in the year
ended 30 June 2013 from global, regional and suppher sponsors The length of these sponsorship deals 1s generally between
two and five years The majonty of these sponsorship deals have mimimum revenue guaraniees and some have addional
revenue sharing arrangements

Global sponsors are granted certain marketing and promotion rights with respect to our brand and intellectual
property as well as exposure on our media, such as digital perimeter boards at Old Trafford, MUTV and our website These
nights are granted on a global basis and are exclusive by category Regional sponsors are granted certam marketing and
promotion nights and media exposure, however these rights are granted for a limited number of terntories Regional sponsors
are able to use the nghts 1n their designated termitory on an exclusive basis, however they are not granted global category
exclusivity

Financial services affinity sponsorship

There 1s a significant growth opportumty to further develop Manchester United branded financial services products
These financial services products include credit cards and debit cards We beheve there are key commercial opportunities
with credit and debit cards, which are particularly attractive as credit and debit cards also serve as a means of follower
expression and loyalty Depending on the product category, we pursue affinity agreements on a territory specific or regional
basis Examples of our financial services affinity sponsors include China Construction Bank (China), MBNA (UK), Shinse:
Bank (Japan), Santander (Norway}, Demizbank (Turkey), Ekspres Bank (Denmark), and BIDV (Vietnam)

Exhbition games and promotional tours

We conduct exhibition games and promotional tours on a global basis Cur promotional tours enable us to engage
with our followers, support the marketing objectives of our sponsors and extend the reach of our brand 1n strategic markets
These promotional tours are 1n addition to our competiive matches and take place during the summer months or during gaps
in the football season Over the last 3 years, we have played 18 extubition games in Australia, China, Germany, Hong Kong,
Ireland, Japan, Norway, South Africa, Sweden, Thaitand and the United States

We receive a share of the ticket revenue as well as license fees for the television broadcast and digital media
distribution of each exhibition game We also generate revenue from tour sponsorship opportumties sold to existing and new
partners During the 2012/13 season, our promotional exhibition games and promotional tours generated £5 4 milhion of
revenue (excluding any related sponsorship revenue) We believe promotional tours represent a significant growth
opportunity as we continue to play exhibition games around the world

Retal _Merchandising_Apparel & Product Licensing

Unhike American teams in the NFL, MLB and NHL, Manchester United retains full control of the use and
monetzation of its intellectual property nights worldwide in the areas of retatl, merchandising, apparel & product licensing

Qur retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing business 1s currently managed by Nike We are in the twelfth
year of a 13 year agreement with Nike, which guarantees an aggregate mimmum of £303 million n sponsorship and hcensing
fees to the club, subject to certain reductions discussed below Under the terms of the agreement, we granted Nike an
exclusive license to exploit certain of our intellectual property, retail, promotional and image nghts, subject to certain
exceptions Nike has incorporated a subsidiary, Manchester United Merchandising Limited (“MUML™)}, to whach 1t has
granted a sublicense in respect of those certain nights Nike supplies our playing kit and, through MUML, operates our global
product licensing, merchandising and the retail operations A range of products, including the replica ki, traiming wear and
other apparel are sold through the club store at Old Trafford as well as retai! outlets throughout the world
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In addition, net profits (over and above sponsorship and licensing fees) generated by Nike from the hicensing,
merchandising, and retail operations are shared equally between us and Nike over the duration of the contract We recognize
revenue from our portion of the cumulative profit share in our income statement only when a reliable estimate of the future
performance of the contract can be obtained and only to the extent that the recogmzed amount of the profit share s
considered probable on a cumulative basis at the end of the contract following the 2014/15 season Since the 2009/10 season,
we have invested 1n staff and resources dedicated to maximizing cumutative profits and worked closely with Nike to grow
the revenue and profit of this merchandising business

Payments due to us from Nike under the agreement may be affected by the performance of our first team The
amount payable in any particular year may be reduced under varous circumstances, including among other things, 1f our first
team 1s relegated from the Premier League or fails to quahfy for certain European competitions The amount of the reduction
n payment depends upon the circumstances, but the maximum possible reduction would be £6 35 miilion per season 1f our
first team 1s relegated from the Premier League

The agreement with Nike 15 subject to typical reciprocal termination provisions for a contract of this nature in
respect of matenal breach and insolvency Nike may also terminate the agreement upon certain events occurring, including
Manchester United ceasing to exercise authonty over the management and operations of our teams and our first team being
banned from any national or international competiion for two or more seasons

Retarl

In addition to our flagship retail store at Old Trafford, we have Manchester United branded retail locations in
Singapore, Macau, Thailand and Incha Nike currently manages our retail stores under our agreement with them

Merchandising & product hicensing

MUML currently has over 200 licensees serving over 120 countnes These hcensees produce a wide range of
Manchester United preducts hike mugs, bedding and toys, which are hughly sought after by our followers around the world
Under our product licensing agreements, we receive royalties from the sales of specific Manchester Umited branded products
Under some product licensing agreements, we receive a mimimum guaranteed payment from the licensee Some licensees are
granted exclusive nghts under specific product categones on a global basis, others are granted exclusive nights under specific
product categories, but only within a specific country or geographic region Some licensees are permitted to sublicense within
their geographic region

Wholesale apparel
Replica uniforms, training wear

The Manchester United jersey and training wear are completely redesigned for each season The annual launch of
the new jersey 15 always a much- anticipated day for our global commumty of followers The result 1s a robust wholesale
apparel business that sold over 5 million items of Manchester United branded hcensed products, including 2 mullien replica
Jerseys, around the world 1n the last year

FE-commerce

We currently have an arangement for online retailhing with Katbag and our official online store 1s branded as
“United Dtrect ” The store sells a range of Manchester United branded merchandise including official replica kit and other
clothing from Nike In addition, we offer a broad range of other apparel, equipment such as balls, luggage and other
accessories, homewares such as bedroom, kitchen and bathroom accessones, and collectibles, souvenirs and other gifts We
currently receive a royalty amounting to a percentage of gross sales of the merchandise sales generated online

We believe there 1s a sigmficant opportumty for us to expand our e- commerce capabilities through improved digital
shopping expeniences, greater product availabiity and more efficient fulfillment Specifically, we intend to improve our
ability to target merchandise offerings to our followers using therr stated preferences and histonical behavior In addition, we
will enable global and regional product delivery and payment collecion We plan to develop parinerships with companes
that have expertise in e-commerce, logistics and disinbution by region in order to grow our online retailling and integrate it
across our new media and mobile platforms
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New Media & Mobile

Digital media

Due to the power of our brand and the quality of our centent, we have formed mobile telecom partnerships tn
numerous countries Our website, www manutd com, 1s published 1n 7 languages and over the last 12 months attracted an
average of approximately 6 milhion unique users and approximately 63 milhion page views per month We use our website,
which incorporates e-commerce and video subscription services, to communicate with our followers, promote the Manchester
United brand and provide a platform for our sponsors to reach cur global audience Our Facebook page currently has over
36 1 million connections and 1s one of the most highly followed and user engaged brand pages The following graph shows
the growth in the number of Facebook connections since July 2010
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Qur historical growth in Facebook connections does not guarantee that we will achieve comparable growth in
Facebook connections n the future

The prohiferation of digital television, broadband internet, smartphones, mobile applicanons and social media
globally provides cur business with many opportunsties to extend the reach of our content Specifically, we intend to use our
webstite and other digital media platforms for direct-to-consumer businesses, including selling premium services such as
international digital memberships, video and exclusive content subscriptions, other media services and e-commerce We will
also continue to leverage our digiial media platform to generate customer data and information as well as follower profiles of
commercial value to us, our sponsors and our media partners We beheve that in the future, digital media will be one of the
primary means through which we engage and interact with cur follower base

Content and localization

Our digital medha properties are an increasingly ymportant means through which we engage with our international
fan base In the United Kingdom, coverage of Manchester Umted and the Premier League 1s prevalent in print, television and
digital media We behieve we face less competition 1n international markets for Manchester Umted coverage and can
therefore attract and retain a greater portion of our followers to our own digatal media offering To take advantage of that
opportunity, we will increasingly seek to develop additienal premium and exclusive content to enhance the proposition for
our followers, members and paid subscribers around the world Qur followers generally prefer to consume our content 1n
their language and context We behieve we can effectively deliver tailored services to our followers globally through vanous
language offenngs, geographic targeting and personahzed content

We currently have international language websites in English, Spanish, French, Arabic, Chinese, Korean and
Japanese, which enable us to engage with our followers in their native language We intend to develop further international
language websites with Portuguese, Indonesian/Bahasa and Thai as our imtial priorities, given the sigmficant number of our
followers who use those languages In addition to translating the content from our English language offerings, we intend to
develop tailored content for each of the above languages We believe this localization wall enhance the relevance of our
content for our followers, improve the level of follower engagement and increase the revenue generating potentral of our
digital media offerings
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Mobile services and applications

We currently offer digatal content to mobile devices under our “MU Mobile™ brand Users can access content and a
video service via an “MU Mobile” wireless application protocol or mobile site

We have entered into regional agreements with mobile operators to whom we grant nghts to operate our “MU
Mobile” service m numerous countries These nghts include the permission to deliver Manchester United content to
customers on a termiory-exclusive basis and certain intellectual property nghts to market and promote the service in the
relevant region The comntent provided includes highlight clips, match and news text alerts, nngtones and wallpapers Our
mobile and telecommunications partners operate the service on a geographically exclusive basis and use our intellectual
property to drive awareness of their brands and product offerings These partnerships are based on contracts lasting from two
to five years

There has been a significant increase 1n the prevalence of broadband mobile and video-enabled mobile devices in
recent years Mobile devices such as the Apple 1Phone and those based on the Android operating system enable consumers to
browse the internet, watch video, access dedicated applications and conduct e-commerce through their mobile device As a
consequence, our followers are increasingly seeking to access our website and other content via mobile devices

We tend to develop multi-platform mobile sites and mobile apphications that will facilitate access for our followers
to our content across a range of devices and carmers in order to meet global demand

Video on demand

The proliferation of broadband internet and mobile access also allows us to offer video on demand to our followers
around the world We currently offer a basic video on demand service branded “MUTYV Online” which provides subscribers
with limited access to match haghlights, and club news bulletins

Going forward, however, we intend to leverage the strength of our MUTYV platform to generate improved and
locahized content such as high definition highhights, custormized highlights and features on the club’s players We intend to
distribute this content on a subscription and pay-per-view basis Depending on the market, we may offer video on demand
services via our media partners as part of a comprehensive suite of media nghts as well as on a direct-to-consumer basis from
us

Soctal media

With 659 million followers worldwide, we believe there ts a significant opportunity to leverage the capabilities of
social media platforms to augment our relationships with our followers around the world By establishing an official presence
on these platforms, we believe we will be able to deepen the connections with our follower base and improve our ability to
market and sell products and services to our followers

We currently have over 36 1 million connections en our Facebock page We use Facebook as a means to
communicate news and other updates, engage with our followers, idenufy active followers, sohcit feedback from our users,
taitlor future digital media offerings and enhance the overall follower experience While there 1s no guarantee that our
Facebook connections will continue to grow at comparable rates in the future, we beheve Facebook will provide an
increasing source of traffic to our club branded digital media services and e-commerce properties, which will enhance our
ability to convert them into customers through international memberships, video on demand subscriptions and e-commerce

Beyond Facebook, we mtend to expand our reach through different social media platforms by launching additional
Manchester United branded presences on global platforms as well as regional and language-specific platforms For example,
in China, this may include microblogs such as QQ and Sina Weibo, video shanng platforms such as Youku and Tudou, as
well as social networking websites such as QQ and RenRen We believe this expansion will enable us to broaden the reach of
our brand and the content we produce as well as enhance our engagement with followers in many of our key mternational and
emerging markets
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Customer relationship management 1

One of our ongoing strategic objectives 15 to further develop our understanding of and deepen the relatienships with
our followers We operate a CRM database 1n order to better understand the size, location, demographics and charactenstics
of our follower base on an aggregated basis Qur CRM database enables us to more effectively target our product and service
offenings such as digital subscription services, merchandise and tickets A deep understanding of our follower base 15 also
valuable to sponsors and media partners who seek to access specific customer categories with targeted and relevant
adverusing

Broadcasting

Broadcasting includes all revenue covening domestic and international television and radio nghts to the Premier
League, the Champions League and domestic cup competitions Revenue from the sale of television rights are represented by
both free television and pay television worldwide In addition, our wholly-owned global television channel, MUTV, delivers
Manchester United programming to over 80 countnes around the world

Broadcasting revenue including, 1n some cases, pnze money received by us in respect of various competitions, witl
vary from year to year as a result of variability 1n the amount of available prize money and the performance of our first team
in such competitions

In respect of the Premier League, media agreements are typically three years in duration and are collectively
negotiated and entered into with media distributors by the Premier League on behalf of the member clubs Under the
agreements, broadcasting revenue for each season 1s typically shared between the clubs that are to be in the Premier League
for the season and the clubs that were relegated from the Prermier League in prior seasons After certamn deductions approved
by the Premier League (for example, donations to “grass roots” development), the income from the sale of the United
Kingdom television rights 1s allocated to the current and relegated clubs according 1o a formula based on, among other things,
fimishing position 1n the league Income from the sale of the rights to televise Premier League matches by broadeast and radio
15 shared equally between the current clubs Since the inception of the Preimer League 1n 1992, we have been among the top
two clubs m earmings from these sources each season

In the Champions League, media agreements are typically three years in duration and are collectively negotiated and
entered into by UEFA on behalf of the participating clubs Each club receives a fixed amount for qualifying for the group
stage, representing a sigmficant portion of the total, and an additional amount for each match played as well as a bonus based
on its performance 1n the group and qualification for the round of 16, quarter-finals, and serm-finals The runner-up and
winner of the competition also earn additional amounts In the 2012/13 season, each club received a total of €8 6 milhon in
participation and match bonuses In addition, each club had the potential to earn up to €6 0 nulhon in performance bonuses
Qualification for the round of 16 was worth an additional €3 5 milhion per club, an addimional €3 9 mullien per club for the
quarter-finals, and an additional €4 9 million per club for the senm-finals The runner-up of the competition eamed an
additional €6 5 millien and the winner eamed an additional €10 5 milhon

A second and third component of revenue 1s determined by a club’s position 1n its domestic league at the end of the
previous season as well as its performance in the Champions League in the current season relative to other clubs from its
home country

Some of the broadcasting revenue in certain of the competitions m which our first team competes 1s distributed 1n
the form of prize money Therefore, depending on the performance of our first team in certain competitions, we may be
awarded some of this pnze money I

MUTV

MUTYV 1s our wholly-owned global television channel and 1s broadcast in numerous countnes MUTYV broadcasts a
wide vanety of content which 1s compelling to our global commumty of followers, including news, game highlights, and
exclusive “behind the scenes” coverage our club

Depending on the market, we may offer our suite of media nghts as a bundle giving exclusive access to one

mului-platform mecha provider or offer MUTYV as a single product to television distnibutors MUTV features a range of
content generated from 1ts own production facihities
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In the United Kingdom, MUTYV 1s offered directly to consumers through the Sky and Virgin Media distnbution
platforms QOutside the Umted Kingdom, we offer MUTV through distributton partners as part of a suite of media nghts,
which can be purchased on a bundled or selective basis and can include certain promotional rights

MUTYV was founded 1n 1997 io be a dedicated television channel for the club MUTV Limited, the owner of MUTYV, ‘
was onginally an equal equity interest yoint venture between us, Sky Ventures Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sky,
and ITV plc We bought ITV plc’s one-third share in MUTV Limited in November 2007 and wn January 2013 we acquired
the remaining one-third of the issued share capital of MUTV Linuted from Sky Ventures Limited MUTV Limited 15 now our
wholly-owned subsidiary

MUTYV features a range of content, the primary categortes of which are

»  highlights from games and other time-delayed game footage, both of which are subject to certain holdback
penods under the agreements between media distributors, the participating clubs and the Premier League and
UEFA,

+  hve coverage of promotional tours and exhibition games, and

+  lifestyle programming and other “‘behind the scenes” content profiling the club, our history, our manager and
our players

Matchday

Qur stadiumn, which we own, 1s called Old Trafford and 1s known as “The Theatre of Dreams ™ We beheve Old
Trafford 15 one of the most famous and historic stadiums 1n the world Football followers travel from all over the world to
attend a match at Old Trafford Old Trafford 15 now the largest football club stadium 1n the Unned Kingdom, with a capaaity
of 75,766, and has one of the highest attendance rates of any football club in the Premier League The stadium has been
completely renovated and has all the modem luxunes of any new stadium, including 153 luxury boxes, approximately 8,000
executive club seats, 15 restaurants and 4 sports bars

We have one of the highest capacity utihizations among English clubs, with an average attendance for our home
Premer League matches of 99% for each season since the 1997/98 season The substantial majonty of our tickets are sold to
both general admission and executive season ticket holders, the majonty of whom pay for all their ickets in advance of the !
first game of the season We also derive revenue from the sale of hospitahity packages, food, drinks, event parking and
programs on matchdays

Other Matchday revenue includes matchday catering, event parking, program sales as well as membership and
travel, Manchester Umited Museum revenue and a share of the ticket revenue from away matches in demestic cup
competitions Matchday revenue also includes revenue from other events hosted at Old Trafford, including other sporting
events (including football matches as part of the London 2012 Qlympic Games and the annual Rugby Super League Grand
Final), music concerts and entertainment events

We aim to maximize ticket revenue by enhancing the mix of expenences available at each game and providing a
range of options from general admission tickets to mulu-seat facilities and hospitality suites In particular, we have recently
increased overall Matchday revenue by restructuring the composition of our stadium, with an emphasis on developing
hospnality facilities which sell at a higher price and improve our margins As part of this effort, we have invested in new and
refurbished multi-seat hospitality suites as well as improvements to our single-seat facilittes We expect our enhancements to
our hospitality facilities to continue to be a key dnver of our profit from matchday sales going forward

Muanchester Umted Museum
The Manchester Umted Museum 1s Yocated within Old Trafford It chronicles Manchester United’s 135-year history
In addition, it houses the club’s most precious artifacts and trophies [n 2012/13, we estimate that approximately 355,000

people visited the Manchester United Museum making our museum the most visited football club museum in the United
Kingdom
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Membershp Program

We also operate a membership program Individuals who become Official Members have the opportunity to apply
for tickets to all home matches Adult Official Members pay £30 per season to join the scheme while persons over the age of
65 and under the age of 18 receive a discount

UEFA Financial Fair Play Regulations

On 27 May 2010, UEFA adopted the “UEFA Club Licensing and Financial Fair Play Regulations,” which are
mtended to ensure the financial self- sufficiency and sustainability of footbali clubs by discouraging them from continually
operating at a loss, introduce more disciphine and rationality on club finances, ensure that clubs settle their habilities on a
timely basis and encouraging long term investment in youth development and sporting infrastructure

The regulations contain a “break-even” rule aimed at encouraging football clubs to operate on the basis of their own
revenue Therefore, owner investments of equity will be allowed only within the acceptable deviation thresholds, as
descnibed below

In addition, the regulations provide that football clubs who are granted a license by their national association will
then be required to comply with a “monitoring” ptocess The monitoring process will involve the submission of certain
financial information (a break-even test and payables analysis) to the Club Financial Control Body (“CFCB”) The CFCB 18
part of UEFA’s Organs for the Administration of Justice and compnses a team of independent financial and legal experts
The CFCB will review financial submissions and decide what sanctions, if any, to apply to non-comphant clubs Any appeal
must be made directly to the Court of Arbitration for Sport Potential sanctions for non- compliance with the Financial Fair
Play rules include a repnmand/warning, withholding of prize meney, fines, prohibition on registering new players for UEFA
competitions and ultimately exclusion from European competitions

The first break-even assessment began ahead of registration for the 2013/14 season The break-even assessment 15
based on the sum of financial information for the three seasons prior to the assessment date with the exception of the first
assessment for the 2013/14 season which takes into consideration the financial statements for football club fiscal years
ending 1n 2012 and 2013 Monitoring of overdue payables commenced from June 2011 The first sanctions may be apphed
from the 2014/15 season

With respect to the “break-even” rule, a club must demonstrate that 1ts relevant “football” income 1s equal to or
exceeds its “football” expenses The permutted level of deficit 1s limited to just €5 mithon, however, in order to transiticn
clubs 1nto the new regime, UEFA has established higher deficit amounts for the three year cumulative penod (two years for
the first test), which decrease over time, and are only available if the deficit 1s reduced to the permitted €5 milhion by equity
contributions by equity participants and/or related parties The transition deficit thresholds are

» €45 million for 2013/14 and 2014/15,

+ €30 nulhien for 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18, and

= less than €30 mullion for 2018 and beyond

Any club which exceeds the transstional deficit amounts will automnatically be in breach of the “break-even™ rule,
irespective of any equity contributions However, for the first two momitoning pertods enly (1 € 2013/14 and 2014/15) UEFA
will also consider (1) 1f the quantum and trend of losses 1s improving, (2) if the over-spend 1s caused by the defiait in 2011/12
which 1n turn is due to wages of players that were contracted before June 2010 (when the fair-play rules were approved), and
(3) impact of changes 1n exchange rates

We already operate withun the financial fair play regulations, and as a result we believe we are 1n a position to

benefit from our strong revenue and cost control relative to other European clubs and continue to attract some of the best
players in the coming years
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Social Responsibihity
The Manchester Unmited Foundation

We are commtted to a wide-ranging corporate social responsibihity program through the Manchester United
Foundation The work of the Foundation 1s divided 1nto three areas (1) local community imtiatives such as the Football in the
Communtty program, which has provided training and support to restdents of Greater Manchester, (11) our global charitable
partnership with UNICEF, and (1) partnerships with local charities The Christie and Francis House Children’s Hospice to
assist in their itiatives and fundraising United for UNICEF, the international charity partnership between Manchester
United and UNICEF, has had a positive impact on the hves of over 1 5 million children in countries across the globe,
including China, India, Thailand, Laos, Vietnam, South Africa, Mozambique, Afghanistan and Iraq The projects supported
have included work with children affected by emergencies hike the 2004 tsunami 1n Thailand and those living in poverty,
often with no access to education and at nsk from expleitation

Intellectual Property

We consider ntellectual property to be important to the operation of our business, and cntical to driving growth in
our Commercial revenue, particularly with respect to sponsorship revenue Certain of our commerctal partners have nights to
use our tellectual property In order to protect our brand we generally have contractual rights to approve uses of our
intellectual property by our commercial partners

We consider cur brand to be a key business asset and therefore have a portfolio of Manchester United related
registered trademarks and trademark applications, with an emphasis on seeking and maintaining trademark registrations for
the words “Manchester United” and the club crest We also actively procure copyright protecuion and copyright ownership of
matenals such as hterary works, logos, photographic images and audio visual footage

Enforcement of our trademark nights 1s important in mamntaimning the value of the Manchester United brand There
are numerous instances of third parties infringing our trademarks, for example, through the manufacture and sale of
counterfert products While it would be cost-prohibitive to take action n all instances, our aim 15 to consestently reduce the
number of Manchester United related trademark infringements by carrying omt coordinated, cost-effective enforcement action
on a global basis following mvestigation of suspected trademark infringements Enforcement action takes a vanety of forms
In the United Kingdom, we work with enforcement authonties such as trading standards and customs authonties to seize
counterfeit goods and to stop the activities of unauthonzed sellers Overseas enforcement action 15 taken by approved lawyers
and investigators Those lawyers and investigators are instructed to work with, where feasible, representatives of other
football clubs and brands that are expeniencing similar 1ssues within the relevant country in order that our enforcement action
costs can be minimized as far as possible We also work with the Premier League in respect of infringements that affect
multiple Premier League clubs, in particular in Asia We also take direct legal action against infringers, for example, by
1ssuing cease and desist letters or seeking compensation when we consider that 1t 1s appropnate to do so

In relation 10 materials for which copyright protection 1s available (such as literary works, logos, photographic
1mages and audio visual footage), our current practice 1s generally to secure copyright ownership where possible and
appropnate For example, where we are working with third parties and copynght protecied matenals are being created, we
generally try to secure an assignment of the relevant copyright as part of the commercial contract However, 11 is not always
possible to secure copyright ownership For example, in the case of audio visual footage relating to football competitions,
copyright will generally vest n the competihon organizer and any exploitation by Manchester United Limited of such
footage will be the subject of a hcense from the competition erganizer

As part of our ongoing investment into intellectual property, we are in the process of umplementing a program that 1s
designed to detect intellectual property infnngement in a digital environment and to facilitate taking action against infringers

Competition

From a business perspective, we compete across many different industries and within many different markets We
behieve our primary sources of competition include, but are not limited to

»  Football clubs. We compete against other football clubs 1n the Premuer League for match attendance and

matchday revenue We compete against football clubs around Europe and the rest of the wortld 10 attract the best
players and coaches in the global transfer and football staff markets
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= Telewision media: We receive media income primarily from the Premier League and Champions League media
contracts, each of which 15 collectively negotiated Further details of such arrangements are set out in the
section headed “—Revenue Sectors—Broadcasting ” On a collective level, and in respect of those media nghts
we retain, we compete against other types of television programming for broadcaster attention and advertiser
mncome both domestically and 1n other markets around the world

= Dugital media: We compete against other digital content providers for consumer attention and leisure time,
advertiser income and consumer ¢-commerce activity

*  Merchandise and apparel- We compete against other providers of sports apparel and equipment

»  Sponsorship: As aresult of the international recognitton and quality of our brand, we compete against many
different outlets for corporate sponsorship and advertising income, including other sports and other sports
teams, other entertainment and events, television and other traditional and digital media outlets

«  Live entertainment: We compete against alternative forms of live entertainment for the sale of matchday
tickets, including other hive sports, concerts, festivals, theatre and similar events

As a result, we do not believe there 1s any single market for which we have a well-defined group of competitors

Real Property

We own or lease property dedicated to our football and other operations The most significant of our real properties
15 Old Trafford The following table sets out our key owned and leased properties In connection with our revolving credit
facility, our secured term loan facility and our senior secured notes, several of our owned properties, including Old Trafford

are encumbered with land charges as secunty for all obligations under those agreements, although (a) Manchester

International Freight Terrnal 1s not encumbered as n has already been given as secunty under the Alderley Facility, and

(b) the Aon Tramming Complex 1s not encumbered

hey property and location

Old Trafford Football Stadeum Manchester Lancashue

Aon Traming Complex Carnngton Trafford

Littleton Road Tramnmg Ground Salford

The Cliff Lower Broughton Road, Salford

Manchester Internatienal Freight Termenal, Westinghouse Road
Trafford Park Manchester

Lznd and bmldings at Wharfside, Trafford Park, Manchester

Land and burldings on the southwest side of Trafford Wharf Road
Manchester

Land and buildimgs at Canalside Trafford Pask Manchester

Office space central London

Office space, Washmgton, D C, United States

Office space central Hong Kong

Legal Proceedings

Primary function Owned/leased Ownerflessor Area
(approx. m2)
Football stadium Owned (frechold) Manchester Unisted Limited 205 000
Football raiming faciluy Owned (freehold) Manchester Unsted Limited 440 000
Football traiming facility Owned (frechold) Manchester United Lamited 84 000
Football tramung facility Owned {frechold) Manchester United Lamited 28 000
Leased (through Alderley Urban Investments
Investment Property March 2071) Limited 107 000
investment Property Owned (freehold) Manchester United Limited 27,100
Offices and Car Parking Owmed (frechold)} Manchester United Limited 23 000
Invesiment Property QOwned (frechold) Manchester United Limited 10 800
Leased (through
Offices March 2021} Manchesier United Limited 1100
Leased (through
Offices October 2016) Manchester Umited Limited 638
Leased (through
Offices September 2014} Manchester United Limited 500

We are involved in various routine legal proceedings incident to the ordinary course of our business We believe that
the outcome of all pending legal proceedings, in the aggregate, will not have a matenal adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or operating results Further, we believe that the probability of any significant losses ansing from these
legal proceedings 1s remote and accordingly no provision has been made 1n our consolidated balance sheet as of 30 June 2013

in accordance with IFRS

Subsidiantes

Qur directly or indirectly wholly-owned principal subsidiaries are Red Football Finance Limited, Red Football
Holdings Limited, Red Football Shareholder Limited, Red Football Joint Venture Limited, Red Football Limited, Red

Football Jumor Limited, Manchester United Limited, Manchester United Football Club Limited, MU Finance plc,

Manchester United Interactive Limited, Manchester United Commercial Enterpnses (Ireland) Limited, Alderley Urban
Investments Limited, and MUTV Limnted All of the above are mmcorporated and operate in England and Wales, with the
exception of Red Football Finance Limited which 1s incorporated and operates 1n the Cayman Islands and Manchester United

Commercial Enterpnses (Ireland) Limited which 1s incorporated and operates in Ireland
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Customers

Qur top five customers represented 45 5%, 50 1% and 51 5% of our total revenue in each of the years ended 30 June
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively Our top five customers are the Premier League, Nike, UEFA, Aon and DHL See “Risk
Factors—Rusks Related to Our Business—We are exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by
counterparties to Premier Eeague and UEFA media contracts as well as our key commercial and transfer contracts ” Our top
customer 1s the Premier League, who represented 17 6%, 19 9% and 19 1% of our total revenue 1n each of the years ended
30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively Our second largest customer 1s Nike, who represented 10 6%, 10 5% and 9 4% of
our total revenue n each of the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion should be read 1n conjunction with our consolidated firancial statements and notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report

Overview

We are one of the most popular and successful sports teams in the world, playing one of the most popular spectator
sports on Earth Through our 35-year heritage we have won 62 trophies, including a record 20 English league titles,
enabling us to develop what we believe 1s one of the world’s leading sports brands and a global community of 659 millien
followers Our large, passionate commumity provides Manchester United with a worldwide platform 1o generate significant
revenue from multiple sources, including sponsorship, merchandising, product hicensing, new media & mobile, broadcasting
and matchday We attract leading global compames such as Aon, General Motors (Chevrolet) and Nike that want access and
exposure to our community of followers and association with our brand

How We Generate Revenue

We operate and manage our business as a single reporting segment—the operation of a professional sports team We
review our revenue through three principal sectors—Commercial, Broadcasting and Matchday—and within the Commercial
revenue sector, we have three revenue streams which monetize our global brand sponsorship revenue, retail, merchandising,
apparel & product licensing revenue, and new media & mobile revenue

Revenue Drivers
Commercial

Ouwr fastest growing source of revenue 15 dernived from sponsors and commercial partners We generate our
Commercial revenue with low fixed costs and small incremental costs for each additional sponser, making our commercial
operations a relatively high margin and scalable part of our business and a principal driver of growth for our overall
profitability Our Commercial revenue was £152 5 million for the year ended 30 June 2013

Sponsorship

We monetize the value of our global brand and community of followers through marketing and sponsorship
relationshaps with leading international and regional compames around the globe We typically contract with our commercial
sponsors 1n 2-5 year terms and have demonstrated an ability to increase the value of these relationships over time by either
renewing our existing contracts at higher prices or by marketing new opportumties for sponsorship agreements For example,
Aon became our exclusive shirt sponsor 1n June 2010 and this sponsorship 1s currently contracted through the end of the
2013/14 season Revenue from our Aon shirt sponsorship will be approximately £20 mithon for each of the remaining
seasons under our current contract in addttion to a financial services agreement worth approximately £3 2 mullion per year
This represents a matenal mncrease from the AIG shirt sponsership deal, which was worth approximately £14 1 million per
seasen
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On 26 July 2012, consistent with our strategy to grow our global sponsorship revenue, we entered into an agreement
with General Motors for Chevrolet to become our exclusive shirt sponsor, beginming 1n our 2014/15 season The term of the
agreement runs through the end of the 2020/21 season Annual fees from our new shirt sponsorship agreement will be
$70 0 million 1n the first season, and will increase by an additional 2 1% in each season thereafier through the term of the
agreement We also receive approximately $18 6 million in fees in each of the 2012/13 season and 2013/14 season under the
terms of our new shirt sponsorship agreement relating to pre-sponsorship support and exposure Total fees payable through
the end of the 2020/21 season under our new shirt sponsorship agreement are approximately $559 million

On 8 Apnl 2013, we announced an agreement expanding our sponsorship relationship with Aon In addition to being
our current shirt sponsor through the end of the 2013/14 season, effective as of 1 July 2013, Acn became the first ever
sponsor of our traming facihties at Carrington Further, Aon succeeded DHL as our training kit partner and our players and
coaching staff will wear Aon-branded traiming kits at ali domestic matches, as well as dunng traimng sessions Under the
agreement, Aon became the presenting partner of all our pre-season tours for the next eight years, including the 2013 tour 1n
Asta Pacific The term of the agreement runs through the end of the 2020/21 season

Total sponsorship revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £90 9 million, an increase of £27 8 million, or
44 1%, over the year ended 30 June 2012, dnven by new and renewed contracts with incremental pnicing increases

Retal, Merchandising, Apparel & Product Licensing

We market and sell competitive sports apparel, tramning wear and other clothing featuring the Manchester United
brand on a global basis In addition, we also sell other products, ranging from coffee mugs to bed spreads, featuring the
Manchester United brand and trademarks These products are distributed through Manchester United branded retail centers
and our e-commerce platform, as well as through our partners’ wholesale distribution channels

Nike currently manages our retail, merchandising, apparel & product hicensing operations pursuant to the terms of a
13 year agreement, expiring 1in 2015, which guarantees us an aggregate mimmum of £303 million in sponsorship and
licensing fees In return for its rights under the agreement, Nike pays us an annual installment in respect of the £303 million
mimmum censideration For the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012, and 2011, our agreement with Nike generated revenue of
£25 3 mllion, £25 4 milhon and £23 3 milhon, respectively, which reflects the minimum guaranteed revenue under the
agreement For the years ending 30 June 2014 and 2015, subject to certain reductions under vanous circumstances, including
1n the event our first team is relegated from the Premier League or fails to qualify for certain European competitions, our
agreement with Nike will generate mimimum guaranteed revenue of £25 3 million and £25 4 mullion, respectively (an
aggregate of £50 7 million in the remaining term of the agreement), providing a steady revenue stream dunng that pencd
The amount of the reduction in payment under the agreement depends upon the circumstances, but the maximum possible
reduction would be £6 35 million 1f our first team 1s relegated from the Premier League

In addition, net profit (over and above the guaranteed revenue noted above) generated by Nike over the duration of
the contract from the licensing, merchandising, and retail operations are shared equally between us and Nike We recogmze
revenue from our portion of the cumulative profit share 1n our income statement only when a reliable estimate of the future
performance of the contract can be obtained and only to the extent that the recogmized amount of the profit share 1s
considered probable on a cumulative basis at the end of the contract following the 2014/15 season See “—Liqundity and
Capital Resources” and “—Critical Accounting Policies and Judgments ™ Qur retatl, merchandising, apparel & product
heensing revenue from both the mimmum guarantee and the profit share was £38 6 million for the year ended 30 June 2013

New Media & Mobile

Due to the power of our brand and the quality of cur content, we have formed mobile telecom partnerships 1n
numerous countries In addition, we market content directly to our followers through our website, www manutd com, and
associated mobile properties Our new media & mobile revenue was £23 0 million, £20 7 milhion, and £17 2 milhon for the
years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively

Broadcasung

We benefit from the distnbution of live football content directly from the revenue we receive and indirectly through
increased global exposure for our commercial partners Broadcasting revenue s denved from our share of the global
television nghts relating to the Premier League, Champions League and other competitions The growing populanty of the
Premier League and Champions League in international markets and the associated increases in media nights values have
been major dnvers of the increase 1t our overafl Broadcasting revenue in recent years On 13 June 2012, the Premier League
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announced a three year broadcasting contract for the live nights to 154 games in the United Kingdom worth £3 018 billion
through the 2015/16 season This new contract represents a £1 25 billion increase from the previous three year contract for
the live television rights in the United Kingdom and a continuing growih trend from prior years We expect that the value of
the international broadcast nghts for the next three year cycle will increase approximately 35-40% from £456 million per
year for the previous cycle, which included the 2010/11, 2011/12 and 2012713 seasons Based on our expectation, we believe
that, 1n the aggregate, the value of the domestic and international broadcast rights wall increase from approximately

£3 5 brlhon to over £5 0 billion for the next three-year cycle ending with the 2015/16 season Media nights for the Champions
League grew, according to the UEFA and internal data, from € 865 million per season for each of the 2010/11, 2011/12 and
2012/13 seasons under the previous three year contract to approximately € 1,059 million per season under the current three
year contract Qur share of the revenue under the Premier League broadcasting rights contract amounted 10 £61 5 million,
£61 3 mulhion and £60 2 mullion for the 2012/13, 2011/12 and 2010/11 seasons, respectively, and our share of the revenue
under the Champions League broadcasting nghts contract amounted to £31 3 mulhon, £33 9 million and £46 9 million for the
2012/13, 2011/12 and 2010/11 seasons, respectively Qur participation in the Premier League and Champions League (and
consequently, our receipt of the revenue generated by these broadcasting contracts) 1s predicated on the success of our first
team, and 1f our first team fails to quahfy for the Champions League or 1s relegated from the Premier League 1n any given
season, our Broadcasting revenue for that and subsequent fiscal years will be adversely impacted In addition, our global
television channel, MUTYV, dehvers Manchester United programming to over 80 countries around the world MUTV
generated total revenue of £8 6 mallion, £8 8 milhon and £8 7 million for each of the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively Our Broadcasting revenue was £10]1 6 million for the year ended 30 June 2013

Matchday

Matchday revenue 1s a function of the number of games played at Old Trafford, the size and seating composition of
OId Trafford, attendance at our matches and the prices of tickets and hospitality sales A sigmificant driver of Matchday
revenue 1s the number of home games we play at Old Trafford, which 1s based on 19 Premier League matches and any
additional matches resulting from the success of our first team in the FA Cup, League Cup and Champions League Average
attendance for our home Premier League matches has been approximately 99% for each season since the 1997/98 season,
with strong attendance for Champions League, FA Cup and League Cup matches Our Matchday revenue was £109 1 million
for the year ended 30 June 2013, which pnmanly included £54 2 million from gate receipts and £33 6 mllion from
hospitality

We have recently increased individual game Matchday revenue by restructunng the composition of our stadswum,
with a particular emphasis on developing premium seating and hospitality facihties to enhance our overall matchday
profitabihity As part of this effort, we have invested in new and refurbished multi-seat suites as well as improvements to our
premium seats and associated facihties Enhancements to hospitahity facilities have been a key driver of improved overall
margins from our matchday ticket sales

We have also changed the composition of our general admission seats, improving the mix of ticketing options and
developing a categonzed approach for ticket pricing across each of our different seating options within the stadium Asa
result, between the 2005/06 season and the 2012/13 season, the weighted average general admisston ticket prices for our
Premier League matches played at Old Trafford increased at a compound annual growth rate of 5 0%

Other Factors That Affect Our Financial Performance
Employee benefit expenses

Player and staff compensation comprise the majonty of our operating costs Of our total operating costs, player
costs, which consist of salanes, bonuses, benefits and national insurance contnbutions are the pnmary component
Compensation to non-player staff, which includes our manager and coaching staff, also accounts for a significant portion
Competition from top clubs in the Premier League and Europe has resulted in increases in player and manager salaries,
forcing clubs to spend an increasing amount on player and staff compensation, and we expect this trend to continue In
addition, as our commercial operations grow, we expect our headcount and related expenses to mcrease as well

Other operating expenses

Our other operating expenses include certain vanable costs such as matchday catening, policing, secunity stewarding
and cleamng at Old Trafford, visitor gateshare for domestic cups, and costs related to the delivery on media and commercial
sponsorship contracts Other operating expenses also include certain fixed costs, such as operating lease costs and property
costs, maintenance, human resources, tratning and developments costs, and professional fees

43




Amortization and depreciation

We amortize the capitalized costs associated with the acquisition of players’ registrations These costs are amortized
over the pencd of the employment contract agreed with a player 1f a player extends his contract pnior to the end of the
pre-existing period of employment, the remaining unamortized portion of the acquisition cost 1s amortized over the penod of
the new contract Changes 1n amortization of the costs of players’ registrations from year to year and penod to perrod reflect
addittonal transfer fees paid for the acquisition of players, the impact of contract extensions and the disposal of players’
registrations  As such, increased players’ registration costs in any period could cause higher amortization n that period and in
future penods and have a negative impact on our results of operations Moreover, to the extent that the player registration
costs vary from period to penod, this may drnive vanability i our results of operations

Depreciation pnmarily reflects a strmght-line depreciation on investments made in property, plant and equipment
Deprectation over the periods under review results pnmanly from the depreciation of Old Trafford and in recent years from
improvements to Old Trafford completed at the beginming of the 2006/07 season and incremental improvements made to Old
Trafford over each of the subsequent seasons

Exceptional items

Exceptional operating costs are those costs that in management’s judgment need to be disclosed by virtue of their
size, nature or incidence 1n order to provide a proper understanding of our results of operations and financial condiion

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations

We recogmze profits or losses on the disposal of players’ registrations 1n our tncome statement Acquisitions and
disposals of players are discretionary and we make transfer decisions based upon the requirements of our first team and the
overall availabihty of players These requirements and the availability of players, and resulting profits or losses on dispesals,
may vary from period to peniod, contributing to vanability in our results of operations between peniods

Finance costs

A key component of our expenses during each of the past three fiscal years has been interest costs Although we
expect to reduce our leverage over time, we expect interest expense to continue to be a sigmficant component of our
expenses Net finance costs were £70 8 milhon for the year ended 30 June 2013 See “—Indebtedness ”

On 14 September 2012, we used all of our net proceeds from our IPO to reduce our indebtedness by exercising our
option 1o redeem and retire $101 7 million (£62 6 million) 1 aggregate prnincipal amount of our 8%/5% US dollar senior
secured notes due 2017 at a redemption price equal to 108 375% of the principal amount of such notes plus accrued and
unpaid interest to the date of such redemption

On 24 Fune 2013, we exercised our option te redeem (in full) £177 8 million 1n aggregate principal amount of our
outstanding 8/,% pounds sterling sentor secured notes due 2017 and (in part) $22 1 rmllion in aggregate princtpal amount of
our outstanding 8%/:% US dollar semor secured notes due 2017 with borrowings from our secured term loan facihty We
redeemed the senior secured notes at a redemption price, 1n respect of the 8%/,% pounds sterling senior secured notes, equal to
108 750% of the principal amount of the 8*/,% pounds sterling senior secured notes to be redeemed (or £1,087 50 per
£1,000 00 1n principal amount), and, n respect of the 8%/;% US dollar senior secured notes, equal to 108 375% of the
principal amount of the 8%/5% US dollar senior secured notes 1o be redeemed (or $1,083 75 per $1,000 00 in principal
amount) plus accrued and unpard nterest to 24 June 2013

Taxes

During each of the three years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, our principal operating subsidianies were tax
residents 1in the UK During the year ended 30 June 2013, we were subject to a weighted UK statutory tax rate of 23 75%,
during the year ended 30 June 2012, we were subject to a weighted statutory tax rate of 25 5% and duning the year ended
30 June 2011, we were subject to a weighted statutory tax rate of 27 5% While we paid UK corporation tax in fiscal year
2011, our cash tax rate was lower than the weighted statutory rate of tax due to a number of factors, including the utilization
of brought forward tax losses

Following the reaorgamzation transactions, although we are orgamized as a Cayman Islands corporation, we report as
a US domestic corporation for US federal income tax purposes As a result, our worldwide income 1s also subject to US taxes
at the US statutory rate of 35% We expect to receive a credit 1n the United States for the UK taxes paid and therefore we do
not expect 10 be double taxed on our income Over the next few years, our effective tax rate may be volanle prnmanly due to
the potential mismatch in the recognition of UK current tax habilities and US deferred tax assets Duning the same period we
expect our total cash tax rate to be lower than the US statutory rate of 35% due to future US tax deductions related to
differences 1n the book and tax basis of our assets as of the date of the reorgamization Thereafter, we expect our cash tax rate
10 align more closely with US statutory rate of 35%
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We may also be subject to US state and local income (franchise) taxes based generally upon where we are doing
business These tax rates vary by junisdiction and the tax base Generally, state and local taxes are deductible for US federal
income tax purposes Furthermore, because most of our subsidiaries are disregarded from their owner for US federal income
1ax purposes, we are not able 1o control the uming of much of our US federal income tax exposure In calculating our ltabihity
for US federal income tax, however, certain of our deductible expenses are higher than the amount of those same expenses
under UK corporation tax rules, owing to differences in the relevant rules of the two junsdictions and the related difference in
the opening book versus tax basis of our assets and habilites Finally, our UK tax hability can be credited against our US
federal income tax habilities, subject to US rules and imitations Nevertheless, over time we expect to pay higher amounts of
tax than had we remamed solely hable to tax in the United Kingdom As a result, over sme we do not expect our future
taxation, either with respect to nominal tax rates, effective 1ax rates or total hability, to be comparable to those we
expertenced in the three fiscal years preceding the reorganization transactions

Seasonality

We experience seasonality in our sales and cash flow, hmiting the overall comparabihty of interim financial penods
In any given intenm period, our total revenue can vary based on the number of games played 1n that period, which affects the
amount of Matchday and Broadcasting revenue recognized Simularly, certain of our costs derive from hosting games at Old
Trafford, and these costs will also vary based on the number of games played in the penod We histoncally recognize the
most revenue in our second and third fiscal quarters due to the scheduling of matches However, a strong performance by our
first team 1n the Champions League and domestic cups could result 1n significant additional Broadcasting and Matchday
revenue, and consequently we may also recognmize the most revenue 1n our fourth fiscal quarter 1n those years

A. OPERATING RESULTS

The following table shows selected audited consolidated income statement data for the years ended 30 June 2013,
2012 and 2011

Year ended 30 June
2013 2012 2011
(£'000)

Income Statement Data
Revenue 363.189 320,320 331,441

Analyzed as

Commercial revenue 152,441 117,611 103,369

Broadcasting revenue 101,625 103,991 117,249

Matchday revenue 109,123 938,718 110,823
Operating expenses—before exceptional items (304,120)  (274.411) (267.986)

Analyzed as

Employee benefit expenses (180,523) (161,688) (152,915)

Other operating expenses (74,114) (66,983)  (68,837)

Depreciation (7,769) (7,478) (6,989)

Amortization of playets’ registrations (41,714) (38,262)  (39,245)
Operating expenses—exceptional items (6,217) (10,728) (4,667)
Total operating expenses (310,337) (285,139) (272,653)
Operating profit before profit on disposal of players’ registrations 52,852 35,181 58,788
Profit on disposal of players’ registrations 9,162 9,691 4.466
Operating profit 62014 44,872 63,254
Finance costs (72,082) (50,315)  (52,960)
Finance income 1,275 779 1,710
Net finance costs {70,807) (49,536) (51,250)
(Loss)/profit on ordmary activities before tax (8,793) (4,664) 12,004
Tax credit 155,212 27,977 986
Profit for the year 146,419 23,313 12,990

Attributable to

Owners of the parent 146,250 22,986 12,649

Non-controlling mnterest 169 327 341
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Year Ended 30 June 2013 as Compared to the Year Ended 30 June 2012

Year ended
30 June % Change
2013 2012 2013 over 2012
(n £ milhons)

Revenue 3632 3203 13 4%
Commercial revenue 1525 1176 29 7%
Broadcasting revenue 101 6 104 0 (23)%
Matchday revenue 1091 98 7 10 5%

Total operating expenses (3103) (2852) 8 8%
Employee benefit expenses (1805) (161 7) 11 6%
Other operating expenses (74 1) (670) 10 6%
Depreciation (78 (7 5) 4 0%
Amortization of players’ registrations 417 (383) 8 9%
Exceptional items (62) (10 7} (42 1Y%

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations 91 97 (6 2)%

Net finance costs (70 8) (49 5) 43 0%

Tax credit 1552 280 454 3%

Revenue

Our consolidated revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £363 2 mullion, an increase of £42 9 million, or
13 4%, compared to the year ended 30 June 2012, as a result of an increase 1n revenue tn our Commercial and Matchday
sectors, which was partially offset by a decrease 1n revenue 1n our Broadcasting sector, as descnbed below

Commercial revenue

Commercial revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £152 5 million, an increase of £34 ¢ mullion, or 29 7%,
over the year ended 30 June 2012

= Spensorship revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £30 9 million, an increase of £27 8 million, or 44 1%,
over the year ended 30 June 2012, pnmanly as a result of the shirt pre-sponsorship suppert from General
Motors of £11 9 million and an increase from the addition of several new global and regional sponsorships

= Retall, merchandising, apparel & product licensing revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £38 6 mullion,
an increase of £4 8 milhon, or 14 2%, over the year ended 30 June 2012, primanly as a result of addwtional
profit share received pursuant to the agreement with Nike

+  New media & mobile revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £23 0 milhon, an increase of £2 3 million,
ot 11 1%, over the year ended 30 June 2012, primarily as a result of the commencement of new mobile
partnerships and increased revenues from existing partnerships

Broadcasting revenue
Broadcasting revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £101 6 million, a decrease of £2 4 million, or 2 3%, over
the year ended 30 June 2012 Broadcasting revenue was primarily impacted by our UEFA Champions League distributions

for fiscal 2013 being based on a 25% share for fimishing as runner-up 1n the Premier League 1n the preceding season,
compared to a 40% share 1n fiscal 2012 for fimshing as champions 1 the Premier League 1n the preceding season

Matchday revenue
Matchday revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £109 1 million, an mncrease of £10 4 milhon, or 10 5%, over

the year ended 30 June 2012 The increase in Matchday revenue was due primartly to hosting certain matches at the summer
2012 Olympic Games and five domestic cup home fixtures in fiscal 2013 compared to one 1n fiscal 2012
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Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses (defined as employee benefit expenses, other operating expenses, depreciation,
amortization of players’ registrations and exceptional items) were £310 3 mullion in the year ended 30 June 2013, an increase
of £25 | milhon, or 8 8%, over the year ended 30 June 2012

Employee benefit expenses

Employee benefit expenses for the year ended 30 June 2013 were £180 5 million, an increase of £18 8 milhon, or
11 6%, over the year ended 30 June 2012 This increase was primanly due to new player sigmings, existing player wage
increases and growth in commercial headcount

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2013 were £74 1 nullion, an increase of £7 1 mithon, or 10 6%,
over the year ended 30 June 2012 Thts tncrease was primanly due to an increase 1n domestic cup gateshare costs, catering
direct costs, and police and security costs—associated with the domestic cup home games played in the year, as well as costs
of hosting the matches at the summer 2012 Olympic Games

Depreciation

Depreciation for the year ended 30 June 2013 amounted to £7 & million, an increase of £0 3 nullion, or 4 0%, over
the year ended 30 June 2012

Amortization of players’ registrations

Amortization of players’ registrations for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £41 7 milhon, an increase of 3 4 milhon,
or 8 9%, over the year ended 30 June 2012 Increases in amortization due to player acquisitions during the year (mainly
Robin van Persie, Shinji Kagawa, Wilfried Zaha and Nick Powell) were partially offset by reductions due to departed players
(mainly Dimitar Berbatov) The unamortized balance of existing players’ registrations as of 30 June 2013 was
£119 9 mihon, of which £44 1 million 15 expected to be amortized 1n the year ended 30 June 2014 The remaimng balance 15
expected to be amortized over the four years to 30 June 2018 This does not take 1nto account player additions after 30 June
2013, which would have the effect of increasing the amertization expense in future periods, nor does 1t consider disposals
subsequent to 30 June 2013, which would have the effect of decreasing future amortization charges Furthermore, any
contract renegotiations would also impact future charges

Exceptional items

Exceptional items of £6 2 milhon were recogmized for the year ended 30 June 2013, of which £3 8 mullion related to
professional advisory fees in connection with the recently completed IPO and previously proposed public offenng of shares
and £2 4 milhon related to compensation paid to coaching staff on loss of office as a result of staff changes following the
retirement of the team manager and the subsequent appointment of a new team manager Exceptional items of £10 7 million
were recogmized for the year ended 30 June 2012, of which £8 9 million related to professional advisory fees 1n connection
with the recently completed IPO and previously proposed public offering of shares and £1 8 milhion related to an increase in
the provision relating to the Football League pension scheme deficit following an actuartal valuation

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £9 1 million, a decrease of
£0 6 milhon, or 6 2%, over the year ended 30 June 2012 The profit on disposal of players’ registrations for the year ended
30 June 2013 related to the disposals of Robbie Brady (Hull), Park Ji-Sung (QPR), Dimitar Berbatov (Fulham) and Paul
Pogba (Juventus) The profit on disposal of players’ registrations for the year ended 30 June 2012 related to the disposals of
Gabriel Obertan (Newcastle), Wes Brown and John O’ Shea (Sunderland), Darron Gibson (Everton), Mame Diouf
(Hannover), Ravel Momson (West Ham}), and Danny Drinkwater, Matty James and Ritchie De Laet (Leicester)
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Net finance costs

Net finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2013 were £70 8 mithon, an increase of £21 3 rlhion, or 43 9%, over
the year ended 30 June 2012 The primary reasons for this increase were the premium paid on the redemption of semor
secured notes of £22 0 mullion (£16 7 milhion of this increase related to our 24 June 2013 redemption of £177 8 milhon in
aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 8%/:% pounds sterling senior secured notes due 2017 and $22 1 million in
aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 8%/:% US dollar sermor secured notes due 2017), compared to £2 2 million in
the prior year, and the amortization of 1ssue discount and debt finance costs of £11 § million, compared to £2 3 milbon in the
prior year This increase was offset by reduced interest payable on semor secured notes of £4 3 mulhon, a £1 7 rulhion
favorable foreign exchange swing on the translation of our US dollar denominated semor secured notes, a £1 0 milhion gain
on the translation of our new US dollar dengminated secured term loan and a £0 5 million increase in interest receivable

Tax credu

For the year ended 30 June 2013, we recorded a non-cash tax credit of £155 2 mutlion, largely compnising the
recognition of US deferred tax assets

As aresult of the reorgamzation transactions related to the [PO, we inherited the £96 1mullion camed forward US
tax bases of Red Football Limited Partnership, which we expect to benefit from by way of future US tax deductions

Furthermore, the reorganization transactions related 1o the IPO resulted in additional US tax bases or “step-up” that
we currently expect to result in the availability of further US tax deductions The resulting increase in tax bases 1s currently
estimated to be approximately $350 rmillion (£225 million) gross, although not all of this 1s expected to result 1n increased US
tax deductions The deductible element of the “step-up” was not finalized at the time of preparation of the financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 and consequently the £31 9 million recogmzed as a deferred tax asset with respect
10 the step-up reflects management’s current best estimate We expect to finalize this position by the end of fiscal 2014

In addition, we expect to utilize any future UK taxes patd as foreign tax credits in the US, allowing us to “mrror™
our existing UK net deferred tax liability as a deferred tax asset in the US As our existing UK net deferred tax habihity
unwinds, we expect there to be UK taxable income that will result in a foreign tax credit in the US The benefit of the
expected foreign tax credit in the US has resulted in a deferred tax asset of £25 3 mmlhon

The £153 3 milhon US deferred tax asset recognized in connection with the reorganization transactions related to the
IPO, a portion of which has been utihzed during the year ended 30 June 2013, reflects management’s current expectation that
there will be sufficient future taxable profits to utilize future US tax deductions

In the pnior year, we recorded a tax credit of £28 0 rmlhon primanly due to the recognition of previously
unrecognized UK tax losses as a UK deferred tax asset and the continuing release of the UK deferred tax habilities

Year Ended 30 June 2012 as Compared to the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Year ended
30 June % Change
2012 2011 2012 over 2011
(10 £ milhions)

Revenue 3203 3314 G 3%
Commercial revenue I176 103 4 13 7%
Broadcasting revenue 104 0 1172 (11 3)%
Matchday revenue 98 7 1108 {10 9)%

Total operating expenses {285 2) (272 6) 4 6%
Employee benefit expenses {161 7) (1529) 57%
Other operating expenses (67 0) (68 8) (26)%
Depreciation . (75) {70) 71%
Amortization of players’ registrations (383) (392) (23)%
Exceptional items {107) 47 127 7%

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations 97 45 15 6%

Net finance costs (49 5) (513) (35)%

Tax credit 280 10 2,700 0%
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Revenue

Our consohidated revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £320 3 muliton, a decrease of £11 1 mullion, or 3 3%,
as compared to the year ended 30 June 2011, as a result of a decrease in revenue in our Broadcasting and Matchday sectors,
which was partially offset by an increase in revenue in our Commercial sector, as descnibed below

Commercial revenue

Commercial revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £117 6 mullion, an increase of £14 2 mallion, or 13 7%,
over the year ended 30 June 2011 The increase in Commercial revenue reflects an increase of £8 2 rmllion from the addition
of several new global and regional sponsorships We also experienced an increase of £1 5 millon from our shirt sponsorship,
as well as an increase of £0 9 milhon n revenue generated from tours In addition, additional profit share pursuant to the
arrangement with Nike recognized in the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011 amounted to £8 4 mullion and £5 7 mullion,
respectively

= Sponsorship revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012, was £63 1 mitlion, an increase of £8 2 mithion, or 14 9%,
over the year ended 30 June 2011, pnmanly as a result of the shirt spensorship with Aon and the addition of the
new sponsorships, as discussed above

«  Retail, merchandising, apparel & product licensing revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £33 8 mullion, !
an increase of £2 5 million, or 8 0%, over the year ended 30 June 2011, primarily as a result of additional profit
share received pursuant to the agreement with Nike, as discussed above

*«  New media & mobile revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £20 7 million, an increase of £3 5 milhon,
or 20 3%, over the year ended 30 June 2011, pnmarily as a result of the commencement of new mobile
partnerships and increased payments from exisbng partnerships

Broadcasting revenue

Broadcasting revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £104 0 milhion, a decrease of £13 2 million, or 11 3%,
over the year ended 30 June 2011 Broadcasting revenue was pnmarily impacted by our early exit from the Champions
League, compared with progtession through to the final in the year ended 30 June 2011 In addition, FA Cup revenues in the
year ended 30 June 2012 were 1mpacted by our 4th round exit, compared with reaching the semi-final in the year ended
30 June 2011

Matchday revenue

Matchday revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £98 7 mllion, a decrease of £12 1 million, or 10 9%, over
the year ended 30 June 2011 The decrease in Matchday revenue was the result of having played four less home games in the
year ended 30 June 2012 as compared to the year ended 30 June 2011 when we also received revenue as a result of reaching
the Champions League final and FA Cup semui-final, both games staged at Wembley Stadium

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses (defined as employee benefit expenses, other operating expenses, depreciation,
amortization of players’ registrations and exceptional items) were £285 2 miilion 1n the year ended 30 June 2012, an increase .
of £12 6 mullion, or 4 6%, over the year ended 30 June 2011 !

Employee benefit expenses

Employee benefit expenses for the year ended 30 June 2012 were £161 7 million, an increase of £8 8 million, or |
5 7%, over the year ended 30 June 2011 This increase was primarily due 1o an increase 1n football player and staff
compensation, offset by lower success related bonuses compared to the year ended 30 June 2011 when we won the Premier |
League Championship and reached the Champions League final The increasingly competitive gltobal market for football
players continues to be a primary dniver of staff costs Throughout the two years ended 30 June 2012, our employee benefit
expenses mncreased as a result of increases 1o player compensation reflecting our ongoing strategy of mmvesting in our first
team There have also been increases to our overall number of non-football employees, driven 1n large part by the expansion
of our commercial operations
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Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses for the year ended 30 June 2012 were £67 0 milhion, a decrease of £1 8 mithon or 2 6%
over the year ended 30 June 2011 This decrease was pnmanly due to reduced travel costs compared to the year ended
30 June 2011 when the first team reached the Champions League final and reduced gateshare payments to our opponents due
to fewer domestic cup matches played at Old Trafford in the year ended 30 June 2012 This decrease was partially offset by a
general underlying growth 1n operating expenditure largely associated with the continued growth of our commercial
operations

Depreciation

Depreciation for the year ended 30 June 2012 amounted to £7 5 million, an increase of £0 5 milhon, or 7 1%, over
depreciation of £7 0 million for the year ended 30 June 2011

Amortization of players’ registrations

Amortization of players’ registrations for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £38 3 nullion, which was largely in line
with £39 2 million for the year ended 30 June 2011 Increases in amortization due to player acquisitions during the year
(mainly Phil Jones, David de Gea and Ashley Young} were offset by reductions due to contract extensions (manly Anderson,
Chnis Smalling and Antonio Valencia) and departed players (mainly Owen Hargreaves) The unamortized balance of existing
players’ registrations as of 30 June 2012 was £112 4 mmlhon, of which £30 4 mullion 15 expected to be amortized 1n the year
ended 30 June 2013 The remaining balance 1s expected to be amortized over the three years to 30 June 2016 This does not
1zke 1nto account player addimons after 30 June 2012, which would have the effect of increasing the amortization expense 1n
future penods, nor does 1t consider disposals subsequent to 30 June 2012, which would have the effect of decreasing future
amortization charges Furthermore, any contract renegotiations would also impact future charges

Exceptional items

Exceptional tems of £10 7 milhon were recognized for the year ended 30 June 2012, of which £8 9 million related
to professional advisory fees in connection with the recently completed IPO and previously proposed public offering of
shares and £1 8 miallion related to an increase in the provision relating to the Football League pension scheme deficit
following an actuanal valuation Exceptional items of £4 7 mullion were recognized for the year ended 30 June 2011, of
which £2 7 million related to professional advisory fees in connection with a proposed public offenng of shares and
£2 0 mullion related to an impairment of investment property

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations

Profit on disposal of players’ registrations for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £9 7 milhon, an increase of
£5 2 millien, or 115 6%, over the year ended 30 June 2011 The profit on disposal of players’ registrations for the year ended
30 June 2012 related to the disposals of Gabriel Obertan (Newcastle), Wes Brown and John O’Shea (Sunderland), Danny
Drinkwater (Leicester}, Darron Gibson (Everton), Mame Dhouf (Hannover), Ravel Morrison (West Ham), and Matty James
and Ritchie De Laet (Leicester) The profit on disposal of players’ registrations for the year ended 30 June 2011 related
mainly to the transfers of Craig Cathcart, Rodrigo Possebon, Magnus Wolff Eikram, James Chester and Cameron Stewart
with additional tngger payments being received for players previously transferred

Net finance costs

Net finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2012 were £49 5 milhion, a decrease of £1 8 milhion, or 3 5%, as
compared to £51 3 million for year ended 30 June 2011 The main reasons for this decrease were a £6 4 million decrease 1n
interest payable on bank loans and senior secured notes primanly due to repurchases of semor secured notes and a
£16 9 million decrease m interest payable and accelerated amortization of debt issue on the secured payment in kind loan
following repayment of this loan rd-way through the year ended 30 June 2011 These decreases were partly offset by an
unreahzed loss of £5 2 million on the translation of our US dollar denominated semior secured notes in the year ended 30 June
2012 compared to an unrealized gain of £16 4 mllion in the year ended 30 June 2011 (an adverse movement of
£21 6 milhon) Foreign exchange gains or losses are not a cash charge and could reverse depending on dollar/sterfing
exchange rate movernent Any gain or loss on a cumutative basis will not be realized until 2017 (or earlier if our semor
secured notes are refinanced or redeemed prior to their stated matunty)
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Tax credu

The tax credit for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £28 0 milhion as compared with a tax credit of £1 0 million for
the year ended 30 June 2011 The increase pnimarnly resulted from the recognition of a previously unrecogmized UK deferred
tax asset This asset relates to previously unrecogmzed UK tax losses

Cnitical Accounting Pohicies and Judgments

The preparation of our financial information requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the apphcation of policies and reported amounts of assets and habihities, revenue and expenses The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on histonical expenence and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and habihities
that are not reacily apparent from other sources For a summary of all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 2 to our
audited consohdated financial statements as of 30 June 2013 and 2012 and for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011
included elsewhere in this Annuval Report

The JOBS Act permtts an “emerging growth company” like us to take advantage of an extended transiion period to
comply with new or revised accounting standards apphcable to public companies At the effective date of our IPO, we chose
to “opt out™ of this provision and, as a result, we are complying with, and will continue to comply with, new or revised
accounting standards as required when they are adopted Our decision to opt out of the extended transition period 1s
irrevocable

We believe that the following accounting policies reflect the most cnitical judgments, estimates and assumptions and
are significant to the consohidated financial statements

Revenue recognition
Commercial

Commercial revenue comprises amounts receivable from the utihzation of the Manchester Umited brand through
sponsorship and other commercial agreements, 1ncluding minimum guaranteed revenue and fees generated by the Manchester
United first team promotional tours

Minimum guaranteed revenue 1s recognized over the term of the sponsorship agreement 1n line with the performance
obligations included within the contract and based on the sponsorship benefits enjoyed by the individual sponser Certain
sponsorship contracts include additional profit share armangements based on cumulative profits eamed from the utihzation of
the Manchester United brand

Under the terms of sponsorship contracts that include profit share arrangements, such profit share may be recouped
by the sponsor against future mimimum guarantees should the future financial performance result in profits below the
minimum guarantee Any additional profit share on such arrangements 1s only recognized when a rehable estimate of the
future performance of the contract can be obtained and only to the extent that the revenue 1s considered probable When profit
share 1s recognized 1t 15 recorded ratably over the term of the contract period

In assessing whether any additional profit share 1s probable and should therefore be recogmzed, management carmries
out regular reviews of the contracts and future financial forecasts, having regard 1o the underlying risk factors such as team
performance and general economic conditions Such forecasts of future financial performance may differ from actual
financial performance, which could result in a difference 1n the revenue recognized 1n a given year

In respect of contracts with multiple elements, we allocate the total consideration recervable 1o each separately
identifiable element based on their relative fair values, and then recognizes the allocated revenue on a straight-line basis over
the relevant period of each element
Broadcasting and Matchday

For our accounting policies relating to Broadcasting revenue and Matchday revenue, which management do not

consider to involve cntical estimates and judgmenits, see Note 2 to our audited consohdated financial statements as of 30 June
2013 and 2012 and for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011 included elsewhere in this Annual Report
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Impairment of goodwill and non-current assets

The Company annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment and more frequently tests whether
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment  An impairment loss 1s recognized when the carrying
value of goodwill exceeds its recoverable amount Iis recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use The recoverable amount has been determined based on value-in-use calculations These calculations require the
use of estimates, both 1n armving at the expected future cash flow and the application of a suitable discount rate 1n order to
calculate the present value of these flows

All other non-current assets, including property plant and equipment and investment property, are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in citcumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable Any
impairment charges ansing are recognized 1n the income statement when the carrying amount of an asset 1s greater than the
estimated recoverable amount, which 15 the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, and are
calculated with reference to future discounted cash flow that the asset 15 expected to generate when considered as part of a
cash-generating unit An impairment review tngger event would include, for example, our fatlure to qualify for the
Champions League for a sustained period In respect of player registrations, a further impairment review trigger event would
occur when the player 1s excluded from our revenue generation, for example as a result of a career-ending imury, and
conchtions indicate that the amortized carrying value of the asset 1s not recoverable

The imparrment review of gecodwill and other non-current assets considers estimates of the future economic benefits
attnbutable to them Such estimates involve assumptions in relation to future, recoverable amount of the asset, ticket revenue,
broadcasting and sponsorship revenue and on-field performance Any estimates of future economic benefits made in relation
to nen-current assets may differ from the benefits that ultimately anse, and materially affect the recoverable value of the
asset

Intangible assets—players’ registrations

The costs associated with the acquisition of players’ registrations are capitalized as intangible assets at the fair value
of the consideration payable, including an estimate of the fair value of any contingent consideration Subsequent
reassessments of the amount of contingent consideration payable are also included in the cost of the player’s registration The
estimate of the fair value of the contingent consideration payable requires management to assess the hikelihood of specific
performance conditions being met which would trigger the payment of the contingent consideration such as the number of
player appearances This assessment 1s carned out on an individual player basis Costs associated with the acquisihion of
players’ registrations include transfer fees, Premmer League levy fees, agents’ fees and other directly attributable costs These
costs are amortized over the penod covered by the player’s contract To the extent that a player’s contract 15 extended, the
remaning book value 1s amortized over the remaining revised contract hife

Recognition of deferred tax assets

We recognize deferred tax effects of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and
the tax basis of our assets and habihities

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that the associated deductions will be
available for use against future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable profit available against which the
temporary differences can be utilized, provided the asset can be reliably quantified In estimating future taxable profit,
management use “base case” approved forecasts which incorporate a number of assumptions, including a prudent level of
future uncontracted revenue 1n the forecast period In amiving at a judgment 1n relation to the recognition of deferred tax
assets, management considers the regulations applicable to tax and advice on their interpretation  Future taxable income may
be higher or lower than estimates made when determining whether 1t 1s appropriate to record a tax asset and the amount to be
recorded Furthermore, changes 1n the legislative framework or applicable tax case law may result in management reassessing
the recogmtion of deferred tax assets in future penods

B LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary cash requirements stem from the payment of transfer fees for the acquisition of players’ registrahions,
capital expenditure for the improvement of facilities at Old Trafford and the Aon Training Complex, payment of interest on
our borrowings, employee benefit expenses and other operating expenses Histonically, we have met these cash requirements
through a combination of operating cash flow and proceeds from the transfer fees from the sale of players’ regtstrations Our
existing borrowings primarily consist of our secured term loan and our semor secured notes, although we have 1n the past,
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and may from time to hme n the future, repurchase our semor secured notes 1n open market transactions Repurchased semor
secured notes have been retired Additionally, although we have not needed to draw any borrowings under our revolving
credit facality since 2009, we have no intention of retinng our revolving credit facility and may draw on i1t in the future in
order to satisfy our working capital requirements We manage our cash flow interest rate risk where appropnate using interest
rate swaps at contract lengths consistent with the repayment schedule of our long term borrowings Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates We also have foreign exchange rate
forward contracts outstanding that we use 10 hedge our Euro exposure relating to distributions from UEFA See “—
Indebtedness™ below

Our business generates a significant amount of the cash from our gate revenues and commercial contractual
arrangements at or near the begmmng of our fiscal year, with a steady flow of other cash received throughout the fiscal year
In addition, we generate a sigmficant amount of our cash through advance receipts, including season tickets (which include
general admission season tickets and seasonal hospitality tickets), most of which are recerved prior to the end of June for the
following season Qur Broadcasting revenue from the Premier League and UEFA are paid penodically throughout the season,
witth pnmary payments made 1n the late summer, December, January and the end of the football seasen Qur sponsorship and
other commercial revenue tends to be paid enther quarterly or annually in advance However, while we typically have a high
cash balance at the beginning of each fiscal year, this 1s largely attributable to deferred revenue, the majonity of which falls
under current hiabihities 1n the consohidated balance sheet, and this deferred revenue 1s unwound through the income statement
over the course of the fiscal year Over the course of a year, we use our cash on hand to pay operating expenses, staff costs,
interest payments and other liabilities as they become due This typically results in negative working capital at certain times
during the year In the event it ever became necessary to access additional operating cash, we also have access to cash
through our revolving credit facihity As of 30 June 2013, we had no borrowings under our revolving crednt facility

Pursuant to our contract with Nike, we are entitled to share in the cumulative net profits (incremental to the
guaranteed sponsorship and licensing fees) generated by Nike from the hicensing, merchandising and retail operations The
annual installment Nike pays us in respect of the £303 mullion in mmimum guaranieed sponsorship and licensing fees can be
affected each year by the level of cumulative profits generated Nike 1s required 1o pay us the cumulative profit share in cash
as the first installment of the mimimum guarantee 1n each fiscal year, with the balance (up to the portion of the minimum
guarantee for that year) paid to us 1n equal quarterly installments In the event the cumulative profit share paid te us in the
first installment exceeds the portion of the mimimum guarantee for that year, no additional payments are made for the
remainder of the year The excess of the amount received 1n cash from Nike above the minimum guarantee, if any, for any
particular year 1s deemed to be the amount of cumulative profit retained 1n a particular year At the end of the contract, we
will recerve a cash payment equal to the cumulative profit not previously retained, as described above We are currently
accruing cumulative profit share revenue on our balance sheet that will be paid to us by Nike at the end of the contract, in
2015

We also maintain a mixture of long-term and short-term debt finance 1n order to ensure that we have sufficient funds
available for short-term working capital requirements and for investment in the playing squad and other capital projects

Our cost base 1s more evenly spread throughout the fiscal year than our cash inflows Employee benefit expenses
and fixed costs constitute the majonty of our cash outflows and are generally paid throughout the 12 months of the fiscal
year Our working capital levels tend to be at their lowest in November, 1n advance of Premier League and UEFA
broadcasting receipts in December

In addition, transfer windows for acquinng and disposing of players’ registrations occur in January and the summer
During these periods, we may require additional cash to meet our acquisition needs for new players and we may generate
additional cash through the sale of existing players’ registrations Depending on the terms of the agreement, transfer fees may
be paid or received by us in multiple installments, resulting in deferred cash paid ot received Although we have not
tistonically drawn on our revolving credit facility duning the summer transfer window, 1f we seek to acquire players with
values substantially in excess of the values of players we seck to seli, we may be required to draw on our revolving credit
facility to meet our cash needs

Acqusiion and disposal of players’ registrations also affects our current trade receivables and payables, which
affects our overall working capntal Our current trade receivables include accrued income from sponsors as well as transfer
fees recervable from other football clubs, whereas our trade payables include transfer fees and other associated costs 1n
relation to the acquisition of players’ registrations
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Capital expenditures at Old Trafford

Our stadium, Old Trafford, remains one of our key assets and a significant part of the overall experience we provide
to our followers Old Trafford has been our home stadium since 1910 and has undergone sigmificant changes over the years
To maintain the quality of service, enhance the fan expernence and ncrease Matchday revenue, we continually invest 1n the
refurbishment and regeneration of Old Trafford Following a substantial development prnor to the 2006/07 season, we
expanded seating capacity at Old Trafford from approximately 68,000 to 75,766 In addition, we have continued to invest in
improving hospatality suites and catenng facilities through refurbishment programs For example, 1n the 2009/10 and 2010711
seasons, we upgraded the East Stand, North Stand and West Stand multi-seat facilities We record these mvestments as
capital expenditures Capital expenditure a1t Old Trafford was £4 0 mithon, £15 3 mullion and £7 3 million for the years ended
30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively We typically invest approximately £3 million per year in refurbishment capital
expenditure with further investments 1n expansion capital expenditure as required

In additton, we spent £7 6 milhion in fiscal year 2013 and expect to spend a further £5 0 milhion 1n fiscal 2014 1n
connection with updating and expanding the Aon Traiming Complex, our traimng facility

New media capital expenditure

We intend to continue investing in our new media assets, including our website and digital media capabihties Over
the next three years, we intend to invest approximately £5 0 million to £8 0 milhon in our new media assets, however, as our
new media business continues to grow, the iming of these capital expenditure investments may change

Net player capital expenditure

From the year ended 30 June 1999 to the year ended 30 June 2013, average net player capital expenditure
represented a cash outflow of £17 8 million per fiscal year (excluding the sale of a player in the year ended 30 June 2009 that
generated a sigmificant cash inflow, average net player capital expenditure over the same period would have been a cash
outflow of £23 1 mullien per fiscal year) However, net player capital expenditure has vaned sigmificantly from penod to
period, as shown in the table below, and while we expect that trend to continue, competition for talented players may force
clubs to spend 1ncreasing amounts on player registration fees Actual cash used or generated from net player capital
expenditure 15 recorded on our statement of cash flow under net cash used or generated in investing activities

Last 15 Years Net Player Capital Expenditure(l)

£ million
496

e " ¥ T ittt ettt e [

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

{Fizca! year anded 30 June)

54




4} The net player capital expenditure data presented 1s the sum of all cash used for purchases of players’ registrations
and all cash generated from sales of players’ registrations as disclosed in our consolidated annual financial
statements For the year ended 30 June 2013, the data above was derived from the annual financial statements of
Manchester United plc For the years ended 30 June 2007 to 30 June 2012, the above data was derived from the
annual financial statements of Red Football Shareholder Limuted For the years prier to 2007, the annual financial
statements used to denve the data above were those of the previous parent company, Manchester United plc The
information represents fiscal years which comprised 12 month periods except for the year ended 30 June 2005
Manchester United plc’s fiscal year ended on 31 July until the 2005 fiscal year, which resulted i an 11-month fiscal
year in 2005 Thus, the net player capital expenditure for the 2005 fiscal year is for the 11-month penod ended
30 june 2005 Manchester United plc changed its name to Manchester United Limited in the fiscal year 2006 The
annual financial statements for peniods prior to our transition to IFRS on | July 2008 were prepared n accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the United Kingdom

Werking Capital

Cur directors confirmed that, as of the date of this Annual Report, after taking into account our current cash and
cash equivalents and our anticipated cash flow from operating and financing activities, we believe that we have sufficient
working capital for our present requirements

Cash Flow
The following table summanzes our cash flows for the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011

Year ended 30 June
2013 2012 2011
(m £ mithons)

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 1299 803 1251
Interest paid (736) (471) (1675)
Debt finance costs relating to borrowings 31N — on
Interest received 09 10 18
Income tax refund/(paid) 31 (33 01
Net cash generated from/(used 1n) operating activihes 572 309 (40 8)
Cash flow from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (net of proceeds) (125 (15 3) (71)
Purchases of investment property — (73) —_
Purchases of players” registrations (46 0) {59 0) (25 4)
Proceeds from sale of players’ registrations 97 94 140
Net cash used in investing activities (48 8) (72 2) (18 5)
Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 703 — 249 |
Expenses directly attnbutable to 1ssue of shares (15 — -_—
Acquisition of additional interest 1n subsidiary ()] — -—
Proceeds from borrowings 2092 — —
Repayment of borrowings (2593) (288) (202 5)
Dividends paid — (10 0) —
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 160 (388 46 6
Net increase/(decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents 24 4 Bon (127

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities represents our operating results and net movements 1n our working capital
Qur working capital 1s generally impacted by the timing of cash received from the sale of tickets and hospitality and other
matchday sales, broadcasting revenue from the Premier League and UEFA and sponsorship and commercial revenue Cash
generated from operations for the year ended 30 June 2013 produced a cash inflow of £129 9 million, an increase of
£49 6 mtlhon from a cash inflow of £80 3 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2012 The increase in cash generated from
operations compared to the year ended 30 June 201215 largely due to the increases in Commercial and Matchday revenues,

55




partially offset by a decrease in Broadcasting revenue Cash generated from operations for the year ended 30 June 2011 was
£125 1 millhon

Additional changes i cash generated from operating activities generally reflect our finance costs We currently pay
fixed rates of interest on our semor secured notes and variable rates of interest on our secured term loan facility Our
revolving credit facility 1s also subject to vanable rates of interest Interest paid was £73 6 million in the year ended 30 June
2013, an increase of £26 5 milion compared to £47 1 million n interest paid 1n the year ended 30 June 2012 The increase of
£26 5 mllion pnmanly compnses £19 8 multion relating to the premium pard on redemptions of semor secured notes,
£3 8 mulion relating to interest on semor secured notes, resulting from an increase due to early payment of interest on notes
redeemed in June 2013 offset by a reduction in interest paid due to redemptions following the IPO earhier in the year, and
£2 8 mulhion relating to interest paid to the former minonty shareholder of MUTV Limited when we acquired the remaining
33 3% of the 1ssued share capital of MUTV Limited

Net cash generated from operating activities was £57 2 million 1n the year ended 30 June 2013, compared to net cash
generated from operating activities of £30 9 million for the year ended 30 June 2012 Net cash used in operating activities
was £40 8 million for the year ended 30 June 2011

Net cash used 1n investing activities

Capital expenditure for the acquisition of players as well as for improvements to property, principally at Old
Trafford and the Aon Training Complex, are funded through cash flow generated from operations, proceeds from the sale of
players’ registrations and, if necessary, from our revolving credit faciiity Capital expenditure on the acquisition, disposal and
trading of players’ registrations tends to vary sigmificantly from year to year depending on the requirements of our first team,
overall availability of players, our assessment of their relative value and competiive demand for players frem other clubs By
contrast, capital expenditure on the purchase of property, plant and equipment tends to remain relatively stable as we
contmue to make 1mprovements at Old Trafford and invest in the expansion of our traiming faciiity, the Aon Traimng
Complex

Net cash used mn investing activities for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £48 8 mullion, a decrease of £23 4 million
from £72 2 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2012, pnimanly due to lower purchases of players’ registrations and neghgible
purchases of investment property in the year ended 30 June 2013, compared to £7 3 mulhion of purchases of investment
property 1n the year ended 30 June 2012

For the year ended 30 June 2013, net capital expenditure was £12 5 rmullion, a decrease of £10 I rmillion from net
capital expenditure of £22 6 mullion for the year ended 30 June 2012 Net capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2013
related mainly to upgrades to our corporate facilities and general development at Old Trafford together with the
redevelopment of our traiming facihity at Carnington Net capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2012 related to the
expansion of our property portfohio around Old Trafford, upgrades to our corporate facilimes and general development at Old
Trafford together with the commencement of the redevelopment of our tramming facility at Carrington

For the year ended 30 June 2013, net player capital expenditure was £36 4 million, a decrease of £13 2 million from
net player capttal expenditure of £49 6 million for the year ended 30 June 2012 Player capital expenditure for the year ended
30 June 2013 mainly compnised expenditures for the acquisitions of van Persie, Kagawa, Zaha and Powell less payments
recerved relating to the disposals of Park, O’Shea, Pogba, Diouf and Berbatov Player capital expenditure for the year ended
30 June 2012 mainly comprised expenditures for the acquisitions of de Gea, Jones and Young less payments received relating
to the disposals of Obertan, Brown, O’Shea, Dninkwater, Gibson Diouf, Mormson, James and De Laet

For the year ended 30 June 2011, net capital expenditure on the purchase of property, plant and equipment was a
cash outflow of £7 1 milhon Net capital expenditure on the acquisition, disposal and trading of players’ registrations resulted
m a cash outflow of £11 4 million, reflecung the acquisition of the registrations of certain players offset by disposals Asa
result, net cash used 1n investing activities was £18 5 milhion

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activines

Net cash generated from financing activities for the year ended 30 June 2013 was £16 0 million, an increase of
£54 8 mulhon over £38 8 million net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 30 June 2012 In the year ended
30 June 2013, we raised £70 3 milhon ($110 2 mulhien) following our IPO The net proceeds of the share 1ssue were used to
repurchase a portion of our 8 375% US dollar semior secured notes, compnsing a principal vatue of £62 6 milhon
($101 7 million) and a premium on repurchase of £5 3 million ($8 5 million) Expenses of £1 5 million directly attnbutable to
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the i1ssue of new shares were incurred In June 2013 we refinanced a portion of our borrowings with a new £209 2 million
(3315 7 mullion) US dollar secured term loan We used the proceeds from the new secured term loan to repurchase all

£177 8 mulhion of our 8 75% pounds sterling semor secured notes and £14 0 mullion ($22 1 milhien) of our 8 375% US dollar
senior secured notes, repaying a iotal equivalent to £208 5 mullion, comprising a principal value of £191 8 million and a
premium on repurchase of £16 7 milhon On 2 January 2013, we acquired the remaining 33 3% of the i1ssued share capital of
MUTYV Limuted for a purchase consideration (including transaction costs) of £2 7 million We now hold 100% of the 1ssued
share capital of MUTV Limited We also repaid the loan stock issued to the former minonty shareholder of MUTV Limited
amounting to £4 4 mllion

Net cash used 1n financing activities for the year ended 30 June 2012 was £38 8 million, an increased outflow of
£85 4 mlbion from net cash generated of £46 6 million for the year ended 30 June 2011 During the year ended 30 June 2012,
we purchased £28 2 milhion (sterling equivalent) nominal value of our senior secured notes in open market transactions and !
paid an interim dividend of £10 0 million During the year ended 30 June 2011, net cash inflow from financing activities was
$46 6 million as a result of the repayment of borrowings of £138 0 mulhion to the lenders under our payment n kind loan
offset by the receipt of £249 1 mullion proceeds from the 1ssuance of shares to our immedate shareholder In addition, we
repurchased £63 8 mullion (sterling equivalent) nominal value of our semor secured notes in open market transactions during
fiscal year 2011, but the value of the senior secured notes as assets on our balance sheet offset the cash outflow required to
purchase our semior secured notes and therefore did not impact our total indebtedness in fiscal year 2011 Our senior secured
notes previcusly purchased by us in open market transactions have been contributed to MU Finance plc and retired

Indebtedness

Our pnmary sources of indebtedness consist of our secured term loan facility and our semor secured notes As par
of the secunty for our secured term loan facility, our sentor secured notes and our revolving credit facility, substantially all of
our assets are subject to liens and mortgages

Description of principal indebtedness
Senor secured notes

Our semor secured notes imtialky consisted of two tranches £250 mithon 8%,% semor secured notes due 2017 and
$425 million 8%3% senior secured notes due 2017 Qur senior secured notes were 1ssued by our wholly-owned finance
subsidiary, MU Finance plc, are guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Jumor Limited, Manchester United
Limited and Manchester Umted Football Club Limited and are secured against all of the assets of Red Football Lirited and
each of the guarantors

The indenture governing our senior secured notes contains customary covenants and restrictions on the activities of i
Red Football Limited and each of Red Football Limited’s subsidianes, including, but not limited to, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness, dividends or distnbutions in respect of capital stock or certain other restricted payments or
investments, entening 1nto agreements that restrict distnbutions from restricted subsidianes, the sale or disposal of assets,
including capital stock of restricted subsidianes, transactions with affiliates, the incurrence of hens, and mergers,
conschdations or the sale of substantially all of Red Footbail Limited’s assets The covenants 1n the indenture governing our
sentor secured notes are subject to certain thresholds and exceptions described 1n the indenture governing our senuor secured
notes

CQur outstanding senior secured notes may be redeemed in part or in full at the redemption prices (expressed as
percentages of principal amount of such notes} set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest on the notes redeemed to the

date of such redemption, 1f redeemed during the twelve-month peniod beginning on 1 February of the years indicated below

Redemphon Price

Poupds
Sterhng US Dollar
Year Notes Notes
2013 108 750% 108 375%
2014 104 375% 104 188% !
2015 102 188% 102 094%
2016 100 000% 100 000% '
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In the event we exercise our option to redeem any series of notes pursuant to the terms of the indenture and less than
all of the notes of such senes are to be redeemed, the trustee will select notes for redemption on a pro rata basis

Using the proceeds from our IPO and funding provided by the secured term loan facthity we repurchased
£254 5 mullion of our senior secured notes during the year ended 30 June 2013, compnsing £177 8 million of our senior
secured notes from the pounds sterling tranche and $123 8 mullion of our senior secured notes from the US dollar tranche All
repurchased senior secured notes have been retired and following the repurchases during the year ended 30 June 2013, our
8%/,% sentor secured notes due 2017 have been retired in full The total amount of semor secured notes outstanding at 30 June
2013, net of unamernized discounts and 1ssue costs of £6 0 million, was the sterhng equivalent of £171 5 mullien or
$269 2 milhon

Revolving credit facility

Our revolving credit facility agreement allows Manchester United Limited and Manchester Umited Football Club
Limuted to borrow up to £75 matlion from a syndicate of lenders and J P Morgan Europe Limited as agent and secunty
trustee The facility consists of two individual facilities of £50 mllion and £25 mithon As of 30 June 2013, we had no
outstanding borrowings and had £75 million 1 borrowing capactty under our revolving credit facility agreement

Our revolving credit facility 15 scheduled to expire 1n 2016 Any amount still cutstanding at that ttime will be due
full yimmediately on that date The revolving credit facility contains an annua! mimmum five-day “net clean down”
mandatory repayment in order to reduce outstanding revolving loans to £25 milhion, net of certain credits for unrestnicted
cash, for such five-day period

Subject to certain conditions, we may voluntarily prepay and/or permanently cancel all or part of the available
commutments under the revolving credit facility by giving five business days” prior notice 1o the Agent under the facihity
Any loan drawn under the revolving credit facility 1s required to be repaid on the last day of each of its interest periods
Amounts repaid may (subject to the terms of the revolving credit facility agreement) be re- borrowed

Loans under the revolving credit facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR (or 1n relation to a loan in
euros, EURIBOR) plus the applicable margin and any mandatory cost

The applicable margin means 3 50% per annum, except 1f no event of default has occurred and 1s continuing, it
means the following

Margin %
Total net leverage ratie (as defined in the revolving credit facibity agreement) (per annum)
Equal to or greater than 4 5 350
Equal to or greater than 4 0 but less than 4 5 325
Equal to or greater than 3 5 but less than 4 0 300
Equal to or greater than 3 0 but less than 3 5 275
Less than 3 0 250

A commitment fee 15 payable on the available but undrawn amount of the revolving credit facility, at a rate equal to
35% per annum of the applicable margin

Our revolving credit facility 1s guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Junior Limited, Manchester
United Limited, Manchester Umted Football Club Limited and MU Finance plc and secured against the assets of those
entities

In addition to the general covenants described below, the revolving credit facility contains a financial maintenance
covenant requiring us to mantain consohidated EBITDA of not Jess than £65 milhion for each 12 month testing period We
are able to claim certain dispensations from comptying with the consolidated EBITDA floor up to twice (in non-consecutive
years) duning the life of the revolving credit facility 1f we fail to quahify for the Champions League

Our revolving credit facility contains events of default typical in facilities of this type, as well as typical covenants
including restrictions on incurring additional indebtedness, paying dividends or making other distnbutions or repurchasing or
redeeming our stock, making investments, selling assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries, entering into
agreements restricting our subsidianies” abihity to pay dividends, consolidating, merging, selling or otherwise disposing of all
or substantially all of our assets, entering nto sale and leaseback transactions, entening into transactions with our affiliates
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and incurring liens The covenants in the revolving credit facihity are subject to centain thresholds and exceptions described n
the agreement govermng the revolving credit facility

Secured term loan facility

On 20 May 2013, MU Finance plc, our wholly-owned finance subsidiary, entered into a $315 7 million secured term
loan facility with Bank of America, N A as lender Our secured term loan facility 1s set to expire on 21 June 2018 Any
amount still outstanding at that time will be due in full on that date As of 30 June 2013 we had the sterling equivalent of
£205 0 rmihion (net of unamortized 1ssue costs of £3 1 mithon) outstanding under our secured term loan facility The
outstanding principal amount was $3§5 7 mulhon

We have the option, subject to certain conditions, to repay the secured term loan facility at any time, with scheduled
repayments of 2 5% per annum of the initial $315,700,000 loan (first payable m June 2014) with an additional repayment of
up to an incremental 2 5% per annum (for a total of up to S 0% per annum) depending on the level of excess cash flow
generated by us (hikely to be first payable 1n October 2014) The remaiming balance of the loan 1s repayable on 21 June 2018
Amounts repaid may not be reborrowed

Loans under the secured term loan facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus the applicable
margin The applicable margin means 2 75% per annum, except if no event of default has occurred and 1s continuing, 1t
means the following

Margin %
Total net leverage ratio (as defined in the secured term loan facility agreement) (per ls’ngnm.lm!
Greater than 4 0 275
Greater than 3 5 but less than or equal t0 4 0 250
Greater than 3 0 but less than or equalto 3 5 225
Greater than 2 5 but less than or equal to 3 0 200
Greater than 2 0 but less than or equal to 2 5 175
Less than or equal to 2 00 I 50

Our secured term loan facility 1s guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Junior Limited, Manchester
United Limmited, Manchester United Football Club Limited and MU Finance plc and secured against the assets of those
entities

In addition to the general covenants described below, the secured term loan facility contains a financial maimntenance
covenant (1dentical to the covenant contained m the revolving credit facility) requiring us to maintain consolidated EBITDA
of not less than £65 milhon for each 12 month testing period We are able to claim certain dispensations from complying with
the consolidated EBITDA floor up to twice (1n non-consecutive years) during the life of the secured term loan facility 1f we
fail to qualify for the Champions League

Our secured term loan facility contains events of default typical 1n facihities of this type, as well as typical covenants
including restrictions on incurring additional indebtedness, paying dividends or making other distnbutions or repurchasing or
redeeming our stock, selling assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidianes, entering into agreements resiricting our
subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends, consolidating, merging, selling or otherwise disposing of all or substantially all of cur
assets, entering 1nto sale and leaseback transactions, entenng mto transactions with our affihates and incurring liens The
covenants 1n the secured term loan facility are subject to certain thresholds and excepnons described in the agreement
governing the secured term loan facility

Alderiey facility

The Alderley facility consists of a bank loan to Alderley Urban Investments Limited, a subsidiary of Manchester
United Limited The loan attracts interest at LIBOR plus 1% As of 30 June 2013, approximately £2 3 mullion of the loan 1s
repayable 1n quarterly installments through July 2018, and the remaining balance of approximately £4 2 million 1s repayable
at par on 9 July 2018 The loan 1s secured agatnst the Manchester Intemational Freight Terminal which is owned by Alderley
Urban Investments Limited As of 30 June 2013, £6 5 milhon was outstanding under the Alderley facihity

Loan stock 1ssued to minority shareholder of MUTV

On 2 January 2013, we acquired the remaining one-third of the 1ssued share capital of MUTYV for a purchase
consideration of £2 7 milion On the same date, we repaid the loan stock issued to the minonty shareholder of MUTYV, Sky
Ventures Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sky, together with accrued interest
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C. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ETC.

We do not conduct research and development activities
D. TREND INFORMATION

Other than as disclosed elsewhere 1n this Annual Report, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands,
commutments or events since 30 June 2013 that are reasonably likely to have a matenal adverse effect on our revenues,
income, profitability, Liquidity or capital resources, or that would cause the disclosed financial informatien to be not
necessartly indicative of future operating results or financial conditions
E. OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
Transfer fees payable

Under the terms of certain contracts with other football clubs in respect of player transfers, addittonal amounts
would be payable by us if certain specific performance conditions are met  As noted above, we estimate the fair value of any
contingent consideration at the date of acquisition based on the probability of conditions being met and monitor this on an
ongoing basis A provision of £0 4 million relating to this contingent consideration has been recogmzed on our balance sheet
as of 30 June 2013, and the maximum additional amount that could be payable as of that date 15 £20 6 milhon
Transfer fees receivable

Simularly, under the terms of contracts with other football clubs for player transfers, additional amounts would be
payable to us 1if certain specific performance conditions are met In accordance with the recognition entena for contingent
assets, such amounts are only disclosed by the Company when probable and recogmzed when virtually certain As of 30 June
2013, we do not believe receipt of any such amounts to be probable
Other commutments

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into operating lease commitments and capital commitments These

transactions are recogmzed 1n the consohdated financial statements 1n accordance with IFRS as 1ssued by IASB and are more
fully disclosed therein

As of 30 June 2013, we had not entered 1nto any other off-balance sheet transactions
F CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The following table summarizes our contractual obhigations as of 30 June 2013

Payments due by pertod(1}

Less than More than
! year 1-3 years 3 - 5 years five years Total
{10 £ thousands)

Long-term debt obligations(2) 27,833 66,144 389,990 4,321 488,288
Finance lease obligations — —_— —— — —
Operating lease obligations(3) 2,770 2,941 226 4274 10,211
Purchase obligations(4) 71,451 17,462 1,313 1,287 91,513
Other long-term hiabilities — — — — —
Total 102,054 86,547 391,529 9,582 590,012
(1) Thus table reflects contractual non-denvative financial obligations including interest and operating lease payments

and therefore differs from the carrying amounts 1n our consolidated financial statements

) As 0f 30 June 2013, we had $315 7 milhon of our secured term loan facihity outstanding and $269 2 million of our
8%/5% US dollar semor secured notes outstanding Other long-term indebtedness consists of a bank loan to Alderley
Urban Investments, a subsichary of Manchester United Limited As of 30 June 2013, we had £6 5 million
outstanding under the Alderley facility See “—Indebtedness—Description of principal indebtedness” and Note 24
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to our audited consolidated financial statements as of 30 June 2013 and 2012 and for the three years ended 30 June
2013 included elsewhere in this Annual Report

(€))] We enter into operating leases in the normal course of business Most lease arrangements provide us with the option
to renew the leases at defined terms The future operating lease obhigations would change 1f we were to exercise
these options, or if we were 10 enter mto additional new operating leases See Note 30 1 to our audited consohdated
financial statements as of 30 June 2013 and 2012 and for the three years ended 30 June 2013 included elsewhere 1n
this Annual Report

(4 Purchase obhigations include current other payable obligations, including obhigatiens payable 1n the year ended
30 June 2014 related to the acquisition of players’ registrations and capital commitments

Except as disclosed above and in Note 30 3 to our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ended 30 June 2013 included elsewhere 1n this Annual Report, as of 30 June 2013, we did not have any material contingent
hiabilities or guarantees
G. SAFE HARBOR

See the Section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” at the beginnung of this Annual Report
ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following table hsts each of our current executive officers and directors and their respective ages and positions
as of the date of this Annual Report

Name _Age Pc

Avram Glazer 53 Executive Co-Chairman and Director
Joel Glazer 46 Executive Co-Chairman and Dhrector
Edward Woodward 41 Executive Vice Chairman and Director
Richard Amold 42 Group Managing Director and Darector
Michael Bolingbroke 48 Chief Operating Officer and Director
Jamieson Reigle 36 Managing Director, Asia Pacific
Kevin Glazer 51 Director

Bryan Glazer 48 Director

Darcie Glazer Kassewitz 45 Director

Edward Glazer 43 Director

Robert Leitic 50 Independent Director

Manu Sawhney 46 Independent Director

John Hooks 57 Independent Director

The following ts a bnief biography of each of our executive officers and directors

Avram Glazer, aged 53, 15 Executive Co-Chairman and a Director of the Company He s currently a director of
Red Football Limuted and Co- Chairman of Manchester United Limited Mr Glazer served as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Zapata Corporation, a US public company between from March 1995 to July 2009 and Chairman of the board of
Zapata Corporation from March 2002 to July 2009 Mr Glazer received a business degree from Washington Umversity in
St Lows in 1982 He received a law degree from Amencan University, Washington College of Law 1n 1985

Joel Glazer, aged 46, 1s Executive Co-Chairman and a Director of the Company He 1s currently a director of Red
Football Limited and Co- Chairman of Manchester United Limuted Mr Glazer 1s Co-Chairman of the Tampa Bay
Buccaneers Mr Glazer is a member of the NFL Finance and International Committees Mr Glazer graduated from Amencan
University in Washington, D C, 1n 1989 with a bachelor’s degree

Edward Woodward, aged 41, 1s Executive Vice Chairman and a Director of the Company Mr Woodward

assumed the responsibilities vacated by David Gill when Mr Gill stepped down as Chief Executive Officer on 30 June 2013,
however Mr Woodward’s job title remained Executive Vice Chairman of the Company upon assumption of such
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respenstbilities He was appointed to our board of directors on 30 Apnl 2012 He is also director of Manchester United
Merchandising Limited and MUTV Limuted and 1s on the Marketing Commuttee of the European Clubs Association On
Joiming the club 1n 2005 he initally managed the capital structure of the group and advised on the overall financial business
plan In 2007 he assumed responsibility for the commercial and media operations and developed and implemented a new
overall commercial strategy for the club This resulted 1n a new structured approach to commerciahzing the brand, including
developing the sponsorship strategy, led out of the London office Mr Woodward formerly worked as a semor investment
banker within J P Morgan’s internaticnal mergers and acquisitions team between 1999 and 2005 Pnor to joining

J P Morgan, Mr Woodward worked for PncewaterhouseCoopers in the Accounting and Tax Advisory department between
1993 and 1999 He received a Bachelor of Science degree in physics from Bristo] Umiversity in 1993 and qualified for his
Chartered Accountancy in 1996

Rachard Arnold, aged 42, 15 the Group Managing Director and a Director of the Company Effective 1 July 2013,
Mr Amold was appointed as our Group Managing Director In his capacity as Group Managing Director, Mr Amold will
oversee all commercial and operational aspects of the Company Prior to 1 July 2013 Mr Amold was our Group Commerctal
Director and he was responsible for the management and growth of the Company’s sponsorship business, retail,
merchandising, apparel & product hicensing business, and new media & mobile business In thts capacity he was nominated
for SportBusiness International’s Sports innovator of the year hstin 2011 Mr Amold 15 on the board of Manchester United
Merchandising Limited and MUTV Limited Mr Arnold was previously Deputy Managing Director of InterVoice Ltd
responstble for the international channel sales and marketing division of InterVoice Inc , a NASDAQ listed technology
company, between 2002 and 2007 He was nominated as a finalist for Young Director of the Year by the United Kingdom
Institute of Directors 1n 2004 and 2005 Pnor to InterVoice, he worked at Global Crosstng Europe Ltd, a company in the
technelogy sector, on its restructure between 1999 and 2002 Prior to this he was a sentor manager 1n the telecommunications
and media practice at PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1993 to 1999, including working on the privatization of the Saudi
Telecommumcations Cerporation and the Initial Pubhic Offering of Orange 1n the United Kingdom He received an honors
Bachelor of Science degree 1n biology from Bristol University in 1993 and received his Chartered Accountancy qualification
mn 1996

Michael Bohnghbroke, aged 48, 1s the Chief Operating Officer and a Director of the Company He s responsible for
ticketing, hospitality, match and non-matchday operations, club secretanial functions, property management and corporate
services including finance, human resources, legal and information technology He 15 also a board member of MUTV Limited
and a trustee on the board of the Club’s Pension Fund Effective | July 2013, Mr Bolingbroke became a Director of the
Company upon the departure of Mr Gall from the board of directors Pnor 1o jorming the Company, Mr Bolingbroke was
previously the Semor Vice President, Shows at Cirque du Soleil, where he worked from March 2001 to Apnil 2007 managing
the strategy, profitability and operations of the Company’s global business compnising fixed and tounng shows Prior to
Joining Cirque du Soleil, Mr Bolingbroke was the Senior Vice President, Operations at the Jim Henson Company, where he
worked from July 1992 to March 2001 Mr Bolingbroke was also on the board of Manchester United Merchandistng Limited
(Manchester Umted Limited’s joint venture partnership with Nike) from 9 October 2007 to 25 May 2010 Mr Bolingbroke
received his Bacheler of Arts degree from Reading Umiversity in 1987 and a Master of Business Admimstration from the
London Business School in 2001 He has been a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants since 1991

Jamteson Reigle, aged 36, 1s the Company’s Managing Director, Asia Pacific He s responsible for the
management and growth of the Company’s businesses i the Asia Pacific region Mr Reigle joined Manchester United m
2007 and previously served as Director of Corporate Development with responsibility for the Company’s capital structure,
investor relations and growth strategy Prior to Manchester Umted Limited, Mr Reigle worked 1n private equity with The
Carlyle Group and n investment banking with J P Morgan He received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from
Dartmouth College and a Master of Business Administration from Stanford Umiversity’s Graduate School of Business

Kevin Glazer, aged 51, 1s a Director of the Company He 1s currently a director of Red Football Limited and a
director of Manchester United Limited He s currently the Co-Chairman of First Allied Corporation Mr Glazer graduated
from Ithaca College 1n 1984 with a Bachelor of Aris degree

Bryan Glazer, aged 48, 1s a Director of the Company He 1s currently a director of Red Football Limited and
Manchester United Limited He 1s the Co-Chairman of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers and also serves on the NFL’s Digtal
Media Commuttee Mr Glazer serves on the board of directors of the Glazer Children’s Museum He received a bachelor’s
degree from the American University in Washington, D C, 1n 1986 and recerved his law degree from Whither College
School of Law 1n 1989
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Darcie Glazer Kassewitz, aged 45, 15 a Durector of the Company She s currently a director of Red Football
Limuted Ms Glazer 1s the Co- President of the Glazer Family Foundation She graduated cum laude from the Amencan
University 1in 1990 and received a Jaw degree in 1993 from Suffolk Law School

Edward Glazer, aged 43, 1s a Director of the Company He 1s currently a non-executive director of Red Football
Limited He 1s Co- Chairman of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers and Co-Chairman of First Allied Corporation Mr Glazer s also
the co-President of the Glazer Family Foundation Mr Glazer received a bachelor’s degree from Ithaca College in 1992

Robert Leitio, aged 50, 1s an Independent Director of the Company He 1s currently Head of the UK and Chairman
of the Management Commuittee of Rothschild’s Global Financial Advisory business Mr Leitdo joined Rothschild in 1998 as
a Director and was appointed Managing Director 1n 2000, Head of Mergers and Acquisitions tn 2001 and Head of UK
Investment Banking in 2008 Prior to joiming Rothschild, Mr Leitdo worked for Morgan Grenfell & Co Limuted it London,
where he was appointed a Director 1n 1995 He also serves as Chairman of the Trustees of The Pennies Foundation
Mr Leitio recetved a Bachelor of Science degree in engineering from the University of London 1n 1984 He received his
Chartered Accountancy qualification in 1988

Manu Sawhney, aged 46, i1s an Independent Director of the Company With over 22 years of nich expenence 1n the
Astan media, entertainment and consumer products industry, Mr Sawhney was in lus last role the Managing Director of
ESPN STAR Sports (ESS), a 50 50 joint venture for Asia between Disney and News Corp and reported directly to the Board
and was responsible for the overall business leadership & P&L of the company across 24 countnies 1n Asia Mr Sawhney led
ESS’s growth and expanston across multiple platforms in vartous local markets across Asia including business expansion 1n
Taiwan, start-up of a new joint venture in Korea, conschdation of business in China and secuning long terms sirategic
partnerships in Malaysia, Indonesia and Singapore Prior to heading ESS’s Asia operations, Mr Sawhney served as the
Executive Vice President of Programming/EMG/Marketing/Network Presentation, wherein he negotiated and secured various
muiti-year renewals of key global and regional rights & affiliate deals totaling bilhons of dollars Mr Sawhney also
previously served as the Managing Director of ESS’s South Asia business based out of India Before joining ESS, he worked
for 3 years with ITC Global Holdings, a substdiary of British Amencan Tobacco Afier completing his engineenng degree,
Mr Sawhney worked at Eicher Motors, a leading Indian farm equ:pment company Mr Sawhney holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Mechamcal Engineenng from the Birla Institute of Technology & Science, Pilani, India, and received his Masters 1n
International Business from Indian Institute of Foreign Trade, New Delhi, India Mr Sawhney also serves as a member of the
28th S E Asia Games Steening Committee

John Hooks, aged 57, 15 an Independent Director of the Company He has been working in the luxury fashion
industry for over 30 years He has held positions in some of the sector’s most influential companues Having graduated from
Oxford University 1in 1978, he entered the fashion industry through Gruppo Finanzianio Tessile S p A (GFT) in Tunin, Italy, a
company with which he remained for 14 years, holding a variety of positions, including that of Commercial Director for
Valentino, President, CIDAT USA, 1in New York and finally as Commercial Director for GFT Asia In this role, from 1988 to
1994, he was responsible for the establishment of GFT"s regional subsidiary companies and the distnbution network n
Japan, South Korea, Hong Kong, as well as maintand China (one of the first foreign fashion companies to be present in the
country) for brands including Giorgio Armani, Chnistian Dier, Claude Montana, Valentino, Emanuel Ungaro, Trussardi and
Pierre Cardin In 1995, he joined il Sander A G 1n Hamburg, Germany, imtially as Commercial Director for Europe and
Asia, before assuming global responsibility, when he was appointed Commercial and Retail Director in 1998 In 2000,

Mr Hooks was recruited by Giorgio Armam S p A as Group Commercial and Marketing Director, based at the company’s
Milan headquarters In this role, he was charged with the expansion of the company’s global wholesale and retail network
He later assumed the role of deputy managing director and subsequently that of deputy chairman of the Armam group In
August 2011, he became the Group President of Ralph Lauren Eurcpe and the Middle East

Family Relationships

Our Executive Co-Chairmen and Directors Avram Glazer and Joel Glazer, and Directors Bryan Glazer, Kevin
Glazer, Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Edward Glazer are siblings

Arrangements or Understandings

None of our executive officers or directors have any arrangement or understanding with our principal shareholder,
customers, suppliers or other persons pursuant to which such executive officer or director was selected as an executive officer
or director
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B. COMPENSATION

We set out below the amount of compensation paid and benefits tn kind provided by us or our subsidianies to our
directors and members of the executive management for services 1n all capacities to our Company or our subsidiaries for the
2013 fiscal year, as well as the amount contributed by our Company or our subsidiaries to retirement benefit plans for our
directors and members of the executive management board

Directors and Executive Management Compensation

The compensation for each member of our executive management 1s comprised of the following elements base
salary, bonus, contractual benefits and pension contnibutions Total amount of compensation paid and benefits i kind
provided to the members of our board of directors and our executive management employees for the fiscal year 2013 was
£8 6 millon We do not currently maintain any bonus or profit-sharing plan for the benefit of the members of our executive
management, however, certain members of our executive management are ehgible to receive annual bonuses pursuant to the
terms of their service agreements The total amount set aside or accrued by us to provide pension, retirement or similar
benefits to our directors and our executive management employees with respect to the fiscal year 2013 was £0 2 milhion

Employment or Service Agreements

We have entered into written employment or service agreements with each of the members of our executive
management, which agreements provide, among other things, for benefits upon a termination of employment Each such
employment or service agreement was amended 1n connection with the consummation of cur imtial public offering 1n order
to reward the members of our executive management for their efforts in connection with such offering and to ahign the
interests of our executive management with our shareholders going forward Accordingly, the amendments provided for the
payment of an aggregate of approxumately £1,250,000 n bonuses conditioned upon the consummation of our initial public
offering (“IPO Bonuses™) to the members of our executive management The [PO Bonuses are payable 1n the form of shares,
and are subject to varying vesting schedules over a three year period following the consummantion of our imitial public
offering In order to encourage retention, each member of our executive management must rematn employed by us through
each apphcable vesting date or else such shares will be forfeited In addition, the amendments provide that members of our
executive management are eligible to receive annual share- based awards (or cash and share-based awards) pursuant to our
Equity Plan (the “LTIP Awards”) The amount of the LTIP Awards wtll generally be subject to the discretion of our board of
directors and our remuneration committee It 1s anticipated that, in order to encourage retention, the LTIP Awards will be
ehgible to become vested over a multi-year penod following the date of grant In connection with their receipt of LTIP
Awards, each member of our executive management will agree to hold a minimum of that number of Class A ordinary shares
with a value equal to such member’s annual salary for so long as such member 15 employed by us Finally, the amendments
adjusted the potential post-employment arrangements with certain of the members of our executive management The
amendments became effective upon the consummatton of our 1mtial public offering

On 15 Aungust 2012 certain directors and members of our executive management were awarded newly 1ssued shares,
pursuant to our Equity Plan, as a reward for their efforts in connection with our IPO and to align their interests with our
shareholders going forward The total number of newly 1ssued shares awarded was 139,895 Class A ordinary shares These
shares are subyject to varying vesting schedules over a three year penod As of 30 June 2013 no additional share-based
compensation awards had been granted or 1ssued

We have not entered into written employment or service agreements with our outside directors, including any
member of the Glazer farmly However, we may 1n the future enter into employment or services agreements with such
individuals, the terms of which may provide for, among other things, cash or equity based compensation and benefits

Share-Based Compensation Awards

We currently have one share-based compensation award plan, namely the 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan,
established 1n 2012 (the “Equity Plan™)

2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan

In connection with the consummation of our imitial public offenng, we adopted the Equity Plan The principal
purpose of the Equity Plan 1s to attract, retain and motivate selected employees, consultants and non-employee directors
through the granting of share-based and cash-based compensation awards The principal features of the Equity Plan are
summarized below
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Share reserve

Under the Equity Plan, 16,000,000 shares of our Class A ordinary shares are reserved for issuance pursuant to a
vanety of share-based compensation awards, including share options, share appreciation nghts, or SARs, restricted share
awards, restncted share umit awards, deferred share awards, deferred share unit awards, dividend equivalent awards, share
payment awards and other share-based awards Of these reserved shares, 15,860,105 remain available for 1ssuance

Admuimistration

The remuneration commttee of our board of directors (er other commuttee as our board of directors may appoint)
administers the Equity Plan unless our board of directors assumes authonty for admimstration Subject to the terms and
conditions of the Equity Plan, the admimstrator has the authority to select the persons to whom awards are to be made,
determines the types of awards to be granted, the number of shares to be subject to awards and the terms and conditiens of
awards, and makes all other determinations and can take all other actions necessary or advisable for the administration of the
Equity Plan The admimstrator 1s also authonized to adopt, amend or rescind rules relating to the admimstration of the Equity
Plan Qur board of directors has the authority at all times to remove the remuneration commuttee (or other applicable
commuttee) as the admimistrator and revest in itself the authonty to admimister the Equity Plan

Elgibility

The Equity Plan provides that share options, share appreciation rights (“SARs™), restricted shares and all other
awards may be granted to individuals who will then be our non-employee directors, officers, employees or consultants or the
non-employee directors, officers, employees or consultants of certain of our subsidiaries

Awards

The Equity Plan provides that the administrator may grant or issue share options, SARs, restricted shares, restnicted
share units, deferred shares, deferred share units, dividend equivalents, share payments and other share-based awards, or any
combination thereof Each award wll be set forth in a separate agreement with the person receiving the award and will
indicate the type, terms and conditions of the award

«  Share Options provide for the nght to purchase Class A ordinary shares at a specified price, and usually will
become exercisable (at the discretion of the admimistrator) 1in one or more 1nstallments afier the grant date,
subject to the participant’s continued employment or service with us and/or subject to the satisfaction of
corporate performance targets and/or individual performance targets established by the admimstrator

*  Restricted Shares may be granted to any eligible individual selected by the administrator and are made subject
to such restrictions as may be determined by the admimistrator Restricted shares, typically, are forfeited for no
consideration or repurchased by us at the original purchase price (if applhicable) if the conditions or restrictions
on vesting are not met The Equity Plan provides that restrnicted shares generally may not be sold or otherwise
transferred unti] the applicable restrictions are removed or expire Recipients of restricted shares, unlike
recipients of share options, have voting nghts and have the nght to receive dividends, 1f any, prior to the ime
when the restrictions lapse, however, extraordinary dividends will generally be placed 1n escrow, and will not
be released untl the restrictions are removed or expire

»  Restricted Share Unis may be awarded to any eligible individual selected by the administrator, typically
without payment of consideration, but subject to vesting conditions based on continued employment or service
or on performance cntena established by the administrator The Equnty Plan provides that, hke restricted shares,
restricted share units may not be sold, or otherwise transferred or hypothecated, until vesting conditions are
removed or expire Unlike restricted shares, Class A ordinary shares underlying restricted share units are not
1ssued until the restricted share umts have vested, and recipients of restricted share units generally have no
voting or dividend nghts prior to the ime when vesting conditions are satisfied and the Class A ordinary shares
are 1ssued

s  Deferred Share Awards represent the nght to receive Class A ordinary shares on a future date The Equity Plan
provides that deferred shares may not be sold or otherwise hypothecated or transferred until 1ssued Deferred
shares are not 1ssued until the deferred share award has vested, and recipients of deferred shares generally have
no voting or dividend rights prior to the ime when the vesting conditions are satisfied and the Class A ordinary
shares are 1ssued Deferred share awards generally will be forfeited, and the underlying Class A ordinary shares
of deferred shares will not be 1ssued, 1f the applicable vesting conditions and other restrictions are not met

*  Deferred Share Umt Awards may be awarded to any eligible individual selected by the admimistrator, typically
without payment of consideration, but subject to vesting conditions based on continued employment or service
or on performance cntena established by the administrator Each deferred share unit award entitles the holder
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thereof to receive one share of our Class A ordinary shares on the date the deferred share umit becomes vested or
upon a specified settlement date thereafter The Equity Plan provides that, like deferred shares, deferred share
units may not be sold or otherwise hypothecated or transferred until vesting conditions are removed or expire |
Unhke deferred shares, deferred share units may provide that Class A ordinary shares n respect of underlying |
deferred share umts wili not be 1ssued untl a specified date or event following the vesting date Recipients of ;
deferred share units generally have no voting or dividend nghts prior to the time when the vesting conditions
are satisfied and the Class A ordinary shares underlying the award have been 1ssued to the holder

*  Share Appreciation Rights, or SARs, may be granted 1n the admimstrator’s discretion separately or 1n
connection with share options or other awards SARs granted in connection with share options or other awards
tymcally provide for payments to the holder based upon increases in the pnce of our Class A ordinary shares
over a set exercise price There are no restrictions specified 1n the Equity Plan on the exercise of SARs or the
amount of gain realizable therefrom, although the Equity Plan provides that restrictions may be imposed by the
admimstrator in the SAR agreements SARs under the Equity Plan may be settled in cash or Class A ordinary
shares, or in a combination of both, at the election of the administrator

s Dinvidend Equivalents represent the value of the dividends, 1f any, per Class A ordinary share pad by us,
calculated with reference to the number of Class A ordinary shares covered by the award The Equity Plan
provides that dividend equivalents may be settled 1n cash or Class A ordinary shares and at such times as
determined by the admimistrator

»  Share Payments are payments made to employees, consultants or non-employee directors in the form of Class A
ordinary shares or an option or other night to purchase Class A ordinary shares Share payments may be made as
part of a bonus, deferred compensation or other arrangement and may be subject to a vesting schedule,
including vesting upon the attainment of performance cntenia, in which case the share payment will not be made
until the vesting crnitena have been satisfied Share payments may be made in heu of cash compensation that
would otherwise be payable to the employee, consultant or non-employee director or share payments may be
made as a bonus payment 1n addition to compensation otherwise payable to such individuals

Change in control

The Equity Plan provides that the administrator may, n 1ts discretion, provide that awards 1ssued under the Equnty
Plan are subject to acceleration, cash- out, termination, assumptton, substitution or conversion of such awards 1n the event of
a change 1n control or certain other unusual or nonrecurring events or transactions In addition, the administrator also has
complete discretion to structure one or more awards under the Equity Plan to provide that such awards become vested and
exercisable or payable on an accelerated basis 1n the event such awards are assumed or replaced with equivalent awards but
the individual’s service with us or the acquiring entity is subsequently terminated within a designated period following the
change in control event A change 1n control event under the Equity Plan 15 generally defined as a merger, consohdation,
reorganizaticn or business combination in which we are involved, directly or indirectly (other than a merger, consolidation,
reorganization or business combination which results 1n our outstanding voting secunttes immediately before the transaction
continuing to represent a majority of the voting power of the acquinng company’s outstanding voting securthies) after which
a person or group (other than our existing equity-hotders) beneficially owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting
secunties of the surviving entity immediately after the transaction, or the sale, exchange or transfer of all or substantrally all
of our assets

Adjustments of awards

In the event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange of shares, merger, consolidation, spin-off,
recapualization, distnibution of our assets to shareholders (other than normal cash dividends) or any other corporate event
affecting the number of outstanding Class A ordinary shares in our capital or the share price of our Class A ordinary shares
that would require adjustments to the Equity Plan or any awards under the Equity Plan in order to prevent the dilution or
enlargement of the potential benefits intended to be made available thereunder, the Equity Plan provides that the
admimistrator may make equitable adjustments, as determined 1n its discretion, to the aggregate number and type of shares
subject to the Equity Plan, the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding awards and the terms and conditions of
outstanding awards (in¢luding, without hnitation, any applicable performance targets or criteria with respect to such awards),
and the grant or exercise pnice per share of any outstanding awards under the Equity Plan
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Amendment and termunation

The Equity Plan provides that our board of directors or the remuneration committee (with the approval of the board
of directors) may terminate, amend or modify the Equity Plan at any time and from time to tme However, the Equity Plan
generally requires us to obtain shareholder approval to the extent required by applicable law, rule or regulation (including any
applicable stock exchange law), including in connection with any amendments to increase the number of shares available
under the Equity Plan {other than 1n connection with certain corporate events, as descnbed above)

Securities laws

The Equity Plan 1s designed to comply with all applicable provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act
and, to the extent apphcable, any and all regulations and rules promulgated by the SEC thereunder The Equity Plan 1s
admimstered, and stock options will be granted and may be exercised, only 1n such a manner as to conform to such laws,
rules and regulations On August 13, 2012, we filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-8 covenng Class A
ordinary shares 1ssuable under the Equity Plan

UK Subplan

Our board of directors approved the 2012 UK Company Share Option UK Sub-Plan on 10 September 2013 Thisis a
sub-plan to the Equity Plan which allows for the grant of stock options 1n a tax efficient manner to employees who are UK
residents It denves its powers and authority from the Equity Plan and does not create any enhanced or additiona! nghts This
sub-plan does not increase the share reserve under the Equity Plan

C. BOARD PRACTICES
Board of Directors

We have 12 directors, three of whom are independent directors, on our board of directors Any director on our board
may be removed by way of an ordinary resolution of shareholders or by our shareheolders holding a majonty of the voting
power of our outstanding ordinary shares by notice in wrniting to the Company Any vacancies on our board of directors or
addhtions to the existing board of directors can be filled by our shareholders holding a majonty of the voting power of our
outstanding ordinary shares by notice in writing to the Company Each of our directors holds office until he resigns or1s
recused from office as discussed above

Committees of the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance

Our board of directors has established an audit committee and a remuneration committee The composition and
responsibilities of each commuttee are descnibed below Members will serve on these commuittees until their resignation or
until otherwise determmined by our board of directors In the future, our board of directors may establish other commuttees, as
1t deems appropriate, to assist with its responsibilities

Andit commuttee

Our audit committee consists of Messrs Robert Leitdo, Manu Sawhney and John Hooks Qur board of directors
determined that Messrs Robent Leitdo, Manu Sawhney and John Hooks satisfy the “independence” requirements set forth n
Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act Mr Robert Lestdo acts as chairman of our audit commiuttee and satisfies the criteria of
an audit committee financial expert as set forth under the applicable rules of the Exchange Act The audit commuttee oversees
our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our financial statements The audit commuttee 1s
responsible for, among other things

= selecting our independent registered pubhic accounting firm and pre- approving all auditing and non-auditing
services permmitted 10 be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm,

+  reviewing with our independent registered public accounting firm any audit issues or difficulties and
management’s response,

«  discussing the annual audited financial statements with management and our independent registered public
accounting firm,

+  reviewing major 1ssues as to the adequacy of our internal controls and any special audit steps adopted in hght of
significant control deficiencies,

= annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of our audit commuttee charter,
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»  such other matters that are specifically delegated to our audit commuttee by our board of directors from time to
time, and

»  meeting separately and periodically with management, our internal auditors and our mdependent registered
public accounting firm

Remuneration commuttee

Our remuneration committee consists of Messrs Joel Glazer, Avram Glazer and Rebert Leitdo Mr Joel Glazer 1s
the chairman of our remuneration committee A copy of our remuneration commuttee charter 1s available on our website The
inclusion of our website in this Annual Report does not include or incorporate by reference the mformation on our website
into this Annual Report The remuneration commuttee 1s responsible for, among other things

»  determming the levels of remuneration for each of our executive officers and directors, however, no member of
the remuneration commuttee will participate 1in decisions relating to his or her remuneration,

» establishing and reviewing the objectives of our management compensation programs and compensation
policies,

» reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the remuneration of semor management,
including annual and long-term performance goals and objectives,

«  evaluating the performance of members of semor management and recommending and monitoring the
remuneration of members of senor management, and

+  reviewing, approving and recommending the adoption of any equity-based or non-equity based compensation
plan for our employees or consultants and admimstering such plan

We have availed ourselves of certain exemptions afforded to foreign prnivate 1ssuers under New York Stock
Exchange rules, which exempt us from the requirement that we have a remuneration committee composed entirely of
independent directors
D. EMPLOYEES
Employees

The average monthly number of employees during the years ended 30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011, including
dwrectors, was as follows

2013 2012 2011
Number Number Number

Average number of employees

Football—players . 82 79 71
Football—technical and coachin 76 80 70
Commercial 125 76 53
Media 69 73 65
Administration and other 391 388 369
Average monthly number of employees 743 696 628

We are not a signatory to any labor umion collective bargaiming agreement We also engaged approximately 2,395,
2,376 and 2,191 temporary employees 1n fiscal 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, on a regular basis te perform, among other
things, catering, secunty, ticketing, hospitality and marketing services duning matchdays at Old Trafford Compensation to
full-ume and temporary employees 15 accounted for in our employee benefit expenses

E SHARE OWNERSHIP

The following table shows the number of shares owned by our directors and members of our executive management
as of 22 October 2013
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Class A Class B % of Total

Ordinary Ordinary Voting
Shares % Shares % Power(1)

Avram Glazer(2)(3) — — 3,500,000 282% 273%
Joel Glazer(2)(4) — — 3,500,000 282% 273%
Edward Woodward *) (*) — — ™)
Richard Amold ™*) *) — — *)
Michael Bolingbroke ™) * — — (*)
Jamesen Reigle *) ") — — *)
Kevin Glazer(2)(5) — — 3,500,000 282% 273%
Bryan Glazer(Z}(6) — — 3,500,000 282% 273%
Darcie Glazer Kassewtz(2)(7) — — 3,500,000 282% 273%
Edward Glazer(2)(8) — — 3,500,000 282% 273%
Robert Leitdo — — — — —
Manu Sawhney — — — — —
John Hooks — — — —_ —
1)) Percentage of total voting power represents voting power with respect to all of our Class A and Class B ordinary

shares, as a single class The helders of our Class B ordinary shares are entitled to 10 votes per share, and holders of
our Class A ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share

2) Red Football LLC 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of Red Football Limited Partnership The general partner of Red
Football Limited Partnership 1s Red Football General Partner Inc Trusts controlled by six lineal descendants of
Mr Malcolm Glazer each own an equal number of shares of Red Football General Partner Inc , as well as an equal
percentage of the hirmited partnership interests in Red Football Limited Partnership These lneal descendants of
Mr Glazer are also directors of Red Foetball General Partner Inc The six ineal descendants of Mr Glazer are
Avram Glazer, Joel Glazer, Bryan Glazer, Edward Glazer, Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Kevin Glazer Joel Glazer 15
the president of Red Football General Partner Inc The lineal descendants of Mr Malcolm Glazer may be deemed to
share beneficial ownership of the shares held by Red Football Limited Partnership as a result of their status as
shareholders of Red Football General Partner Inc , President of Red Football General Partner Inc (with respect to
Joel Glazer) and holders of hmited partnership interests in Red Football Limited Partnershup Infoermation on Red
Football LLC’s shareholding 1n the Company can be found in “Item 7 Major Shareholders and Related Party
Transactions—A Major Shareholders™

(3) Shares owned by Avram Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Avram Glazer 15 the sole trustee

(4) Shares owned by Joel M Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Joel Glazer 1s the sole trustee

(%) Shares owned by Kevin Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Fatmly Trust, of which Kevin Glazer 1s the sole trustee

(6) Shares owned by Bryan G Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Bryan Glazer is the sole trustee

©))] Shares owned by Darcie S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Darcie Glazer Kassewitz 1s the sole trustee

8 Shares owned by Edward S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust, of which Edward Glazer 1s the sole trustee

*) These directors and members of our executive management individually own less than 1% of our Class A ordinary
shares

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table shows our major shareholders (shareholders that are beneficial owners of 5% or more of each
class of the Company’s voting shares) as of 22 October 2013, based on notifications made to the Company or public filings
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Class A Class B % of Total

Ordinary Ordmary Voting
Shares % Shares Y Power(l)

Red Football LLC(2) 23,019,033 57 82% 103,000,000 83 08% 82 28%
Baron Capital Group, Inc 4075917 1024% —_ — 032%
Blackrock, Inc 3,259,523 819% —_ — 025%
Soros Fund Management LLC 3,114,588 782% — — 024%
Avram Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 3,500,000 282% 2 73%
Joel M Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 3,500,000 2382% 2 73%
Kevin Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Famly Trust —_ — 3,500,000 2382% 2 73%
Bryan G Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust —_ — 3,500,000 2 82% 2 73%
Darcie S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust —_— —_— 3,500,000 282% 273%
Edward S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust — — 3,500,000 282% 2 73%
(1) Percentage of total voting power represents voting power with respect to all of our Class A and Class B ordinary

shares, as a single class The holders of our Class B ordinary shares are entitled 10 10 vetes per share, and holders of
our Class A ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share

) See “Controlling Sharcholder™ below for further information on Red Football LLC

Since the formation of the Company on 30 Apnil 2012, the only significant changes of which we have been nonfied
in the percentage ownership of our shares by our major shareholders described above were that

«  pnor to the reorganization transactions and pubhc offering, Red Football LLC held 100% of our Class A shares
and 100% of our Class B shares,

= on 20 August 2012, Soros Fund Management LLC made a public filing that 1t held 3,114,588 of our Class A
shares, representing 0 24% of total voting power,

= on 31 December 2012, Blackrock Inc made a pubhc filing that 1t held 3,259,523 of our Class A shares,
representing 0 25% of total voting power,

= on 14 February 2013, Baron Capital Group, Inc made a pubhic filing that it held 4,075,917 of our Class A
shares, representing 0 32% of total voting power,

» on 15 August 2013, Avram Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held 3,500,000 of our
Class B shares, representing 2 73% of total voting power,

= on 15 August 2013, Joel M Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held 3,500,000 of our
Class B shares, representing 2 73% of total voting power,

» on 15 August 2013, Kevin Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Family Trust made a public filng that 1t held 3,500,000
of our Class B shares, representing 2 73% of total voting power,

+ on 15 August 2013, Bryan G Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a pubhic fihng that it held 3,500,000 of our
Class B shares, representing 2 73% of total voting power,

= on 15 August 2013, Darcie S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that it held 3,500,000 of
our Class B shares, representing 2 73% of total voting power, and

» on 15 August 2013, Edward S Glazer Irrevocable Exempt Trust made a public filing that 1t held 3,500,000 of
our Class B shares, representing 2 73% of total voting power

U.S Resident Shareholders of Record

As a number of our shares are held in book-entry form, we are not aware of the 1dentity of all our shareholders As
of 22 October 2013, we had 39,811,289 Class A shares held by 1,521 U § resident shareholders of record, representing
approximately 3 11% of total voting power and 124,000,000 Class B shares held by seven U S resident shareholders of
record, representing approximately 96 89% of total voting power

70




Controlling Shareholder

Our controthing shareholder 1s Red Football LLC, a Delaware limited liabtlity company Red Football LLC 15 a
whelly-owned subsidiary of Red Football Limited Partnership The general partner of Red Football Limited Partnership s
Red Football General Partner Inc Trusts controlled by six lineal descendants of Mr Malcolm Glazer each own an equal
number of shares of Red Football General Partner Inc , as well as an equal percentage of the limited partnership interests in
Red Football Limited Partnership These lineal descendants of Mr Glazer are also directors of Red Football General
Partner Inc The six lineal descendants of Mr Glazer are Avram Glazer, Joel Glazer, Bryan Glazer, Edward Glazer, Darcie
Glazer Kassewitz and Kevin Glazer Joel Glazer 15 the president of Red Football General Partner Inc The lineal descendants
of Mr Malcolm Glazer may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the shares held by Red Footbatl Limuted Partnership
as a result of their status as shareholders of Red Football General Partner Inc , President of Red Football General Partner Inc
{with respect to Joel Glazer) and holders of limited partnership interests in Red Football Limited Partnership

As of 22 October 2013, Red Football LLC owned 23,019,033 of our Class A shares and 103,000,000 of our Class B
shares, representing 1n total 82 28% of total voting power

Shareholders’ Arrangements

As of 22 October 2013, the Company was not aware of any shareholders’ arrangements which may result in a
change of contro! of the Company

B. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Repurchase of Portions of Payment in Kind Loan by DLDB

DLDB LLC, a substdiary of our principal shareholder, acquired portiens of our secured payment n kind loan valued
at £23,392,689 in open market transactions between 14 January and 18 March 2009 The amounis purchased compnsed
principal of £22,257,265 and accrued interest of £1,135,425 The acquisitions were for general investment purposes, and the
terms of the acquisition and the payment in kind loan were on an ann’s length basis The amounts purchased were repaid
upon our repayment of the payment 1n kind loan 1n November 2010

Loans to Controlling Shareholder

Qur subsidiary, Manchester United Limited, granted loans to affiliates of our principal shareholder in 2008 The
agreement governing these loans was subsequently amended on 5 November 2009 and again on 22 November 2010 The
loans were an aggregate amount of £10 0 million and were fully drawn (£1 7 milhion to each of the six lineal descendants of
Mr Malcolm Glazer Ms Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Messrs Avram, Bryan, Edward, Joel and Kevin Glazer)

Messrs Avram and Joei Glazer each serve as Executive Co-Chairman of the Company and as a Director on our board of
directors Ms Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Messrs Bryan, Edward and Kevin Glazer each serve as a Director on our board
of directors See Note 33 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report The
Iinterest rate on the loans was 5 5% per annum Interest was paid 1n cash pursuant to the terms of the loans in the years ended
30 June 2013, 2012 and 2011 in amounts of £mi, £457,491 and £550,000, respectively We believe the terms of the loans
were at east as favorable to us as compared to terms that we would have received in connection with a loan to an
independent third party The loans were borrowed for general personal purposes In connection with the £10 ¢ million
dividend distributed to our controlling shareholder on 25 April 2012, the loans were repaid n full on 25 Apnl 2012 See
“Dividend Pohicy

Sentor Secured Notes Held by Kevin Glazer

Mr Kevin Glazer 1s a Director on our board of directors, and certain members of his immediate family acquired a
portion of our outstanding sentor secured notes 1n an aggregate principal amount of $10,600,000 1n open market transactions
in October 2010 and January 2011 (the “Relevant Notes™) The principal amount of the Relevant Notes held by Mr Kevin
Glazer and certain members of his immediate family as of 22 October 2013 was $7 3 miliion The Relevant Notes pay
interest at a rate of 8°/3% and are subject to the other terms and conditions as described therein The terms of the Relevant
Notes are on an arm’s length basis They were acquired for general investment purposes
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Consulting Fees

We incurred a management fee of £3 0 million i fiscal year 2012 and £7 2 mullion 1n fiscal year 2011, payable to
our controlling sharehelder, Red Football Limited Partnership We did not incur a management fee 1n fiscal year 2013 The
management fees were for the provision of consulting services to us, including strategic, sponsorship, commercial
partnership, marketing, finance and retated advice, and such other services consistent with those we reasonably required

The management arrangement with Red Football Limited Partnership was terminated pnor to our IPO 1n August
2012

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Consolidated Financial Statements
See “Hem 18 Financial Statements ”
Legal and Arbitration Proceedings

There have been no governmental, judicial or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which we are aware) duning the penod between 1 July 2010 and the date of this Annual Report
which may have, or have had n the recent past, significant effects on our financial position and profitability

Dividend Policy

We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our Class A ordinary shares in the foreseeable future However,
if we do pay a cash dividend on our Class A ordinary shares in the future, we wall pay such dividend out of our profits or
share premium (subject to solvency requirements) as permitted under Cayman Islands law Our board of directors has
complete chscretion regarding the declaration and payment of dividends, and our principal shareholder will be able to
influence our dividend policy

The amount of any future dividend payments we may make will depend on, among other factors, our strategy, future
earnings, financial condition, cash flow, working capital requirements, capital expenditures and applicable provisions of our
amended and restated memorandum and articles of associatton  Any profits or share premium we declare as dividends wall
not be available to be reinvested 1n our operations Moreover, we are a holding company that does not conduct any business
operanions of our own As a result, we are dependent upon cash dividends, distnbutions and other transfers from our
subsidiaries to make dividend payments, and the terms of our subsidiaries’ debt and other agreements restrict the ability of
our subsidianes to make dividends or other distnbutions to us Specifically, pursuant to the our revolving credit facihity, our
secured term loan facility and the indenture governing our senior secured notes, there are restnctions on our subsidiaries’
abihty to distnbute dividends to us, and dividend distributions by our subsidiaries are the principal means by which we would
have the necessary funds to pay dividends on our Class A ordinary shares for the foreseeable future See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Indebtedness ™

Any dividends we declare on our ordinary shares will be 1n respect of both our Class A ordinary shares and Class B
ordinary shares, and will be distributed such that a holder of one of cur Class B ordinary shares will receive the same amount
of the dividends that are recerved by a holder of one of our Class A ordinary shares We will not declare any dividend with
respect to the Class A ordinary shares without declanng a dividend on the Class B ordtnary shares, and vice versa On
25 Aprtl 2012, we made a distribution of £10 ¢ million to our principal sharcholder

B SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
Playing Registrations

The playing registrations of certain footballers have been disposed of, subsequent to 30 June 2013, for total
proceeds, net of associated costs, of £724,000 The associated net book value was £ml These registrations have not been

reclassified as held for sale as the associated net book value was £mil

Subsequent to 30 June 2013, the playing registrations of certain players were acquired or extended for a total
consideration, including associated costs, of £30,061,000

72




ITEM 9@ THE OFFER AND LISTING
Price History of Stock
Ordinary shares listed on the New York Stock Exchange
Qur shares were approved for hsting on the New York Stock Exchange on 10 August 2012 Pnor to this isting, no

public market existed for our ordinary shares The table below shows the quoted high and low closing sales prices in US
dollars on the New York Stock Exchange for our shares for the indicated penods

Per Share
Hzh Low
(1n USD)
Annual
FY2013 (10 August 2012 through 30 June 2013) 1904 1218
Quarterly
FY 2014
First Quarter (through 22 October 201 3) 1746 1683
FY2013
Furst Quarter (beginmng 10 August 2012) 1420 1218
Second Quarter 1405 1225
Third Quarter 1882 1403
Fourth Quarter 1904 1516
Monthly
2013
April 1798 1639
May 1904 1677
June 1702 1516
July 1785 1613
August 1757 1650
September 1761 1684
October (through 22 October 2013) 1746 1683

Markets

We are incorporated under the Companies Law (2011 Rewvision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and restated
from time to time and our shares are histed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “MANU” As of 22 October
2013 we had 163,812,443 ordinary shares histed (comprising 39,812,443 Class A ordinary shares and 124,000,000 Class B
ordmnary shares)
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. SHARE CAPITAL

Not apphcable
B. MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION AND OTHER SHARE INFORMATION

A copy of our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association 1s attached as Exhibit 1 1 to this
Annual Report The information called for by this Item has been reported previously in our Registration Statement on

Form F-1 (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 3 July 2012, as amended, under the heading “Description of Share
Capital,” and 1s incorporated by reference into this Annual Report
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C. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following 1s a summary of each matenal contract, other than matenal contracts entered into tn the ordmary
course of business, to which we are a party, for the two years immediately preceding the date of this Annual Report

»  Term Facility Agreement, dated 20 May 2013, berween MU Finance ple, as Borrower, and Bank of Amenica,
N A, as Lender A copy of the Agreement 1s included as Exhibit 10 1 to this Annual Report

»  Prenuer League Handbook, Season 2013/14 As a member of the Football Association Premier League, we are
subject to the terms of the Premier League Handbook, Season 2013/14 A copy of the Handbook 1s included as
Exhibit 4 2 to this Annual Report

= 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan On 7 August 2012, we adopted our 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan See
“Item 6 Directors, Semor Management and Employees—B Compensaton™ for a description of the matenal
terms of the Plan A copy of the 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan 15 included as Exhibit 10 1 to our
Regstration Statement on Form F-1 (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC en 3 July 2012, as amended

= Premier League Handbook, Season 2012/13  As a member of the Football Associatton Premier League, we are
subject to the terms of the Premier League Handbook, Season 2012/13 A copy of the Handbook 1s included as
Exhibit 4 3 1o this Annual Report

D. EXCHANGE CONTROLS

There are no Cayman Islands exchange control regulations that would affect the import or export of capital or the
remittance of dividends, interest or other payments to non-resident holders of our shares

E. TAXATION

The following 15 a summary of matenal US federal income tax consequences relevant to US Holders and Non-US
Holders (each as defined below) acquiring, holding and disposing of the Company’s Class A ordinary shares This summary
15 based on the Code, final, temporary and proposed US Treasury regulations and admimstrative and judicial mterpretations,
all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect Furthermore, we can provide no assurance that the tax
consequences contarned 1n this summary will not be challenged by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”} or will be
sustained by a court 1f challenged

This summary does not discuss all aspects of US federal income taxation that may be relevant to 1nvestors in hght of
their particular circumstances, such as mvestors subyect to special tax rules, including without limitation the following, all of
whom may be subject to tax rules that differ sigmficantly from those summanzed below

+  financial institutions,

*  Insurance compantes,

+  dealers n stocks, securities, or currencies or notional principal contracts,
+  regulated investment companies,

+  real estate investment trusts,

+  tax-exempt organizations,

+  partnerships and other pass-through entities, or persons that hold Class A ordinary shares through pass-through
entities,

* 1nvestors that hold Class A ordinary shares as part of a straddle, conversion, constructive sale or other integrated
transaction for US federal income tax purposes,

+  US holders that have a functional currency other than the US dollar, and

+  US expatnates and former long-term residents of the United States
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This summary does not address non-income tax consequences, such as estate, gift or alternative mmimum tax
consequences, and does not address state, local or non-US tax consequences This summary only addresses investors that will
acquire Class A ordinary shares in this offening, and 1t assumes that investors will hold their Class A ordinary shares as
capital assets (generally, property held for investment)

For purposes of this summary, a “US Helder” 1s a beneficial owner of the Company’s Class A erdinary shares that
15, for US federal income tax purposes

« anndividual who 1s a citizen or resident of the Umited States,

*  acorporation created in, or orgamized under the laws of, the United States, any state thereof or the District of
Columba,

*  an estate the income of which 15 includible 1n gross income for US federal income tax purposes regardless of 1ts
source, or

»  atrust that (1} 15 subject to the primary supervision of a US court and the control of one or more US persons or
(11} has a vahd election 1n effect under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a US person

A “Non-US Holder” 15 a beneficial owner of the Company’s Class A ordinary shares that 15 not a US Holder

If an entity treated as a partnership for US federal income tax purposes holds the Company’s Class A ordinary
shares, the tax treatment of a partner i the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities
of the partnership Partners of parinerships considering an investment in the Class A ordinary shares are encouraged to
consult their tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of Class A ordinary shares

Treatment of the Company as a Domestic Corporation for US Federal Income Tax Purposes

Even though the Company 1s orgamzed as a Cayman Islands corporation, due to the circumstances of its formation
and the application of Section 7874 of the Code, the Company reports as a domestic corporation for US federal income tax
purposes This has implicanions for all shareholders, the Company 1s subject to US federal income tax as 1f 1t were a US
corporation, and distributions made by a foreign corporation treated as a domestic corporation pursuant to Section 7874 of
the Code are generally treated as US-source dividends and generally subject to US dividend withholding tax

US Holders
Distributions

Distributions made by the Company in respect of its Class A ordinary shares will be treated as US-source dividends
mcludible 1n the gross income of a US Holder as ordinary income 10 the extent of the Company’s current and accumulated
earnings and profits, as determined under US federal income tax pninciples To the extent the amount of a distribution
exceeds the Company’s current and accumulated earntngs and profits, the distribution will be treated first as a non-taxable
return of capital to the extent of a US Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Class A ordinary shares and thereafter as gain from
the sale of such shares Subgect to apphicable imtations and requirements, dividends recerved on the Class A ordinary shares
generally should be eligible for the “dividends recerved deduction™ available 1o corporate shareholders A dividend paid by
the Company to a non-corporate US Holder generally will be eligible for preferennial rates if certain helding penod
requirements are met

The US dollar value of any distribution made by the Company in foreign currency will be calculated by reference to
the exchange rate 1n effect on the date of the US Holder’s actual or constructive receipt of such distribution, regardless of
whether the foreign currency 1s in fact converted into US dollars If the foreign currency 1s converted into US dollars on such
date of receipt, the US Holder generally will not recogmze foreign currency gain or 1oss on such conversion If the foreign
currency s not converted mto US dollars on the date of receipt, such US Holder will have a basis in the foreign currency
equal 1o 1ts US dollar value on the date of receipt Any gain or loss on a subsequent conversion ar other taxable disposition of
the foreign currency generally will be US-source ordinary income or loss to such US Holder
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Sale or other disposition

A US Holder will recognize gain or loss for US federal income tax purposes upon a sale or other taxable disposition
of its Class A ordinary shares in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized from such sale or disposition
and the US Holder’s adjusted tax basts in the Class A ordinary shares A US Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Class A
ordinary shares generally will be the US Holder’s cost for the shares Any such gan or loss generally will be US-source
caprtal gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or toss 1f, on the date of sale or disposiuon, such US Hoider held the
Class A ordinary shares for more than one year Long-term capital gains denved by non-corporate US Holders are eligible for
taxation at reduced rates The deductibility of capital [osses 15 subject 1o sigmificant hmnations

Informanon reporting and backup withholding

Payments of dividends on or proceeds arising from the sale or other taxable disposition of Class A ordinary shares
generally will be subject to information reporiing and backup withholding if a US Holder (1} fails to furmsh such US Holder’s
correct US taxpayer tdentification number (generally on IRS Form W-9), (n)} furmishes an incorrect US taxpayer
identification number, (in) 1s notified by the IRS that such US Holder has previously failed to properly report items subject to
backup withholding, or (1v) fails to certify under penalty of perjury that such US Holder has furnished its correct US taxpayer
identification number and that the EIRS has not notified such US Holder that it 15 subject to backup withholding

Backup withholding 1s not an additional tax Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules generally
will be allowed as a credit against a US Holder’s US federal income tax habihity or will be refunded, if the US Holder
furmshes the required information 1o the IRS in a timely manner

Non-US Holders
Distributions

Subject to the discussion under “—Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act” below, distnbutions treated as dividends
(see “—US Holders—Dastributions” above) by the Company to Non-US Hoelders will be subject to US federal withholding
tax at a 30% rate, except as may be provided by an applicable income tax treaty Te obtain a reduced rate of US federal
withholding under an applicable income tax treaty, a Non-US Holder will be required to certify its entitlement to benefits
under the treaty, generally on a properly completed IRS Form W-8BEN

However, dividends that are effectively connected with a Non-US Holder’s conduct of a trade or business within the
United States and, where required by an income tax treaty, are attnbutable to a permanent establishment or fixed base of the
Non-US Holder, are not subject 1o the withholding tax described in the previous paragraph, but instead are subject to US
federal net income tax at graduated rates, provided the Non-US Holder complies with applicable certification and disclosure
requirements, generally by providing a properly completed IRS Form W-8ECI Non-US Holders that are corporations may
also be subject to an additional branch profits tax at a 30% rate, except as may be provided by an apphcable income tax
treaty

Sale or other disposition

Subject to the discussion under *“—Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act” below, a Non-US Holder will not be
subject to US federal income tax in respect of any gain on a sale or other disposition of the Class A ordinary shares unless

+  the gain s effectively connected with the Non-US Holder’s conduct of a trade or business within the United
States and, where required by an income tax treaty, 15 attnbutable to a permanent establishment or fixed base of
the Non-US Holder,

»  the Non-US Holder 1s an individual who 15 present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year
of the sale or other disposition and certain other conditions are met, or

+ the Company 1s or has been a “US real property holding corperation” during the shorter of the five-year period
preceding the disposition and the Non-US Holder’s holding penod for the Class A ordinary shares
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Non-US Holders descnibed in the first bullet point above will be subject to tax on the net gain denved from the sale
under regular graduated US federal income tax rates and, 1f they are foreagn corporations, may be subject to an addihional
“branch profits tax™ at a 30% rate or such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty Nor-US Holders
descnbed in the second bullet point above will be subject to a flat 30% tax on any gain denived on the sale or other taxable
disposition, which gain may be offset by certain US-source capital losses The Company 1s not, and does not anticipate
becoming, a “US real property holding corporatton” for US federal income tax purposes

Informanon reporting and backup withholding

Generally, the Company must report annually to the IRS and to Non-US Helders the amount of distnbutions made
to Non-US Holders and the amoeunt of any tax withheld with respect to those payments Copies of the information returns
reporting such distnbutions and withholding may also be made available to the tax authonties in the country in which a
Non-US Holder resides under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty or tax information exchange agreement

A Non-US Holder will generally not be subject to backup withholding with respect to payments of dividends,
provided the Company recerves a properly completed statement 1o the effect that the Non-US Holder 1s not a US person and
the Company does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that the holder 15 a US person The requirements for the
statement will be met 1f the Non-US Holder provides its name and address and certifies, under penalties of peqjury, that it ts
not a US person (which certification may generally be made on IRS Form W-8BEN) or 1f a financial institution holding the
Class A ordinary shares on behalf of the Non-US Helder ceruifies, under penalties of penjury, that such statement has been
recerved by it and furmshes the Company or its paying agent with a copy of the statement

Except as descnbed below under “—~Foreign Account Tax Comphance Act”, the payment of proceeds from a
disposition of Class A ordinary shares to or through a non-US office of a non-US broker will not be subject to information
reporting or backup withholding unless the non-US broker has certain types of refationships with the Umited States In the
case of a payment of proceeds from the disposition of Class A ordinary shares to or through a non-US office of a broker that
1s erther a US person or such a US- related person, US Treasury regulations require information reporting (but not backup
withholding) on the payment unless the broker has documentary evidence in its files that the Non-US Holder 1s not a US
person and the broker has no knowledge to the contrary

Backup withholding 1s not an additional tax  Any amounts withheld under the backup withhelding rules will be
allowed as a refund or a credit against a Non-US Holder’s US federal income tax liability, provided the required information
15 imely furnished to the IRS

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Legislation incorporating provisions referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Comphance Act (“FATCA™) was
enacted on March 18, 2010 Pursuant to FATCA, withholding taxes may apply to certain types of payments made to “foreign
financial institutsons” (as defined under those rules) and certain other non-US entities The failure to comply with additionat
certification, information reporting and other specified requirements could result 1n a withholding tax being imposed on
paymenis of dividends and sales proceeds to foreign intermediaries and certamn Non-US Holders A 30% withholding tax may
be imposed on dividends on, or gross proceeds from the sale or other disposition of, our Class A ordinary shares paid to a
foreign financial insutution or 1o a non-financial foreign entity, unless (1) the foreign financial institution undertakes certain
dihgence and reporting obligations, (11) the non-financial foreign entity ether certifies it does not have any substantial US
owners or furmshes 1dentifying information regarding each substantial US owner, or (in) the foreign financial institution or
non- financial foreign entity otherwise qualifies for an exemption from these rules 1f the payee 1s a foretgn financial
mstitution and 15 subject to the diligence and reporting requirements tn clause (1) above, 1t generally must enter into an
agreement with the US Treasury requiring, among other things, that it undertake to 1dentify accounts held by certain US
persons or US-owned foreign entihies, annually report certain information about such accounts and withheld 30% on
payments to non-compliant foretgn financial institutions and certain other account holders Foreign financial institutions
located 1n junisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States concerning FATCA may be subject
to different rules

The IRS has recently i1ssued guidance providing that the withholding provisions descrnibed above will generally
apply to payments of dividends on our Class A ordinary shares made on or after 1 July 2014 and 1o payments of gross
proceeds from a sale or other disposition of Class A ordinary shares on or after 1 January 2017 Prospective 1nvestors are
encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding the potential apphcation of withholding under FATCA to an investment in
our Class A ordinary shares
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Matenal Cayman Islands Tax Considerahons

There 1s, at present, no direct taxation 1n the Cayman Islands and interest, dividends and gains payable to the
Company will be received free of all Cayman Islands taxes The Company has recerved an undertaking from the Governor in
Cabinet of the Cayman Islands to the effect that, for a period of twenty years from the date of such undertaking, no law that
thereafter 1s enacted 1n the Cayman Islands imposing any tax or duty to be levied on profits, income or on gamns or
appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inhentance tax, will apply to any property compnised 1n or any income
ansing under the Company, or to the shareholders thereof, 1n respect of any such property or income

F. DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS
Not applicable

G STATEMENTS BY EXPERTS
Not applicable

H. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

You may read and copy any reports or other information that we fite at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, N E , Washington, D C 20549 Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtamed by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet website that contans reports, proxy
statements and other information about 1ssuers, like us, that file electronically with the SEC The address of that site 1s
WWW sec gov

We also make available on our website, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 20-F and the text of our reports
on Form 6-K, including any amendments to these reports, as well as certain other SEC filings, as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with or firrnished to the SEC Our website address 1s www manutd com The
information contained on our website 15 not incorpoerated by reference 1n this document

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Market Risk

Our operations are exposed to a vanety of financial risks that include currency risk, interest rate nsk and cash flow
risk We review and agree policies for managing these risks, which are then implemented by our finance department Please
refer to note 32 to our audited consohdated financial statements as of 30 June 2013 and 2012 and for the three years ended
30 June 2013 for a fuller quantitative and qualitative discusston on the market nsks to which we are subject and our policies
with respect to managing those nsks The policies are summanized below

Currency risk

We are exposed to both translational and transactional risk of fluctuations 1n foreign exchange rates A significant
currency risk we face relates to the revenue recetved i Euros as a result of participation in the Champions League We seek
to hedge economically the majority of the cumrency nisk of this revenue by placing forward contracts at the point at which it
becomes reasonably certain that we will receive the revenue

We also recerve a sigmficant amount of sponsorship revenue denominated in US dollars As a result of the US dollar
denomination of our secured term loan facility and senior secured notes, interest 1s paid on these in US dollars, therefore we
will typically only consider hedging such exposures to the extent that there 1s an excess of currency receivable after the
interest payments have been made and after taking imo consideration the credit nsk of the counterparty

At 30 June 2013, we had a total of $584 9 million of US dollar denomunated secured term loan facility and senior
secured notes outstanding, the principal of which i1s not economically hedged, and 1s therefore retranslated at the closing rate
for each reporting date

Payment and receipts of transfer fees may also give rise to foreign currency exposures Due to the nature of player
transfers we may not always be able to predict such cash flow until the transfer has taken place Where possible and
depending on the payment profile of transfer fees payable and receivable we will seek to economically hedge future
payments and receipts at the point 1t becomes reasonably certain that the payments will be made or the revenue will be
received When hedging revenue s to be recerved, we also take account of the credit nsk of the counterparty
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Other than as disclosed herein, we have no additional hedging policies

During the year ended 30 June 2013, we incurred a £2 5 mullion net unrealized foreign exchange loss on our US
dollar denominated secured term loan facility and senior secured notes Based on exchange rates existing as of 30 June 2013,
a 10% appreciation of the UK pounds sterling compared to the US dollar would have resulted in approximately £32 6 mithion
of net unrealized foreign exchange gans dunng the year ended 30 June 2013 Conversely, a 10% depreciation of the UK
pounds sterling compared to the US dollar would have resulted in a further £42 8 million of net unreahized foreign exchange
loss during the year ended 30 June 2013

Interest rate risk

Qur interest rate risk relates to changes in interest rates for borrowings Borrowings 1ssued at vaniable interest rates
expose us to cash flow interest rate nsk Borrowings 1ssued at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate nsk Our
borrowings under our revolving credit facihity, our secured term loan facility and our Alderley facility bear interest at vanable
rates As of 30 June 2013 we had £205 0 million of vanable rate indebtedness outstanding under our secured term loan
facility and £6 5 milhon of variable rate indebtedness under our Alderley credit facility A hypothetical one percentage point
Increase 10 interest rates on our variable rate indebtedness would increase our annual mterest expense by approximately
£2 | milhon

As of 30 June 2013, the fair value of outstanding interest rate swaps was a hability of £1 3 million, compared with a
hability of £1 7 milhion as of 30 June 2012

Derivative Financial Instruments
Foreign currency forward contracts

We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to purchase and sell foreign currency in order to minumize the
impact of currency movements on our financial performance primanly for our exposure to Broadcasting revenue recetved n
Euros for our participation in European competitions and Commercial revenue received 1n US dollars for certain sponsorship
contracts

Interest rate swaps

Prior to refinancing our previous secured senior facilities with our senior secured notes, we entered into interest rate
swap agreements to fix the interest rate on a large proportion of those vanable rate semor facihties Under the interest rate
swap arrangement, we agreed 10 make interest payments at a fixed rate of 5 0775% as required under the terms of the facility
agreement in return for recerving a floating rate pegged to LIBOR, on a notional amount of £450 miihon of semor facihities
agreements At 29 January 2010, largely as a result of falling interest rates, our mark-to-market loss on these interest rate
swap agreements amounted to £40 7 mullhion The terms of the swap agreements allowed the counterparties involved to
terminate the swaps upon refinancing of the sentor facilities, thus crystalizing the mark-to-market hability Upon termination
of these swaps, an initial aggregate payment of £12 7 million was made to such counterparties, with the remaining hability
being repaid serm-annually through 31 December 2015 As of 30 June 2013, the outstanding swap liability on our balance
sheet was £13 7 million

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES
A, DEBT SECURITIES

Not applicable

B WARRANTS AND RIGHTS
Not apphicable
C. OTHER SECURITIES
Not applicable
D. AMERICAN DEPOSITARY SHARES

Not applicable
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PART 11
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

Material Modificatiens to Rights of Secunity Holders

On 8 August 2012, m connection with our [PO, we amended and restated our memorandum and articles of
association A copy of our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association 1s being filed as Exiubat 1 1 to this
Annual Report See “Item 10 Additional Information—B Memorandum and Articles of Association and Other Share
Information™

Use of Proceeds

On 10 August 2012, we completed an IPO of our Class A ordinary shares, par value $0 0005 per share, pursuant to a
Registration Statement on Form F- 1, as amended (File No 333-182535), which became effective on 9 August 2012 We sold
8,333,334 Class A ordinary shares and the selling shareholder named in Form F-1 sold 8,333,333 Class A ordinary shares
Jefferies & Company, Inc , Credit Suisse Securities {USA) LLC, J P Morgan Securities LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc
and Memill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated acted as representatives of the several underwnters The ordsnary
shares were sold at a price of $14 00 per share, less underwriting discounts and commuissions of 30 77 per share for aggregate
gross proceeds before expenses for the Company of $110,250,009 and for the selling shareholder of $110,249,996 We paid,
cut of Company proceeds, all of our and the selling shareholder’s fees, costs and expenses in connection with the IPO
{excluding, m the case of the selling shareholder, underwriting discounts and commissions and similar brokers’ fees and
transfer taxes), which expenses totaled approxamately $13 2 milhion

On 14 September 2012, we used all of our net proceeds from the IPO to reduce our indebtedness by exercising our
option to redeem and retire $101 7 mullvon (£62 6 milhon) 1n aggregate principal amount of our 8°/y% US dollar senior
secured notes due 2017 at a redemption price equal to 108 375% of the pnincipal amount of such notes plus accrued and
unpaid interest to the date of such redemption In addition, our senior secured notes previously purchased by us in open
market transactions have been contributed to MU Finance plc and retired

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We have carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures {as such term 1s defined 1n Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934) under the
supervision and the participation of the executive board of management, which 1s responsible for the management of the
internal controls, and which includes the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer There are inherent
linutations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human error
and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and
procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving therr control objectives Based upon our evaluation as of
30 June 2013, the Pnincipal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that the disclosure controis and
procedures (1) were effective at a reasonable level of assurance as of the end of the penod covered by this Annual Report on
Form 20-F in ensuring that information required to be recorded, processed, summarnised and reported in the reports that are
filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarised and reported within the time penods specified
i the Commussion’s rules and forms and {u) were effective at a reasonable level of assurance as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report on Form 20-F in ensuring that information to be disclosed mn the reports that are filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act 15 accumulated and communicated to the management of the Company, including the
Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our executive board of management 1s responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting Our 1nternal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed, under the supervision of the Principal
Executive Officer and the Pnincipal Financial Officer, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehability of financial
reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally
accepied accounting principles
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Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of
records that, 1n reasonable detail, accurately and fairly, reflect transactions and dispositions of assets, provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded in the manner necessary to permut the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are only camed out 1n
accordance with the authonzation of our executive board of management and directors, and provide reasonable assurance
regarding the prevention or timely detection of any unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets and that could
have a matenal effect on our financial statements

Because of tts inherent hmitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all
misstatements Moreover, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control to future penods are subject to
a nsk that controls may become nadequate because of changes in conditions and that the degree of compliance with the
pohicies or procedures may deteriorate

Our executive board of management has assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based
on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework tssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamizations of the Treadway
Commussion (COSO) Based on this assessment, our executive board of management has cencluded that our internal control
over financial reporting as of 30 June 2013 was effective

This Annual Repoert does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm
because we qualify as an emerging growth company and, as such, are exempt from such attestation

Changes 1n Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the period covered by this report, we have not made any change to our internal control over financial
reporting that have matenally affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect, our 1nternal control over financial
reporting

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that Mr Robert Leitdo satisfies the “independence” requirements set forth in
Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act Our board of directors has also determined that Mr Robert Leitéo 1s an “audit
committee financial expert” as defined in Item 16A of Form 20-F under the Exchange Act

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all our employees, officers and directors,
including our principal executive, principal financial and principal accounting officers Our cede of Business Conduct and
Ethics addresses, among other things, competition and fair dealing, conflicts of interest, financial matters and external
reporing, company funds and assets, confidentiality and corporate opportunity requirements and the process for reporting
violations of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, employee misconduct, conflicts of interest or other violations Our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 15 intended to meet the defimtion of “code of ethics™ under ltem 16B of 20-F under the
Exchange Act

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 1s available on our website at http /it manutd com/
ITEM 16C PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) acted as our independent auditor for the fiscal years ended 30 June 2013 and

2012 The table below sets out the total amount billed to us by PwC, for services performed in the years ended 30 June 2013
and 2012, and breaks down these amounts by category of service

2013 2012

£7000 £'000
Audit Fees 346 92
Audit-Related Fees 679 1,975
Tax Fees 282 277
All Other Fees 166 4
Total 1,473 2,348
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Audit Fees

Audit fees 1n 2013 and 2012 were related to the audit of our consolidated and subsidiary financial statements and
other audit or interim review services provided 1n connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements

Audit-Related Fees

Audit-related fees are 1n 2013 and 2012 were related to professional services rendered in connection with our IPO

Tax Fees

Tax fees in 2013 and 2012 were related to tax comphance and tax planning services

All Other Fees

All other fees in 2013 and 2012 relate to services in connection with corporate compliance matters

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The advance approval of the Audit Committee or members thereof, to whom approval authonty has been delegated,
15 required for all audit and non-audit services provided by our audtitors

All services provided by our auditors are approved in advance by erther the Audit Committee or members thereof, to
whom authonty has been delegated, in accordance with the Audit Commuttee’s pre-approval policy

ITEM 16D, EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not applicable

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER
Not applicable

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

None

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Class A ordinary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange We beheve the following to be the
significant differences between our corporate governance practices and these applicable to US compames under the New
York Stock Exchange Listing standards

In general, under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards, foreign private issuers, as defined
under the Exchange Act, are permitted to follow home country corporate governance practices instead of the corporate
governance practices of the New York Stock Exchange Accordingly, we follow certain corporate governance practices of
our home country, the Cayman Islands, 1n lieu of certain of the corporate governance requirements of the New York Stock
Exchange Specifically, we do not have a board of directors composed of a majonity of independent directors or a
remuneration commtttee or nominating and corporate governance committee composed entirely of independent directors

In the event we no longer quahify as a foreigh private 1ssuer, we intend to rely on the “controlled company™
exempuion under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules A “controlled company™ under the New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance rules 1s a company of which more than 50% of the voting power 1s held by an
individual, group or another company Our principal shareholder controls a majenty of the combined voung power of our
outstanding ordinary shares, and our principal shareholder 1s able 10 nominate a majonty of directors for election to our board
of directors Accordingly, we are eligible to, and, in the event we no longer qualify as a foreign private 1ssuer, we ntend to,
take advantage of certain exemptions under the New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules including exemptions
from the requirements that a majonty of the directors on our board of directors are independent directors and the requirement
that our remuneration committee and our nominating and corporate governance committee consist entirely of independent
directors

The foreign private 1ssuer exemption and the “controlled company” exemption do not medify the independence

requirements for the audit commuttee, and we comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxltey Act and the New York
Stock Exchange rules, which require that our audit commitiee be composed of three independent directors
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If at any time we cease to be a “controlled company” or a “foreign private 1ssuer” under the rules of the New York
Stock Exchange and the Exchange Act, as applicable, our board of directors will take all action necessary to comply with the
New York Stock Exchange corporate governance rules

Due to our status as a foreign private issuer and our intent to follow certain home country corporate governance
practices, our shareholders do not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of compamies that are subject to all the |
New York Stock Exchange corporate governance standards

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable
PART III

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolhidated financial statements as required under Item 18 are attached hereto starting on page F-1 of
this Annual Report The audit reports of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, 1s
included herein preceding the audited consolidated financial statements

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS
The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report

11 Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of Manchester United plc dated as of 8 August |
2012 (included as Exhitut 3 1 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A (File No 333-182535), filed with the
SEC on 30 July 2012, as amended)

2 1 Specimen Ordinary Share Certificate of Manchester United plc (included as Exhibit 4 1 to our Registration Statement
on Form F-1/A (File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 30 July 2012, as amended) |

2 2 Indenture, dated January 29, 2010, among MU Finance plc, the Guarantors and The Bank of New York Mellen, as
Trustee, Principal Paying Agent, Transfer Agent and Registrar, U S Paying Agent and U S Registrar, The Bank of
New York Mellon (Luxembourg) S A , as Luxembourg Paying Agent, Transfer Agent and Registrar, and J P Morgan
Europe Limited, as Secunty Agent (included as Exhibit 4 2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A (File
No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 16 July 2012, as amended)

41 Revolving Facilites Agreement, dated January 29, 2010, among Manchester Umited Limuted, as Onginal Borrower,

J P Morgan PLC, as Arranger, the Mandated Lead Arrangers, and J P Morgan Europe Limited, as Agent and
Security Trustee (included as Extubit 10 2 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A (File No 333-182535), filed
with the SEC on 16 July 2012, as amended}

42 Agreement, dated May 19, 2008, between The Royal Bank of Scotland ple, as agent for National Westminster
Bank plc, and Alderley Urban Investments (included as Exhibit 10 3 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A
{(File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 16 July 2012, as amended)

43 Term Facility Agreement, dated 20 May 2013, between MU Finance plc, as Borrower, and Bank of America, N A,
as Lender

44 2012 Equuty Incentive Award Plan (included as Exhibit 4 2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File
Ne 333-183277), filed with the SEC on 13 August 2012)

4 5 Premier League Handbook, Season 2013/14

4 6 Premer League Handbook, Season 2012/13 (included as Exhibit 10 4 to our Registration Statement on Form F-1/A |
(File No 333-182535), filed with the SEC on 16 July 2012, as amended) |
|

8 1 List of significant subsidianes (included in note 34 to our audited consolidated financial statements included 1n this
Annual Report)

12 1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14{a) Certification of Pnincipal Executive Officer
122 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer

13 1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

132 Certification of Chuef Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

151 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Manchester United plc

In our opimion, the accompanying consohdated balance sheet and the related consolidated income statement,
consohdated statements of comprehensive income, of changes 1n equity and of cash flows present fairly, 1n all matenal
respecis, the financial position of Manchester United ple and its subsidianies as of 30 June 2013 and 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years 1n the penod ended 30 June 2013 in conformity with
International Financial Reporting Standards as 1ssued by the Intermational Accounting Standards Board These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management Our responsibihity 1s 10 express an epimion on these financial
statements based on our audits We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (Umted States) and International Standards on Auditing Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal
misstatement An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures n the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and sigmficant estimates made by management, and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide a reascnable basis for our opinion

/s/ PnicewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, Umted Kingdom

23 October 2013
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Consohdated sncome statement

Year ended 30 June

2013 2012 2011
Note £000 £°000 £000
Revenue 4 363,189 320,320 331,441
Operating expenses 5 (310,337)  (285,139) (272,653}
Profit on disposal of players’ registrations 9,162 9,691 4,466
Operating profit 62,014 44,872 63,254
Finance costs (72,082) (50,315) (52,960)
Finance income 1,275 779 1,710
Net finance costs 7 (70,807) (49,536) (51,250)
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (8,793) (4,664) 12,004
Tax credat 9 155,212 27,977 986
Profit for the year 146,419 23,313 12,990
Attributable to.
Owners of the parent 146,250 22,986 12,649
Non-controlling interest 169 327 341
146,419 23,313 12,990
Earnings per share attnbutable to owners of the parent during
the year
Basic and diluted earmings per share (pounds sterling) 10 0.90 015 008

See accompanying notes to the consolhidated financial statements




Profit for the year

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the income statement

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Fair value movements on cash flow hedges, net of tax
Exchange (loss)/gain on translation of overseas subsidiary

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Year ended 30 June

203 2012 2011

Note £ 000 £°000 £°000
146,419 23,313 12,990
9 (435) 1,i32  (466)
9 (88) 29  (265)
(523) 1,361 (731)

145,896 24,674 12,259

145,727 24,347 11,918
169 327 341

143,896 24,674 12,259

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax The tax refating to each component of other comprehensive

income 1s dhsclosed in note 9

See accompanying notes to the consohidated financial statements
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Consolidated balance sheet

As of 30 June
2013 2012(1)
Note £000 £'000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 252,808 247,866
Investment property 13 14,080 14,197
Goodwlt i4 421,453 421,453
Players® registrations 15 119,947 112,399
Trade and other receivables 18 1,583 3,000
Deferred tax asset 26 145,128 —

954,999 798,915
Current assets
Derivative financial instruments 17 260 967
Trade and other receivables 18 68,619 74,163
Current tax receivable 19 — 2,500
Cash and cash equivalents 20 94,433 70,603

163,312 148,233
Total assets 1,118,311 947,148

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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As of 30 June

2013 2012(1}
Note £'000 £'000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 21 52 50
Share premium 68,822 25
Merger reserve 249,030 249,030
Hedging reserve 231 666
Retained earnings/(deficit) 129,825 {12,671)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 447,960 237,100
Non-controlling interest — (2,003)
447,960 235,097
Non-carrent habilities
Derivative financial instruments 17 1,337 1,685
Trade and other payables 23 18,413 22,305
Borrowings 24 377,474 421,247
Deferred revenue 17,082 9,375
Provisions 25 288 1,378
Deferred tax liabilities 26 17,168 26,678
432,462 482 668
Current habihties
Denivative financial instruments 17 29 —
Current tax habilihes 900 1,128
Trade and other payables 23 78,451 83,664
Borrowings 24 11,759 15,628
Deferred revenue 146,278 128,535
Provisions 25 472 428
237,889 229383
Total equity and habihities 1,118,311 947,148
(0 As adjusted retrospectively to reflect the reorganization transactions described in note 1 1

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements




Consolidated statement of changes 1n equty

Total
Retained attnbutable Non- Total
Share Share Merger  Hedging  carnings/  toownersof  controling  equuty/
capital premom reserve reserve (deliait) the parent tnterest (deficat)
£000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £000
Balance at 1 July 2010 — — — — (38,270 (38,270)  (2,671) _(40,941)
Profit for the year _ — — — 12,649 12,649 341 12,990
Cash flow hedges, net of tax — — —_ (466) - {466) — (466)
Currency transtation differences - — — — (265) (265) — (265)
Total comprehensive
(loss)income for the year — —_ —_ (466) 12,384 11,913 34] 12,259
Proceeds from shares 1ssued — 249,105 — — — 249,105 — 249,105
Balance at 30 June 2011 — 249105 — (466) (25,886) 222,753 (2,330) 220,423
Profit for the year — — — — 22986 22,986 327 23,313
Cash flow hedges, net of tax — — — 1,132 — 1,132 — 1,132
Currency translation differences — — — — 229 229 — 229
Total comprehensive income for
the year — — — 1,132 23,215 24,347 327 24,674
Divadends (note 11) - — — —  (10,000) (10,000) —  (10,000)
Proceeds from 1ssue of shares
(note 1 1) 50 25 — — — 75 — 75
Caputal reorganization(1) (249,105) 249,030 — — (73) — (75)
Balance at 30 June 2012 50 25 249030 666 (12,671) 237,100  (2,003) 235,097
Profit for the year — — — — 146,250 146,250 169 146,419
Cash flow hedges, net of tax — — — (435) — (435) — (435)
Currency translation differences — — — — (88) (88) — (88)
Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year — — — (435) 146,162 145,727 169 145,896
Equity-settled share-based
payments (note 22) — — — — 832 832 — 832
Proceeds from 1ssue of shares
(note 1 2) 2 70,256 — — — 70,258 — 70,258
Expenses directly attributable to
issue of shares (note 1 2) — (1,459 _ — —— (1,459) —  (1,459)
Acquisition of non-controlling
mterest in MUTV Limited
(note 28) - — - — _ (4,498) (4,458) 1,834  (2,664)
Balance at 30 June 2013 52 68,822 249,030 231 129,825 447,960 — 447,960
() Adjusted retrospectively to reflect the reorganization transactions described mnote 1 1

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements




Consohdated statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from cperations

Interest paid

Debt finance costs relating to borrowings

Interest received

Income tax refund/(paid)

Net cash generated from/(used 1n) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Purchases of investment property

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of players’ registrations

Proceeds from sale of players’ registrations

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from 1ssue of shares

Expenses directly attnbutable 1o 1ssue of shares
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of secured payment in kind loan
Repayment of other borrowings

Dividends paid

Net cash generated from/(used 1n) financing activities
Net mcrease/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Year ended 30 June
2013 2012 2011
Note £'000 £000 £000
27 129,930 80,302 125,140
(73,629) (47,068) (167,499)
(3,074) — (118)
937 1,010 1,774
3,057 (3333 (70)
57221 30911  (40,773)
(12,503) (15,323) (7,263)
@)  (7.369) —
9 — 107
(45,997) (58,971)  (25,369)
9,646 9,409 13,956
(48,847) (72,249) (18,569)
70,258 — 249,105
(1,459)
28 (2,664)
209,190 — —
— —  {138,000)
(259254) (28,774)  (64,499)
—  (10,000) —
16,071 (38,774) 46,606
24,445 (80,112)  (12,736)
70,603 150,645 163,833
(615) 70 (452)
20 94,433 70,603 150,645

See accompanying notes to the consohidated financial statements
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements
1 Generzal information

Manchester United plc (the “Company”) and its subsidianes (together the “Group”} 15 a professional football club
together with related and ancillary activities The Company incorporated under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, as amended and restated from time to tme The address of 1ts principal executive office 1s Sir Matt Busby
Way, Old Trafford, Manchester M16 ORA, United Kingdom The Company became the parent of the Group as a result of
reorgamzation transacticns which were completed immediately prior to the completion of the pubhc offering of Manchester
United plc shares in the Umited States in August 2012 and concurrent listing of such shares on the New York Stock Exchange
i August 2012 as descnbed more fully below

1.1 The Reorgamzation Transactions

The Group had historically conducted business through Red Football Shareholder Limited, a private limited
company ncorporated in England and Wales, and its subsidianes Prior to the reorgamization transactions, Red Football
Shareholder Limited was a direct, wholty-owned subsidiary of Red Football LL.C, a Delaware limited hiability company On
30 Apnl 2012, Red Football LLC formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Manchester United Ltd , an exempted company with
limited hiability incorporated under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and restated
from time to ime On 8 August 2012, Manchester United Ltd changed 1ts legal name to Manchester United plc

On 9 August 2012, Red Football LLC contributed all of the equity interest of Red Football Shareholder Limited to
Manchester United plc As a result of these reorgamization transactions, Red Football Shareholder Limited subsequently
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Red Football Holdings Limited, which 1s in turn, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Manchester United plc

Immediately following the reorganization transactions on 9 August 2012, the new parent, Manchester United plc,
had 1n 1ssue 124,000,000 Class B ordinary shares and 31,352,366 Class A ordinary shares, totalling 155,352,366 ordinary
shares with a total subscnbed capital of £75,000 As a result historic earnings per share calculations refiect the capital
structure of the new parent (see note 10) The reorgamization transactions have been treated as a capital recrgamzation In
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, histonc earnings per share calculations and the balance sheet as
of 30 June 2012 have been restated retrospectively to reflect the capital structure of the new parent rather than that of the
former parent, Red Football Sharcholder Linuted

1.2 Imtial pubhe offering (“IPO™)

On 10 August 2012, the Company 1ssued a further 8,333,334 ordinary shares at an 1ssue pnce of 314 00 per share
and listed such shares on the New York Stock Exchange Net of underwniting costs and discounts, proceeds of $110,250,000
(£70,258,000) were received Expenses of £1,459,000 directly atinbutable to this 1ssue of new shares have been offset against
share premium

13 Other general information

These financial statements are presented 1n pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(£7000) except when otherwise indicated

These financial statements were approved by the Audit Commuttee of the Board of Parectors on 23 October 2013
2 Summary of significant accounting pohictes

The prnincipal accounting pelicies apphied 1n the preparation of these consohidated financial statements are set out
below These pohicies have been consistently applied 10 all the years presented

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consohdated financial statements of Manchester United plc have been prepared on a going concern basis and 1n

accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“]ASB”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuttee (“IFRIC”) interpretaions The consohdated
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financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain
financial assets and habihttes (including denivative financial instruments) which are recognised at farr value through profit
and loss, unless cash flow hedge accounting appltes

21.1 Changes 1n accounting policy and disclosures
a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group.

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS standards for the first time for the financial year
beginming on 1 July 2012 None of these had a material impact on the consohidated financial statements of the Group

+  Amendment to IAS 1, “Financtal statement presentation” regarding other comprehensive income The main
change resulting from these amendments 1s a requirement for entities to group items presented i1n other
comprehensive mncome on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently

b) New and amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective and have not been
applied in prepaning these consolidated financial statements Adoption may affect the disclosures in the Group’s financial
statements 1n the future The adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations is not expected to have a matenal
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, except as set out below

+  Amendment to IFRS 7, “Financizl instruments Dhsclosures”, on offsetting financial assets and financial
habilities This amendment reflects the IASB and FASB requirements to enhance current offsetting disclosures
These new disclosures are mtended to facilitate companison between those entities that prepare IFRS financial
statements and those that prepare US GAAP financial statements The Group will adopt the amendment to
IFRS 7 from 1 July 2013

*  Amendment to IAS 32, “Financial instruments Presentation”, on offsetting financial assets and financial
habilities This amendment updates the application gwidance in 1AS 32 to clanfy seme of the requirements for
offsetung financial assets and financial habiliies on the balance sheet The Group will adopt the amendment to
1AS 32 from 1 July 2014

+  1AS 19 (revised 2011}, “Employee benefits” which removes the cormidor approach and calculates finance costs
on a net funding basis The Group will adopt the IAS 19 (revised 2011) from 1 July 2013

« 1AS 27 (revised 2011), “Separate financial statements” This standard includes the provisions on separate
financial statements that are left after the control provisions of IAS 27 have been included n the new IFRS 10
The Group will adopt IAS 27 (revised 2011) from 1 July 2013

+  Annual improvements to IFRSs 201! which includes changes to IFRS 1, “First ime adoption™, IAS 1,
“Financial statement presentation”, 1AS 16, “Property, plant and equipment”, 1AS 32, “Financial instruments

presentation”, and [AS 34, “Intennm financial reporting” The Group will adopt the annual improvements to
IFRSs 2011 from 1 July 2013

« IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets
and financial liabilines IFRS 9 was 1ssued 1n November 2009 and October 2010 It replaces the parts of IAS 39
that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be
classified into two measurement categories those measured as at fair value and those measured at amortized
cost The determination 15 made at mitial recognition The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing 1ts financial instruments and the coniractual cash flow charactenstics of the instrument For
financial habilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements The main change 1s that, 1n cases
where the fair value option 1s taken for financial habilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own
credit nsk 1s recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the incoine statement, unless this creates an
accounting mismatch The Group does not expect adoption of IFRS ¢ to have a material impact and will adopt
IFRS 9 from 1 July 2015 The Group will also consider the impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when
completed by the IASB
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+ IFRS 10, “Consolidated financial statements” builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control
as the deterriming factor in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements of
the parent company The standard provides additional gmidance to assist n the determination of control where
this 1s difficult to assess The Group does not expect adoption of IFRS 10 to have a material impact and will
adopt IFRS 10 from 1 July 2013

« IFRS 12, “Dssclosures of interests 1n other entities” includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of
interests 1n other entiies, meluding joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off
balance sheet vehicles The Group does not expect adoption of IFRS 12 to have a matenal impact and will adopt
IFRS 12 from 1 July 2013

» IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement” aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise |
defimtion of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across
IFRSs The requirements, which are largely aligned between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair
value accounting but provide gmdance on how it should be applied where 1ts use 1s already required or
permitted by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP The Group does not expect adoption of IFRS 13 to
have a matenal impact and will adopt IFRS 13 from 1 July 2013

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a
material impact on the Group

2.2 Basis of consohidation
a) Subsidianes

Subsidianes are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating pelicies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting nghts Subsidiaries are fully consohdated from
the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases |

The acquisition accounting method 1s used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group The cost of an
acquisition 1s measured as the fair value of the assets transferred, equity instruments 1ssued and habihties incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange Cost includes the fair value of any contingent consideration Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilines and contingent liabilities assumed 1n a business combination are measured imtially at their fair values at the
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of the non-controlling interest The excess of the cost of acquisition over the farr
value of the Group’s share of the 1dentifiable net assets acquired 1s recorded as goodwill If the cost of acquisition 1s less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 1s recognised directly 1n the income statement Costs
associated with an acquisition are included in the income statement as incurred Any changes to the fair value, including any
changes to the faiwr value of any contingent constderation, are taken directly to the income statement in subsequent years
Histoncally there have been no matenal changes to fair values Contingent consideration that 1s classified as equity 1s not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement 1s accounted for within equity

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are
ehminated Accounting policies of subsidianes have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group

b) Transactions with non-controlhing interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with owners of the parent For purchases
of shares from non-controlling nterests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary 15 recorded 1n equity

23 Segment reporting

The Group has one reportable segment, being the operation of a professional football club The Chief Operating
Decision Maker (being the Board and executive officers of Manchester United plc), who 1s responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance obtamns financial information, being the Consolidated income statement, Consolidated
batance sheet and Consolidated statement of cash flows, and the analysis of changes 1n net debt, about the Group as a whole
The Group has investment property, however, this 1s not considered to be a matenial business segment and 1s therefore not
reported as such
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2.4 Foreign currency translation
a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financtial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”) The consohdated financial
statements are presented in pounds sterling which 1s the Company’s and 1ts subsidianes functional currency, with the
exception of Manchester United Commercial Enterprises (Ireland) Lrmited whose functional currency s the Euro

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailling at the
dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resutting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and habihities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised tn
the income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as quahifying cash flow hedges

c) Translation of overseas net assets

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hypeninflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentational currency are translated mto the presentational
currency as follows

(1) assets and habilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet,

(n) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average 15 not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing at the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactiens), and

(1) all resulting exchange differences are recogmised n other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity

On disposal of a foreign operation any cumulative exchange differences held in equity are reclassified to the income
statement

d) Exchange rates

The most important exchange rates that have been used in prepanng the financial statements are

Closing rate Average rate
2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 20i1
Euro 1.1666 12360 11066 12125 11802 11707
US Dollar 1.5166 15680 16018 15683 158% 15542

25 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of consideration received or receivable from the Group’s principal activities
excluding transfer fees and value added tax The Group’s principal revenue streams are Commercial, Broadcasting and
Matchday The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be rehably measured, it 1s probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as
described below

a) Commeraal

Commercial revenue compnses revenue receivable from the exploitation of the Manchester United brand through
sponsorstup and other commercial agreements, including mimmum guaranteed revenue, and fees for the Manchester United
first team undertaking tours For sponsorship contracts any additional revenue recervable over and above the minimum
guaranteed revenue contained 1n the sponsorship and licensing agreements is taken to revenue when a reliable estimate of the
future performance of the contract can be obtained and 1t 1s probable that the amounts will not be recouped by the sponsor in
future years
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Revenue is recognized over the term of the sponsorship agreement in line with the performance obligations included
within the contract and based on the sponsorship benefits enjoyed by the individual sponsor This typically results in more
revenue being recognized in the later stages of the contract as the level of support provided 1o sponsors increases over the
term of the sponsorship agreement, which 1s consistent with the payment profiles typically set out in the contract In instances
where the sponsorship benefits remarn the same over the duration of the contract, revenue 15 recognised on a straight-line
basis In respect of contracts with mulniple elemnents, the Group allocates the total consideration recervable to each separately
identifiable element based on their relative fair values, and then recogmzes the allocated revenue on a straight-line basis over
the relevant penod of each element

Commercial revenue which 1s received 1n advance of a penod end but relating to future pertods 1s treated as deferred
revenue The deferred revenue s then released to revenue on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the
relevant agreements

b) Broadcasting

Broadcasting revenue represents revenue receivable from all UK and overseas broadcasting contracts, including
contracts negotiated centrally by the FA Premier League and UEFA

Distributions from the FA Premier League compnise a fixed element (which 1s recognised evenly as domestic home
league matches are played), facility fees for hive coverage and highlights of domestic heme and away matches (which are
recognised when the respective match 15 played), and ment awards (which are only recogmsed when they are known at the
end of each football season}

Distributions from UEFA relating to participation in European cup competitions comprise market pool payments
(whuch are recognised over the matches played 1n the competition, a portion of which reflects Manchester United’s
performance relative to the other FA Premier League clubs 1n the competition) and fixed amounts for participation in
individual matches (which are recognised when the matches are played)

Broadcasting revenue which 1s recerved 1n advance of a period end but relating to future penods 15 treated as
deferred revenue The deferred revenue 1s then released to revenue on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of
the relevant agreements

<) Matchday

Matchday revenue 1s recognised based on matches played throughout the year with revenue from each match being
recogmsed only after the match to which the revenue relates has been ptayed Revenue from related activities such as
Conference and Events or the Museum 1s recognised as the event or service 15 provided or the facility 1s used

Matchday revenue includes revenue recevable from all domestic and Eurepean match day activities from
Manchester Umted games at Old Trafford, together with the Group’s share of gate receipts from cup matches not played at
Old Trafford (where applicable), and fees for arranging other events at the Old Trafford stadium The share of gate receipts
payable to the other participating clubr and competition organiser for cup matches played at Old Trafford {(where applicable)
18 treated as an operating expense

Matchday revenue which is recerved in advance of a peried end but relating to future penods (mainly the sale of
seasonal facilities for first team matches at Old Trafford) 1s treated as deferred revenue The deferred revenue is then released
to revenue as the matches are played
d) Finance income

Finance income 15 recogmsed using the effective interest rate method

e} Accrued revenue

Revenue from matchday activities, broadcasting and commercial contracts, which 1s received after the period to
which it relates, 1s accrued as earned
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f) Deferred revenue

Revenue from matchday activities, broadcasting and commercial contracts, received or recesvable prior to the period
end In respect of future periods, 15 deferred

2.6 Operating leases

Leases in which a sigmficant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over
the lease term Any incentives recerved at the inception of the lease are recognised on a straight-line basis over the hhife of the
lease

Rentals recervable under sub-tenancy agreements are credited to the income statement on a straight line basis over
the lease term Any lease incentives given are recogmsed on a stratght-line basis over the life of the lease The nsk and
rewards of ownership on the sub-let property remain with the third party lessor

2.7 Exceptional items

Exceptional 1tems are those that 1n management’s judgement need to be disclosed by virtue of their size, nature or
incidence Such items are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements

28 Pension costs

The Group 1s one of a number of participating employers in The Football League Limited Pension and Life
Assurance Scheme (‘the scheme’—see note 31 1) The Group 1s unable to 1dentify 1ts share of the assets and habilities of the
scheme and therefore accounts for its contributions as 1f they were paid to a defined contribution scheme Full provision has
been made for the additional contnbutions that the Group has been requested to pay to help fund the scheme deficnt

The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Company in an independently admimstered fund The Group’s contributions nto this scheme are reflected within the
income statement when they fall due

29 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date The fair value excludes the effect of non-market based vesting conditions

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments 15 expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest At each balance
sheet date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of
non-market based vesting conditions The impact of the revision of the orniginal estimates, 1f any, 1s recognised 1n the income
statement such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves

For cash-settled share-based payments to employees, a hability 15 recognised for the services acquired, measured
inthially at the fair value of the liability At each balance sheet date until the hability 1s settled, and at the date of settlement,
the fair value of the hability 1s remeasured, with any changes 1n fair value recognised 1n profit or loss for the year

Details regarding the determination of the fair value of share-based transactions are set out 1n note 22

2.10 Tax

Although the Company 1s orgamized as a Cayman lslands corporation, 1t reports as a US domestic corporation for
US federal income tax purposes and 1s subject to US federal income tax on the Group’s worldwide income In addition, the
Group 1s subject to income and other taxes in various other jurisdictions, mcluding the UK Current tax, which currently
compnses UK and overseas corporation tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or
recoverable on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profits and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet hability
method Deferred tax hiabilities are generally recogrised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recogmsed only to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised

F-14




Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date and are expected to apply in the period 1n which the hability 1s settled or the asset 15 realised and 1s charged or credited in
the income statement, except where 1t relates to items charged or credited to equity via the statement of comprehensive
income, when the deferred tax 1s also dealt with 1n equity

Deferred tax assets and hiabihities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
current tax habilities and when the deferred tax assets and habilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authornty on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there 1s an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis

2.11 Property, plant and equpment

Property, plant and equipment 15 imitially measured at cost (compnsing the purchase price, after deducting discounts
and rebates, and any directly attnbutable costs) and 15 subsequently carmied at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
provision for impairment

Subsequent costs, for example, capital improvements and refurbishment, are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recogiised as a separate asset, as appropnate, only when 1t 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably Where appropriate, the carrying amount of the
replaced part 1s derecogmised All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial
period i which they are incurred

Land 1s not depreciated With the exception of frechold property acquired before | August 1999, depreciation on
other assets 1s calculated using the straight-line method to wnite-down assets to their residual value over the estimated useful
lives as follows

Freehold property 75 years
Computer equipment and software (1ncluded within Plant

and machinery) 3 years
Plant and machinery 4 -5 years
Fixtures and fitings 7 years

Freehold property acquired before 1 August 1999 1s depreciated on a reducing balance basis at an annual rate of
133%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted 1f appropriate at each reporting date

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes i circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable Any tmpairment charges arising are recogrused in the income statement when the carrying amount of
an asset 1s greater than the estimated recoverable amount, which 1s the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value 1n use, and are calculated with reference to future discounted cash flows that the asset 15 expected to generate when
considered as part of a cash-generating unit

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within operating expenses within the income statement

2.12 Investment property

Property that is held for leng-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that s not occupied by the
Group, 15 classified as investment property

Investment property 1s inittally measured at cost (comprising the purchase price, after deducting discounts and
rebates, and any directly attributable costs) and 1s subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
provision for impairment Investment property 1s depreciated using the straight-line method over 75 years

Investment properties are reviewed for impairment when there 1s a tnggering event such as a decline n the property
market An impairment charge 1s recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount
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2.13 Goodwill
a) Imtial recognition

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired substidiary at the date of acquisition

b) Impairment

Management considers there to be one matenal cash generating umt for the purposes of annual impairment review
being the operation of a professional football club

Goodwill 1s not subject 10 amortization and 1s tested annually for impairment or more frequently 1f events or changes
n circumstances indicate a potential impairment  An imparrment loss 1s recognised in the income statement when the
carrying value of goodwill exceeds 1ts recoverable amount Its recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use

2.14 Players’ registrations and football staff remuneration
a) Remuneration

Remuneration 1s charged to operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the contract perieds based on the
amount payable to players and other football staff for that period Any performance bonuses are recogmised when the
Company considers that 1t 1s probable that the condition related to the payment will be achieved

Signing-on fees are typically paid to players in equal annual instalments over the term of the player’s contract
Instalments are paid at or near the beginning of each financial year and recognised as prepayments within trade and other
receivables They are subsequently charged 10 the income siatement (as operating expenses) on a straight-hne basis over the
financial year Signing-on fees paid form part of cash flows from operating activities

Loyalty fees are bonuses which are paid to players either at the beginning of a renewed contract or 1n instalments
over the term of their contract in recogmtion for either past or future performance Loyalty bonuses for past service are
typically paid 1n a lump sum amount upon renewal of a player’s contract These loyalty bonuses require no future service and
are not subject to any claw-back provisions were the player to subsequently leave the club during their new contract term
They are expensed once the Company has a present tegal or constructive obligation to make the payment, which arises when
the new contract 1s agreed Loyalty bonuses for on-going service are typically paid in equal annual instalments over the term
of the player’s contract These are paid at the beginning of each financial year and the related charge 1s recognised within
operating expenses 1n the iIncome statement on a strarght-line basis over that period

b) Imtial recogmtion

The costs associated with the acquisition of players’ registrations are capitalized at the fair value of the consideration
payable Costs include transfer fees, FAPL levy fees, agents’ fees incurred by the club and other directly attributable costs
Costs also include the fair value of any contingent consideration, which 1s pnmanly payable to the player’s former club (with
associated levy fees payable to the FAPL), once payment becomes probable Subsequent reassessments of the amount of
contingent consideration payable are also included in the cost of the player’s registration The estimate of the fair value of the
conungent consideration payable requires management to assess the likelihood of specific performance conditions being met
which would tngger the payment of the contingent consideration This assessment 1s carried out on an individual player basis
The additional amount of contingent consideration potentially payable, in excess of the amounts included in the cost of
players’ registrations, 1s disclosed in note 30 3 Costs are fully amortized using the straight-line method over the period
covered by the player’s contract

c) Renegotiation

Where a playing contract 1s extended, any costs associated with securing the extension are added to the unamortuized
balance (at the date of the amendment) and the revised book value 1s amortized over the remaining revised contract hfe
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d) Dsposals

Assets available for sale (pnncipally player registrations) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying
value 15 expected to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale 1s considered to be highly probable Highly
probable i1s defined as betng actively marketed by the club, with unconditional offers having been receirved prior to a penod
end These assets would be stated at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

Gauns and losses on disposal of players’ registrations are determined by companng the fair value of the
consideration receivable, net of any transaction costs, with the carrying amount and are recogmsed separately 1n the income
staternent within profit on disposal of players’ registrations Where a part of the consideration recervable 1s contingent on
specified performance conditions, this amount 1s recogmised n the income statement on the date the conditions are met

€) Impairment

Management does not consider that it 1s possible to determine the value in use of an individual football player in
1solation as that player (unless via a sale or insurance recovery) cannot generate cash flows on his own Whilst management
does not consider any mdividual player can be separated from the single cash generating umt (“CGU”), beng the operations
of the Group as a whole, there may be certain circumstances where a player 1s taken out of the CGU, when 1t becomes clear
that they will not be available to play agam for the club, for example, a player sustaining a career threatening injury If such
circumstances were to anse, the carrying value of the player would be assessed against the Group’s best estimate of the
player’s fair value less any costs to sell and an impairment charge made in operating expenses reflecting any loss anising

2.15 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are mitially recognized at fair value on the date a denvative contract 1s entered inte and are subsequently
re-measured at theur fair value The method of recogmsing the resulting gain or ioss depends on whether the derivative 1s
designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the 1item bemng hedged The Group designates certain denivatives
as hedges of cash flows (cash flow hedge)

For designated hedges refating to future years” revenue the Group has documented, at the inception of the
transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged tems as well as 1ts nsk management objective and
strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions The Group also documents 11s assessment, both at hedge inception and on an
on-going basis, of whether the denvatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes 1n
the cash flows of the hedged item

The fair values of various denvative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed 1in note 17 Movements on
the hedging reserve in other comprehensive income are shown n the statement of changes 1n equity The full fair value of a
hedging denvative 1s classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining matunty of the hedged item 1s more
than 12 months, and as a current asset or habihty when the remaining matunty of the hedged item 1s less than 12 menths

The effective portion of changes 1n the fair value of dernivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
15 recogmsed n other comprehensive income The gain or loss relating to any effective portion 1s recognised immedately
n the income statement within operating expenses Amounts previcusly recogmsed in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to the income statement an the penods when the hedged item 1s recogmsed in the
mncome statement, 1n the same line of the income statement as the recogmsed hedged item When a hedging instrument
expires or 1s sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the critena for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing 1n
equity at that ime remains in equity and 1s recogntsed when the hedged item 1s ultimately recognised in the income
statement When a forecast transaction 15 no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported 1n equity
1s immediately transferred to the income statement within operating expenses

2.16 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recogmzed inthally at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortized cost less provision

for imparrment If collection ts expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets [f not, they are presented as
non-current assets
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A provision for impairment of trade receivables 1s established when there 1s objective evidence that the receivable 15 |
mmpaired The amount of impairment loss 1s measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and ’
the present value of the estimated future cash flows ansing on the trade receivable Significant financial difficulties of the
customer, probability that the customer will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization, and default or delinquency in
payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired

The carrying amount of the asset 1s reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss1s
recogmsed 1n the income statement within operating expenses When a trade receivable 1s uncollectible, 1t 1s wnitten off
against the allowance account for trade receivables Subsequent recovenes of amounts previously written off are credited
against ‘operating expenses’ in the income statement

Other receivables compnse loans to related parties (see note 33 1) and other miscellaneous receivables, which are
recognised 1nitially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost If collection 1s expected 1n one year or less,
they are classified as current assets If not, they are presented as non-current assets

217 Cash and cash equmvalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and, 1f applicable, other short-term
highly liquid investments with onginal maturities of three months or less

2.18 Share capital and reserves

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of new shares are shown
n equity as a deduction from the proceeds of the 1ssue

The merger reserve arose as a result of the reorganization transactions described 1n note 1 1 and represents the
difference between the equity of the acquired company (Red Football Shareholder Limited) and the investment by the
acquining company (Manchester Umted plc)

The hedging reserve 1s used to reflect the effective portion of changes 1n the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services which have been acquired in the commercial operations
of the Group Amounts payable are classified as current habilities «f payment is due within one year or less If not they are
presented as non-current habilities

Trade payables are recogmzed imtially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recogmzed mmtially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently
carrted at amortized cost, any differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 15
recognised 1n the income statement over the penod of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method

Finance costs are recogmsed using the effective interest rate method

Interest payments or receipts are treated as cash flows from operating activities
221 Provisions

Prowvisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nisks specific to the

obhgatton The increase in the provision due to passage of ime 1s recogmised as a finance cost

Provision 1s made for the anticipated net costs of onerous leases on non-trading properties
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3 Cnitical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements 1n conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain cntical accounting
Judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilities, revenues and expenses,
which are not readily apparent from other sources It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies The estimates and assumptions used are based on histoncal experience and any
other factors that are considered to be relevant Actual results may differ from these estimates The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consohdated financial
statements, are constdered to be

a) Goodwill

The Group annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment or more frequently 1f events or changes 1n
circumstances indicate a potential impairment, 1n accordance with its accounting policy The recoverable amounts of
cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations These calculations require the use of
estimates, both 1n armving at the expected future cash flows and the apphication of a suitable discount rate 1n order to
calcuiate the present value of these flows These calculations have been carnied out in accordance with the assumptions set
out tn note 14

b) Players’ registrations

The costs associated with the acquisition of players’ registrattons are capitalized at the fair value of the consideration
payable, including an estimate of the fair value of any contingent consideration  Subsequent reassessments of the amount of
contingent constderation payable are also included in the cost of the player’s registrauon The estimate of the fair value of the
contingent consideration payable requires management 1o assess the likelihood of specific performance conditions being met
which would tnigger the payment of the contingent consideration This assessment 15 carried out on an individual player basis
A provision of £0 4 million relating to this contingent consideration has been recogmsed on the balance sheet as of 30 June
2013 The maximum additional amount that could be payable as of that date 1s disclosed in note 30 3

The Group will perform an impairment review on intangible assets, including player registrations, 1f adverse events
indicate that the amortized carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable Whilst no individual player can be separated
frem the single cash generating umit (“CGU™), being the operations of the Group as a whole, there may be certain !
circumstances where a player 1s taken out of the CGU, for example a player being excluded from the First Team due to
sustaining a career threateming 1jury If such circumstances were to anse, the carryig value of the player would be assessed
against the Group’s best estimate of the player’s fair value less any costs to sell

c) Revenue recognition—estimates 1n certain commercial contracts

iIn addition to a minumum guarantee, certain commercial contracts imclude additional profit share arrangements
based on cumulative profits earned from the exploitation of the Manchester United brand However, under the terms of one
key commercial agreement, such surplus profits may be recouped by the sponsor against fulure mimimum guarantees should
the future financial performance result in profits below the mimimum guarantee

Any additional profit share on such arrangements is only recognised when a reliable estimate of the future
performance of the contract can be obtained and only to the extent that the revenue 1s considered probable

In assessing whether any addttional profit share 15 probable and should therefore be recognised, management carry
out regular reviews of the contracts and firture financial forecasts, having regard to the underlying nisk factors such as team

performance and general economic conditions

Additional profit share recognised 1n the year ended 30 June 2013 amounted to £12 8 million, cumulative |
£30 1 million (2012 £8 4 millien, cumulative £17 3 million, 2011 £5 7 million, cumulative £8 9 million) |

d) Revenue recogmtion—commercial contracts wath multiple elements
In respect of contracts with multiple elements, the Group allocates the total consideration receivable to each

separately 1dent:fiable element based on their relative fair values, and then recogmzes the allocated revenue on a straight-line
basis over the relevant period of each element
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Revenue relating to commercial contracts with multiple elements recognized n the year ended 30 June 2013
amounted to £11 9 mulhion (2012 £ml)

€) Recognstion of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognmized only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that the associated deductions will be
available for use against future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable profit available against which the
temporary differences can be utihzed, provided the asset can be reliably quantified In estimating future taxable profit,
management use “base case” approved forecasts which incorporate a number of assumptions, including a prudent level of
future uncontracted revenue in the forecast period In amving at a judgment 1n relation to the recogmtion of deferred tax
assets, management considers the regulations applicable to tax and advice on their interpretation  Future taxable income may
be higher or lower than estimates made when detenmining whether 1t 1s appropnate to record a tax asset and the amount to be
recorded Furthermore, changes in the legislative framework or applicable tax case law may result 1n management reassessing
the recogmtion of deferred tax assets 1n future peneds

In the year ended 30 June 2013 the Group has recognized a deferred tax asset of £31,945,000 (2012 £nul) relating to
a ‘step-up’ n the US tax base ansing as a result of the reorganization transactions related to the IPO This amount represents
management’s current best estirate of the portion of the US tax deductions relating to the ‘step-up’ that 1t 1s probable will be
realized This estimate ts based on various factors including estimated valuations and allocattons As a result any change 1n
these estimated valuations and allocations would have an impact on the financial statements See notes 9 and 26 for further
details

4 Segment information

The principal activity of the Group s the operation of a professional football club All of the activities of the Group
support the operation of the football club and the success of the first team 1s critical o the on-going development of the
Group Consequently the Chief Operating Decision Maker regards the Group as operating in one material segment, being the
operation of a professional football club

Revenue, all of which anses within the Umited Kingdom from the Group’s pnincipal activity, can be analysed into 1ts
three main components as follows

2013 2012 2011

£'000 £°000 £000
Commercial 152,441 117,611 103,369
Broadcasting 101,625 103,991 117,249
Matchday 109,123 98,718 110,823

363,189 320,320 331,441

All non-current assets, other than US deferred tax assets, are held within the United Kingdom

Revenue derived from entities accounting for more than 10% of revenue 1n either 2013, 2012 or 2011 were as
follows

2013 2012 2011
£000 £°000 £000
F A Premier League 63,977 63,859 63,409
Nike 38,609 33,787 31,269
UEFA <10% 34,082 51,129
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S Operating expenses

2013 2012 2011

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee benefit expense (note 8) (180,523) (161,688) (152,915)
Operating lease costs (2,760) (2,186) (1,327)

Auditors’ remuneration audit of parent company and consolidated financial

statements amn (16) (16)
Auditors’ remuneration audit of the Company’s subsidianes 329) (76) (76)
Aundhitors’ remuneration tax compliance services (282) 277 (224)
Auditors’ remuneration other services (166) C) —
Exchange gains/(losses} 570 (445) 394
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 — 46
Depreciation—property, plant and equipment (note 12) (7,650) (7,373)  (6,902)
Depreciation—investment property (note 13) (119) (105) (87
Other operating expenses (71,137) (63,979) (67,634)
Amortization of players’ registrations (note 15) (41,714) (38,262) (39,245)
Exceptional items (note 6} (6,217) (10,728)  (4,667)
(310,337) (285,139) (272,653)

In addition to the auditors’ remuneration charges disclosed above are amounts of £679,000 (2012 £1,975,000, 2011
£625,000) relating to tax planning advice, general assurance and other advice in connection with a public offer of shares and
either charged as exceptional items when they are not dtrectly attnibutable to the 1ssue of new shares (see note 6) or offset
against share premium when they are directly attnibutable to the 1ssue of new shares

6 Exceptional 1tems

2013 2012 2011

£'000 £'000 £'000
Professional adviser fees relating to pubhc offer of shares (3,816) (8,936) (2,654)
Compensation paid to coaching staff on loss of office (2,401) — -—
Football League pension scheme deficit (note 31) — (1,792) —
Impairment—investment property (note 13) — (2,013)

(6217) (10,728)  (4,667)

Professional adviser fees relating to a public offer of shares are recogmsed as an expense when they are not directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or when a particular offer 1s ne longer being pursued The fees include £543,000 (2012
£1,755,000, 2011 £625,000) relanng to services provided by the Group’s auditors

Compensation paid to coaching staff on loss of office arose following the appointment of a new team manager
The Football League pension scheme deficit reflects the present value of the additional contributions the Group 13
expected to pay to make good the increased deficit of the scheme as per the latest actuanal valuation at 31 August 2011 (see

note 31 for further details)

The mvestment property impairment charges represent reductions 1n the market value of investment properties held
by the Group, based on external valuations undertaken
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7 Net finance costs

Interest payable on bank loans, overdrafts and deferred element of terminated interest rate

swap
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on US dollar denominated bank accounts

Interest payable on secured term loan, senior secured notes and secured semor facilities

Interest payable on secured payment in kind loan

Amortization of issue discount, debt finance and debt 1ssue costs on secured term loan,

semor secured notes and secured payment 1n kind loan
Premium on repurchase of senior secured notes {note 24)

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on US dollar denominated secured term loan and semor

secured notes (note 32)

Unwinding of discount factors relating to enerous lease provision (note 25) and player

transfer fees
Accelerated amortization of debt 1ssue costs on repaid payment in kind loan
Fair value movements on denvative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps
Total finance costs
Total finance income—nterest recervable
Net finance costs

8 Employees

8.1 Employee benefit expense and average number of people employed

The average number of employees during the year, including directors, was as follows

Average number of employees
Football—players
Football—techmical and coaching
Commerctal

Media

Admimstration and other
Average number of employees

2013

2013 2012 2011
£°000 £000 £000
(3,048) (3,648) (4,167)
(615) 70 (452)
(32,299) (36,448) (41,778)
— — (14,314)
(11,836) (2,290) (1,996)
(21,977 (2,180) (3,511)
(2,501) (5,191) 16414
(154  (347)  (93)
- —  (2,632)
— —  (563)
348 (281) 132
(72,082) (50,315) (52,960)
1,275 779 1,710
(70,807) (49,536) (51,250)

2012 2011

Number Number Number

82 79 71
76 80 70
125 76 53
69 73 63
391 388 369
743 696 628

The Group also employs approximately 2,395 temporary staff on match days (2012 2,376, 2011 2,191), the costs

of which are included in employee costs below

Particulars of employee costs are as shown below

2013 2012 2011
£°000 £°000 £000
Wages and salanes {including bonuses) (158,030) (142,699) (135,568)
Share-based payments (note 22) (1,390) — —
Social security costs {19,305) (17,567) {15,919}
Other pension costs—defined contribution
(note 31) (1,798) (1,422) (1,428)
(180,523) {161,688) (152,915)

Details of the pension arrangements offered by the Company and the Group are disclosed in note 31
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8.2 Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company and executive directors and
officers of the Group’s main operating company, Manchester United Limited The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services, which 15 included in the employee costs table above, 1s shown below

2013 2012 2011
£000 £000 £000

Salaries and other short-term employee

benefits (including bonuses) (7,041) (6,947) (5,032)
Share-based payments (1,390) — —
Post-employment benefits {168) (117) (289)

(8,599) (7,064) (5,321)
9 Tax
2013 2012 2011
£'000 £'000 £000
Current tax:
Current tax on loss/(profit) for the year —_ — (4,338)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1) 1,276 — —
Foreign tax (491) (125) (129)
Total current tax credit/(expense) 785 (125) (4,467)
Deferred tax:
US deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences (8,242) — —
Recogmition of additional US tax base(2) 153,317 — —
Total US deferred tax credit (note 26) 145,075 — —
UK deferred tax
Onigination and reversal of temporary differences 6,657 3,719 3,426
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1}) 1,662 3,445 (2,150)
Impact of change 1n UK corporation tax rate 1,033 3,778 4,217
Recognition of previously unrecognized deferred tax asset(3) — 17,160 —
Total UK deferred tax credit (note 26) 9,352 28,102 5,453
Total deferred tax credit 154,427 28,102 5453
Total tax credit 155,212 27,977 086
A reconcihation of the total tax credit 1s as follows
2013 2012 2011
£'000 £000 £000

Loss/(profit) before tax 8,793 4,664 (12,004)

Loss/(profit) before tax multiplhied by weighted average US corporate
tax rate of 35 0% (2012 weighted average UK corporate tax rate of

25 5%, 2011 weighted average UK corporate tax rate of 27 5%) 3,078 1,189 (3,301)
Tax effects of
Foreign tax —  (125) (129)
Adjustment 1n respect of previous years(1) 2,938 3,445 (2,190)
Dufference in tax rates on non US operations 101 — —
Re-measurement of deferred tax—change 1n UK corporate tax rate — 3,778 4,217
Utihization of tax losses — 5,619 5,260
Recognition of additional US tax base(2) 153,317 — —
Recogmition of previously unrecogmzed deferred tax asset(3) — 17,160 —
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes(4) (4,222) (3,089) (2,871)
Total tax credit 155,212 27,977 986
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Following the reorganization transactions, described more fully in note | 1, the Group became subject to US tax As

such the reconciliauon of the total tax credit for the year ended 30 June 2013 1s based on the US corporate tax rate for the
year of 35%

(N

2

()

()

9 Tax

The £2,938,000 tax credit in 2013 15 prnimarily due to the recognition of a further UK deferred tax asset relating to
the pretnium ansing on the repurchase of sentor secured notes in the prior year The £3,445,000 tax credit in 201215
due to the reassessment of the position relating to a previous rolled over gain on player disposal The £2,190,000
additional tax charged in 2011 was due to an historic imbalance in tax wnitten down values and the adjustment
brought the 2011 carmed forward position into line with the most recent finalized tax computations

The £153,317,000 tax credit in 2013 relating to the recognition of additional US tax base comprises three elements,
as follows

*  As aresult of the reorgamzation transactions related to the 1PO, the Company inhenited the £96,114,000 carmed
forward US tax bases of Red Football Limited Partnership, which the Group will benefit from by way of future
US tax deductions

*  Furthermore, the reorganization resulted 1n additional US tax bases or ‘step-up’ that 1s currently expected to
result in the avanlability of further US tax deductions The resulting increase in tax bases is currently estimated
to be approximately $350 million (£225 mulhon) gross, although not all of this 1s expected to result in increased
tax deductions At the ime of prepanng these financial statements, the deducuible element of the ‘step-up’ had
not yet been finalized and consequently the £31,945,000 recognized as a deferred tax asset with respect to the
‘step-up’ reflects management’s current best estimate of the portion that 1t 1s probable will be realized The
Group expects to finalize the position by the end of the fiscal 2014

+ Inaddition, the Group 1s expected to utihize future UK taxes paid as foreign tax credits in the US, and as such
can ‘murror’ the existing UK net deferred tax hability as a deferred tax asset in the US As the UK deferred tax
hability unwinds, there will be UK taxable income which will result 1n a US foreign tax credit The benefit of
the additional expected foreign tax credits results in a deferred tax asset of £25,258,000

These amounts have been recognized on the basis that 11 1s probable that there will be suffictent taxable
profits in the future to utilize the future US tax deductions

In 2012 management considered the availabihity and utilization of brought forward UK tax losses during the year
and accordingly recogmzed a UK deferred tax asset 1n respect of previously unrecogmzed UK tax losses amounting
to £17,160,000

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes typically comprise non- qualifying depreciation and routine, recurnng
disallowable expenses such as entertaming Additional one off expenses not allowable for tax purposes in 2013
relates to 2013 losses that arose immediately prior to the Group being acquired by Manchester United plc These
losses are not allowable for US tax purposes but are allowable for UK tax purposes The additional tax charge in
2012 of £3,089,000 (2011 £2,871,000) mainly relates to professional adviser fees relating 10 a proposed public offer
of shares (see note 6), and the premium paid on repurchase of semor secured notes (see note 24)

In addition to the amount credited to the income statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been

recogmzed directly 1n other comprehensive income

F-24




2013 2012 2011

Before After Before After Before After
tax Tax tax tax Tax tax 1ax Tax tax
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £ 000 £°000 £000 £'000

Arising on income and expenses recognized
in other comprehensive income
Movements 1n fair value of financial

instruments treated as cash flow hedges (646) 211 (435) 1,506 (374) 1,132 (630) 164  (466)
Exchange (loss)/gai on translation of

overseas subsichary (88) — (88) 229 — 229  (263) —  (265)
Other comprehensive (loss)income (734) 211 (523) 1,735 (374) 1,361 (895) 164 (731)
Deferred tax (note 26) — 211 — — (374 — — 164 —

10 Earmings per share

Basic earmings per share s calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year, as adjusted for the reorganization transactions described 1n
note 1 1 The Company did not have any dilutive shares dunng the year (2012 none, 2011 none)

Profit attnbutable to owners of the parent (£°000)

Class A ordinary shares (thousands)

Class B ordinary shares (thousands)

Basic earnings per share (pounds sterling)}
Dhluted earnings per share (pounds sterhing)}

11 Dividends

2013 2012 2011
146,250 22,986 12,649
38,895 31,353 31,353
124,000 124000 124,000
090 015 008
090 015 008

An intenim dividend of £ml (2012 £10 0 mullion, 2011 £ml) has been paid by the Company during the year The

related amount of dividend per ordinary share for the year was £l (2012 £0 06!, 2011 £nl) The directors are not

proposing to pay a final dividend relating to the year ended 30 June 2013 (2012 £mi, 2011 £n1)

(

12 Property, plant and equipment

Caost

At 1 July 2011
Additions
Disposals

At 30 June 2012

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2011
Charge for year
Dispesals

At 30 June 2012
Net book amount
At 30 June 2012

Net book amount
At 1 July 2011

Cost
At 1 July 2012
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As adjusted retrospectively to reflect the reorganization transactions described 1n note 1 1

Frechold Plant and Fixtures

property machinery and fithngs Total

£7000 £°000 £7000 £:000
255,326 34,329 22,988 312,643
9,179 2,411 3,109 14,699
— (895) (553)  (1,448)
264,505 35,845 25,544  325,8%4
26,924 30,428 14,751 72,103
3,306 1,671 2,396 7,373
— (895) (553) __(1,448)
30,230 31,204 16,594 78,028
234,275 4,641 8,950 247866
228,402 3,901 8,237 240,540
264,505 35,845 25,544 325,894




Frechold Flant and Fixtures

property machinery and fittings Total
£°000 £000 £000 £000

Additions 5,552 2,604 4,438 12,594
Disposals — (2,272) (620) (2,892)
At 30 June 2013 270,057 36,177 29,362 335,596
Accumulated depreciation
At ] July 2012 30,230 31,204 16,594 78,028
Charge for year 3,326 1,814 2,510 7,650
Disposals — (2,270) (620)  (2,890)
At 30 June 2013 33,556 30,748 18,484 82,788
Net book amount
At 30 June 2013 236,501 5,429 10,878 252,808

Freehold property primarily compnses the Qld Trafford stadium and the Aon Training Complex

Property, plant and equipment with a net book amount of £252,482,000 (2012 £247,317,000) has been pledged to
secure the secured term loan and senior secured notes borrowings of the Group (see note 24)

Capital commutments at the reporting date are disclosed in note 30 2

13 Investment property

£000
Cost
At 1 July 2011 11,762
Additions 7,364
At 30 June 2012 19,126
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2011 4,824
Charge for the year 105
At 30 June 2012 4,929
Net book amount
At 30 June 2012 14,197
Net book amount
At 1 July 2011 6,938
Cost
At 1 July 2012 19,126
Additions 2
At 30 Jupe 2013 19,128
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2012 4,925
Charge for the year 119
At 30 June 2013 5,048
Net book amount
At 30 June 2013 14,080

Investment properties were externally valued as at 30 June 2013 in accordance with UK practice statements
contatned within the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Valuations Standards, 6th edition This valuation supported the
carrying amount as of 30 June 2013 and consequently there were no changes to the net book amount

The property rental revenue earned by the Group from its investment property amounted to £1,126,000 (2012

£929,000, 2011 £1,019,000) Direct operating expenses ansing on investment property, all of which generated rental
income, tn the year amounted to £390,000 (2012 £302,000, 201t £187,000)
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Investment property with a net book amount of £6,574,000 (2012 £6,637,000) has been pledged to secure the
secured bank lean borrowings of the Group (see note 24)

As of 30 June 2013, the Group had no¢ contractual obhigations to purchase, construct or develop 1nvestment propeny
(2012 £ml) As of 30 June 2013, the Group had no matenal contractual ebligations for repairs, maintenance or enhancements
to investment property (2012 not matenal)

14 Goodwill
2013 2012
£7000 £000
Cost and net book amount at the beginning and end of the year 421,453 421,453

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill arose largely in relation to the Group’s acquisttion of Manchester Umted Limited 1n 2005 An impairment
test has been performed on the carrying value of goodwll based on value-in-use calculations

The value-in-use calculations have used pre-tax cash flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by
management covening a five year period The budgets are based on past expenence and 1dentified imtiatives in respect of
revenues, variable and fixed costs, player and capital expenditure and working capital assumpttons For each accounting
period, cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated using a terminal growth rate of 2 5% (2012 2 5%), which
does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the UK economy 1 which the cash generating unit operates

The other key assumptions used in the value in use calculations for each period are the pre-tax discount rate, which
has been determined at 11 14% (2012 10 51%) for each penod, and certain assumptions around progressicn in domestic and
Eurgpean cup competitions, notably the UEFA Champions League

Management determined budgeted revenue growth based on histonic performance and 1ts expectations of market
development The discount rates are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks relating to the business

The following sensitivities were applied to the value 1n use calculations

= increase the pre-tax discount rate by 3% (which represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
increase in the discount rate),

+  failure to qualify for the UEFA Champions League once every five seasons

In each of these scenarios the estimated recoverable amount substantially exceeds the carrying value for the cash
generating unit and accordingly no impairment was 1dentified

Having assessed the future anticipated cash flows, management believes that any reasonably possible changes in key
assumptions would not result 1n an impairment of goodwll

15 Players® registrations

£000

Cost

At 1 July 2011 293,370
Additions 23,247
Disposals (5,800)
At 30 June 2012 306,817
Accumulated amortization

At 1 July 2011 163,661
Charge for year 38,262
Disposals (7,505)
At 30 June 2012 . 194,418

Net book amount
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At 30 June 2012

Net book amount
At 1 July 2011

Cost

At 1 July 2012
Addions
Disposals

At 30 June 2013
Accumulated amortization
At 1 July 2012
Charge for year
Disposals

At 30 June 2013
Net book amount
At 30 June 2013

£1000
112,399

129,709

(40,247)
317,745

(38,334)
197,798

119,947

306,817
51,175

194,418
41,714

The unamortized balance of existing players” registrations as of 30 June 2013 was £119 9 milhon, of which
£44 1 mullion 1s expected to be amortized 1n the year ended 30 June 2014 The remaining balance 1s expected to be amortized
over the four years to 30 June 2018 This does not take 1into account player additions after 30 June 2013, which would have
the effect of increasing the amortization expense 1n future penods, nor does 1t constder disposals subsequent to 30 June 2013,
which would have the effect of decreasing future amortization charges Furthermore, any contract renegotiations would also

mmpact future charges

16 Financial instruments by category

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, and their carrying values, 1s set out in the

following table

2013 2012
Note _ £'000 £'000

Financial assets
Designated and effective as hedging instruments
Dertvative financial instruments 17 260 876
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financtal instruments 17 — 91
Leans and recervables
Trade and other recervables excluding prepayments(1) 18 58,181 66,538
Cash and cash equivalents 20 94,433 70,603
Total financial assets 152,874 138,108
Financial habilities
Designated and effective as hedging instruments
Denvative financial instruments 17 29 —
At fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments 17 1,337 1,685
Other financial habilities
Trade and other payables excluding social secunity and other

taxes(2) 23 81,143 90,306
Botrowings 24 389,233 436,875
Total financia) lrabilittes 471,742 528,866
(1 Prepayments are excluded from the trade and other receivables balance, as this analysis 1s required

only for financial instruments

(2) Social secunty and other taxes are excluded from the trade and other payables balance, as this

analysis 1s required only for financial instruments
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The fair value of financial instruments equals their carrying amount apart from the semor secured noles component
of borrowings The camrying amount and fair value of the semior secured notes are as follows

Carrying amount Fair value

2013 2012 2013 2012

£7000 £7000 £000 £000
Senior secured notes 177,489 428,413 189,026 463,240
Unamortized 1ssue discount and debt finance costs (5,992) (17,828) — —

171,497 410,585 189,026 463,240

The fair value of the senior secured notes 1s calculated based on the market value of the traded notes as at the

reporting date

17 Denivative financial instruments

Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging 1nstruments
carned at fair value*

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss*

Interest rate swaps

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Less non-current portion
Financial instruments carned at fair value through profit or loss:
Interest rate swaps

Non-current denvative financial instruments

Current denvative financial instruments

013 2012
Assets Liahihties Assets Liabilities
£000 £7000 £000 £'000
260 (29) 876 —_
— (1,337 — (1,685)
—_ _ 91 _
260 (1,366) G967 (1,685)
—  (1,337) — (1,685
—  (1,337) — (1,685
260 (29) 967 —

The meffective portion recogrused 1n profit or loss that anises from cash flow hedges amounts to £ml (2012 £ml)

Further detals of denivative financial instruments are provided tn note 32

18 Trade and other receivables

Trade recervables

Less provision for impairment of trade receivables
Net trade receivables

Other receivables

Accrued revenue

Prepayments

Less non-current portion
Trade recevables

Non-current trade and other receivables
Current trade and other receivables

2013 2012

£ 000 £000
39,530 51,425
(6,055)  (2,586)
33,475 48,839
85 1,180
24621 16,519
58,181 66,538
12,021 10,625
70202 77,163
1,583 3,000
1,583 3,000
68,619 74,163

Net trade recervables include transfer fees receivable from other football clubs of £7,913,000 (2012 £6,879,000) of
which £1,583,000 (2012 £3,000,000) 1s receivable after more than one year Net trade receivables also include £15,712,000
(2012 £35,637,000) of deferred revenue that 1s contractually payable to the Group, but recorded in advance of the earmings
process, with corresponding amounts recorded as current deferred revenue hablities

F-29




19 Tax receivable

2013 2012

£7000 £7000
Current tax receivable _ 2,500
Tax receivable — 2,500

The £2,500,000 tax receivable related to tax withheld at 25% of the loans made to directors during 2009 under s455
CTA 2019 The corresponding hability was paid on | Apnl 2010 and was recoverable upon repayment of the directors’
loans The loans were repard on 25 Apnl 2012

20 Cash and cash equivalents

2013 2012
£000 1000
Cash at bank and 1n hand 94,433 70,603

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows are as above
21 Share capital

Number of shares  Ordinary shares

{thousands) £'000

At 1 July 2011 — —
Issue of shares (note 1 1) 155,353 50
At 30 June 2012 155,353 50
Issue of shares (note 1 2) 8,333 2
Emplovee share-based compensation awards—issue of

shares (see below) 140 —
At 30 June 2013 163,826 52

Following the reorgamzation transactions, described more fully in note 1 1, the Company has two classes of
ordinary shares outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares The rights of the holders of Class A
ordinary shares and Class B ordinary shares are 1dentical, except with respect to voting and conversion Each Class A
ordinary share 1s entitled to one vote per share and 1s not convertible into any other shares Each Class B ordinary share 15
entitled to £0 votes per share and 15 convertible into one Class A ordinary share at any tine In addition, Class B ordinary
shares will automatically convert into Class A ordsnary shares upon cenain transfers and other events, including upon the
date when holders of all Class B ordinary shares cease to hold Class B ordinary shares representing, in the aggregate, at least
10% of the total number of Class A and Class B ordinary shares outstanding For special resolutions (which are required for
certain important matters including mergers and changes to the Company’s goverming documents}), which require the vote of
two-thirds of the votes cast, at any tme that Class B ordinary shares remain outstanding, the voting power permitted to be
exercised by the holders of the Class B ordinary shares will be weighted such that the Class B ordinary shares shall represent,
in the aggregate, 67% of the voting power of all shareholders

The Company had 155,352,366 shares it 1ssue immediately after the reorgamzation transactions and before the 1ssue
of new shares pursuant to the imitial public offering (“IPO”) On 10 August 2012, the Company 1ssued a further 8,333,334
ordinary shares at an 1ssue price of $14 00 per share and histed such shares on the New York Stock Exchange

On 15 August 2012 certain directors and members of our executive management were awarded newly 1ssued shares,
pursuant to our Equity Plan, as a reward for their efforts 1n connection with the IPO and to align their interests with our
sharehelders going forward The total number of newly 1ssued shares awarded was 139,895 Class A ordinary shares These
shares are subject to varying vesting schedules over a three year penod

As of 30 June 2013, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 39,825,595 Class A ordinary shares and
124,000,000 Class B ordinary shares
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22 Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based award plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Award Plan (the *Equity Plan™),
estabhshed in 2012 Under the Equity Plan, 16,000,000 shares of our Class A ordinary shares have inmally been reserved for
1ssuance pursuant to a varicty of share-based awards, inciuding share options, share appreciation rights, or SARs, restrnicted
share awards, restricted share unit awards, deferred share awards, deferred share unit awards, dividend equivalent awards,
share payment awards and other share-based awards Of these reserved shares, 15,860,105 reman available for 1ssuance

During the year ended 30 June 2013 certain directors and members of executive management were awarded newly
1ssued Class A ordinary shares, pursuant to the Equity Plan These shares are subject to varying vesting schedules over a
three year period The fair value of these shares was the quoted market price on the award date It 1s assumed that no dividend
will be paid for the foreseeable future and that none of the employees will leave the Group before the end of the three year
vesting penod The Company may choose whether to settle the awards wholly 1n shares or reduce the number of shares
awarded by a value equal 10 the recipient’s liability to any imcome tax and social secunty contributions that would anse if all
the shares due to vest had vested Accordingly the awards may be either equity-settled or cash-settled

Details of the share awards outstanding during the year are as follows

TIPO Bonus
Number of Class A
ordimary shares
QOutstanding at beginning of the year —

Awarded during the year 139,895
Vested during the year (27,979
QOutstanding at the end of the year 111,916
Fair value $ $14 05
Fair value £ £8 96

The [PO Bonus shares were awarded as a reward for efforts in connection with the initial public offening and to
align interests with the Company’s shareholders going forward

During the year ended 30 June 2013 certain directors and members of executive management also became eligible to
receive annual share-based awards pursuant to the Equity Plan (the “LTIP Awards™) The amount of the LTIP Awards 15
dependent on individual and Group performance over the financial year and 1s subject to the approval of the board of
directors and the remuneration committee Management has estimated the likely amount of these awards and their fair value
The awards are subject to a four year vesting penod comprising a one year performance peniod and a three year service
period As of the date these financial statements were approved for issue the share awards had yet to be formally approved by
the board of directors and the remuneration commuttee and consequently related new Class A ordinary shares have yet to be
1ssued

For the year ended 30 June 2013 the Group recognized total expenses related to equity-settled share-based payment
transacuons of £832,000 (2012 £n1), 2011 £ml) and total expenses related to cash- settled share-based payment transactions
of £558,000 (2012 £ml, 2011 £ml)

23 Trade and other payables

2013 2012
£ 000 £°000
Trade payables 41,681 34,013
Other payables 17,764 22,070
Accrued expenses 21,698 34,223
81,143 90,306
Social secunty and other taxes 15,721 15,663
96,864 165,969
Less non-current portion
Trade payables 7,667 6,230
Other payables 10,746 16,075
Non-current trade and other payables 18,413 22,305
Current trade and other payables 78,451 83,664

F-31




Trade payables nclude transfer fees and other associated costs in relation to the acquisition of players’ registrations
of £33,637,000 (2012 £28,877,000) of which £7.667,000 (2012 £6,230,000)1s due after more than one year

Other payables include the deferred element of a terminated interest rate swap (related to the former secured semor
facihities) of £13,671,000 (2012 £18,282,000) of which £8,555,000 (2012 £13,655,000) 15 due after more than one year
This 1s being repaid to the bank counterparties over 6 years from 2010 and accrues interest at an effective interest rate of
513%

24 Borrowings

2013 2012
£'000 £1000
Non-current:
Secured term loan 199,889 —
Senior secured notes . 171,497 410,585
Secured bank loan 6,088 6,469
Other borrowings — 4,193
377,474 421,247
Current:
Secured term loan 5,125 —
Secured bank loan 351 359
Other borrowings —_ 250
Accrued interest on secured term loan and senor secured notes 6,253 15,019
11,759 15,628
Total borrowings 389,233 436,875
The secured term loan of £205,014,000 (2012 £ml) compnises
a) a loan of £206,041,000 (2012 £ml), net of unamortized 1ssue costs amounting to £3,149,600 (2012 £nil),

translated at the historic exchange rate The outstanding principal amount of the loan 1s $315,700,000
(2012 Sml)

b) £1,027,000 (2012 £mil) of cumulative unrealized foreign exchange gains arising on the translation of the
US dollar denominated loan, being the difference between the histenc exchange rate and the year-end spot
rate

The Group has the option to repay the secured term loan at any time with scheduled repayments of 2 5% per annum
of the nitial $315,700,000 loan (first payable in June 2014) with an additional repayment of up to an incremental 2 5% per
annum (for a total of up to 5 0% per annum) depending on the level of excess cash flow generated by the Group (hkely to be
first payable in October 2014) The remasning balance of the loan 1s repayable on 21 June 2018 The loan attracts interest of
US dollar Libor plus an apphcable margin of between 1 5% and 2 75% per annum The loan was provided to our
wholly-owned finance subsidiary, MU Finance pic, and is guaranteed by Red Football Limited, Red Football Jumior Limited,
Manchester United Limuted, Manchester United Football Club Limited and MU Finance plc and 1s secured against
substantially all of the assets of Red Football Limited and each of the guarantors

The senior secured notes of £171,497,000 (2012 £410,585,000) compnise

c) £160,220,000 (2012 £401,966,000) of sentor secured notes, net of unamortized i1ssue discount and
unamortized debt finance costs amounting to £5,992,000 (2012 £17,828,000), translated at the historic
exchange rate The notes compnise principal amounts of $269,180,000 (2012 $393,000,000) of US dollar
denominated senior secured notes attracting a fixed coupon rate of 8 375% and £ml (2012 £177,775,000)
of pounds sterling seruor secured notes attracting a fixed coupon rate of 8 75%

d) £11,277,000 (2012 £8,619,000) of cumulative unrealized foreign exchange losses ansing on the translation

of the US dollar denominated sentor secured notes being the difference between the histonic exchange rate
and the year-end spot rate
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The senior secured notes are secured by a first-ranking lien over all shares and substantially all property and assets
of the 1ssuer (MU Finance plc) and guarantors, which by definition incorporates Red Football Limited, Red Football Jumor
Limited, Manchester United Limited and Manchester United Football Club Limited The notes are listed on the Luxembourg
stock exchange and are traded on the Euro MTF market The notes are due for repayment in 2017 and interest 1s paid
semi-annually

The Group has the option to redeem the senior secured notes at any time prior to their 2017 repayment date by
paying a specified premium on the principat amounts redeemed dependant on the date of redemption Duning the year ended
30 June 2013 the Group repurchased the pounds sterhing equivalent of £254,500,000 (2012 £28,211,000) of semior secured
notes compnsing £177,775,000 (2012 £14,000,000) of pounds sterling senior secured notes and $123,820,000 (2012
$23,000,000) of US dollar denominated senior secured notes The consideration paid amounted to £276,477,000 (2012
£30,391,000) including a premum on repurchase of £21,977,000 (2012 £2,180,000) The premium on repurchase and
consequent accelerated amortization of 1ssue discount and debt finance costs are itnmediately recognized in the income
statement—see note 7 Repurchased senior secured notes have been retired

The secured bank loan of £6,469,000 (2012 £6,828,000) comprises a bank loan within Alderley Urban Investments
Limited, a substdiary of Manchester Umited Limzted, that attracts interest of Libor + 1% £2,270,000 (2012 £2,629,000) is
repayable m quarterly mstalments through to July 2018, with the remaimng balance of £4,199,000 (2012 £4,199,000) being
re-payable at par on 9 July 2018 The loan 1s secured by way of a first legal charge over a Group investment property, known
as the Manchester International Freight Terminal, and the loan 1s also guaranteed by Manchester United Limited

The Group also has undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £75,000,000 (2012 £75,000,000) No drawdowns
were made from these facilities during 2013 or 2012

Analysis of changes in net debt

Net debt 1s defined as non-current and current borrowings minus cash and cash equivalents Net debt 1s a financial
performance indicator that 1s used by the Group’s management to momitor liquidity nsk The Company believes that net debt
1s meaningful for investors as it provides a clear overview of the net indebtedness position of the Company and 1s used by the

Chief Operating Decision Maker 1n managing the business

The following tables provide a reconciltation of the movement in the Group’s net debt

Non-cash
At 1 July 2012 Cash flows movements At 30 June 2013
£:000 £'000 £7060 £000
Non-current borrowings 421,247 (54,657) 10,884 377,474
Current borrowings 15,628 (36,470) 32,601 11,759
Less cash and cash equivalents (70,603) (24,445) 615 (94,433)
366,272 (115,572) 44 100 294,800

Non-cash movements largely compnse a net foreign exchange loss anising on translation of US doliar denommnated
secured term loan and senwor secured notes and amortization of 1ssue discount, debt finance and debt 1ssue costs, offset by the
movement on accrued interest on the sentor secured notes

Non-cash
At 1 July 2011 Cash flows movements At 30 June 2012
£7000 £000 £°000 £000
Non-current borrowings 442,330 (28,211) 7,128 421,247
Current borrowings 16,573 (37.827) 36,882 15,628
Less cash and cash equivalents (150,645) 80,112 (70) {70,603)
308,258 14,074 43,940 366,272

Non-cash movements largely compnise the foreign exchange gain ansing on transtation of US dollar denominated
sentor secured notes, offset by movement on accrued interest on the semior secured notes and amortization of 1ssue discount,
debt finance and debt 1ssue costs

F-33




25 Provisions

The provision relates entirely to an onerous property lease in the Republic of Ireland which contains a break clause

that may be exercised in 2015 The movement in the provision was as follows

Opening balance

Unlised

Unwinding of discount
Movements on foreign exchange
Closing balance

The balance compnses
Non-current

Current

26 Deferred tax

2013 2012

£7000 £70040
1,806 2,476
(508)  (480)
55 69

107 (259) |

1,460 1806
988 1378
472 428
1,460 1,806

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset where the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so The following
1s the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes

2013 1012
£000 £000
US deferred tax assets
—Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 menths (127517 —
—Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months (17,611 —
(145,128) —
UK deferred tax hiabilities
—Deferred tax habilities to be recovered after more than 12 months 17,168 26,678 ‘
—Deferred tax habilities to be recovered within 12 months — — |
17,168 26,678 ‘
Net deferred tax (asset)/liabhhties {127,960) 26,678
The movement in US deferred tax assets are as follows
Net Property,
Foreign operating plant and Intangible
tax credits losses equipment assets Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000
At 1 July and 30 June 2012 — — — — — —
Credited to income statement
(note 9) (17,370) (17,670) 1,756 {93,713) (18,078) (145,075}
Charged to other comprehensive
income (note 9) {53) — — — — (33)
At 30 June 2013 (17,423) {17,670) 1,756 (93,713) (18,078) {145,128)

Deferred tax assets are recogmsed only to the extent that 1 1s probable that they will be available for use against
future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable profit available against which temporary differences can be
utihized At 30 June 2013, the current forecasts indicate that the Group will utilize US foreign tax credits, net operating losses
and other temporary differences and accordingly, the associated deferred tax balances have been brought to account 1n the
year Net operating losses created in the period 1n the US do not have an indefinite hfe and witl expire in 2028 1fthey are not
utilized US foreign tax credits created 1n a period, which are not utilized, can be carned forward up to ten years and offset

against future US taxable profits

The £145,075,000 tax credit in 2013 relates to onginatton and reversal of temporary differences amounting to a

charge of £8,242,000 and the recognition of additional US tax base amounting to a credit of £153,317,000 which comprises

three elements, as follows
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As a result of the reorgamzation transactions related to the IPQO, the Company inhented the £96,114,000 camed
forward US tax bases of Red Football Limited Partnership, which the Group will benefit from by way of future
US tax deductions

Furthermore, the reorgamzanion resulted in additional US tax bases or ‘step-up’ that 1s currently expected to
result 1n the availability of further US tax deductions The resulting 1ncrease in tax bases 1s currently estimated
to be approximately $350 milhen (£225 million) gross, although not all of this 15 expected to result in increased
tax deductions At the time of preparing these financial statements, the deductible element of the ‘step-up’ had
not yet been finahized and consequently the £31,945,000 recognized as a deferred tax asset with respect to the
‘step-up’ reflects management’s current best estimate of the portion that it 1s probable will be realized The
Group expects to finalize the position by the end of the fiscal 2014

In additton, the Group 1s expected to utilize future UK taxes paid as foreign tax credits in the US, and as such
can ‘muror’ the existing UK net deferred tax hability as a deferred tax asset in the US As the UK deferred tax
habihty unwinds, there will be UK taxable income which will result 1n a US foreign tax credit The benefit of
the additional expected foreign tax credits results in a deferred tax asset of £25,258,000

These amounts have been recogmzed on the basis that 1t 1s probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits in the

future to utilize the future US tax deductions

The movement in UK net deferred tax habilities are as follows

Other
Rolled (m¢luding
over gaimn Non Property Net other fair
Accelerated tax on player qualifying fair value operating value
depreciation disposal property adjustment losses adjustments) Total
£'000 £ 000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
At 1 July 2011 1,270 10,604 19,629 23,303 —_ (400) 54,406
Credited to income statement
(note 9) (502)  (6,422) (1,772) (2,140)  (17,160) (106)  (28,102)
Charged to other
comprchenswe mncome
(note 9) — — — — — 374 374
At 30 June 2012 768 4,182 17,857 21,163 (17,160} (132) 26,678
Credited to income statement
(note 9) 176 589 (996) (1,215) (6,895) (1,011 (9,352)
Credited 10 other
comprehenswe mcome
(note 9) — — — — — (158) (158)
At 30 June 2013 944 4,771 16,861 19,948  (24,055) (1,301) 17,168

Deferred tax assets are recognized on losses carried forward only to the extent that 1t 15 probable that they will be
available for use against future profits and that there will be sufficient future taxable profit available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised At 30 June 2013 the Group has no accessible unrecogmsed UK tax losses (2012 £ml)

The main rate of UK corporate tax reduced from 24% to 23% from 1 Apnl 2013 The reduction to 23% was enacted
in July 2012 and consequently deferred tax balances have been re-measured to 23% Proposals have been announced to
further reduce the rate to 21% from 1 Apnl 2014 and 10 20% from 1 Apnil 2015 The further reductions to 21% and 20%
were enacted in July 2013 The overall effect of the further reductions from 23% to 20%, if these apphed to the deferred tax
balance at 30 June 2013, would be to reduce the deferred tax halmhty by £2,239,000
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27 Cash generated from operations

2013 2012 2011

Note £°000 £'000 £000
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (8,793) (4,664) 12,004
Depreciation charges 12, 13 7,769 7,478 6,989
Impairment charges 6 — — 2,013
Amortization of players’ registrations 15 41,714 38,262 39,245
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (7} - (46)
Profit on disposal of players’ registrations (9,162) (9,691} (4,466}
Net finance costs 70,807 49 536 51,250
Equity-settled share-based payments 22 832 — —
Fair value losses/{gains) on derivative financial instrumnents 91 (e 1,047
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 8,728 (9,414) (17,483)
Increase in trade and other payables and deferred revenue 18,352 9,625 34,727
Decrease 1n provisions {(401) (7139 (140)
Cash generated from cperations 129,930 80,302 125,140

28 Transactions with non-controlling interest

On 2 January 2013, the Group acquired the remaiming 33 3% of the 1ssued share capital of MUTV Limuted for a
purchase consideration (including transaction costs) of £2,664,000 The Group now holds 100% of the 1ssued share capital of
MUTYV Limited The carrying amount of the non-controlhing interests n MUTYV Limited on the date of acquisition was
{£1,834,000) The Group derecognmzed non-controlling interests of (£1,834,000) and recorded a decrease m equity
attributable to owners of the parent of £4,498,000 The effect of changes in the ownership interest of MUTV Limeted on the
equity attributable to owners of the parent during the year 1s summarized as follows

2013 2012

£'000 £7000
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired (1,834) —
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest (2,664) —
Excess recognized 1n equity attributable to owners of the parent (4,498) —

There were no transactions with non-controlling interests 1n 2012
29 Contingencies

At 30 June 2013, the Group had no material contingent habilities 1n respect of legal claims anising in the ordinary
course of business Contingent transfer fees are disclesed in note 30 3

30 Commitments
30.1 Operating lease commitments

The Group leases various prermses and plant and equipment under non- cancellable operating lease agreements The
majonty of the lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease penod at market rate The operating lease expenditure

charged to the income statement during the year 1s disclosed 1n note 5 The future aggregate mumimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2013 2012

£'000 £'000
Not later than 1 year 2,770 2,668
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 3,167 5,610
Later than 5 years 4,274 4,352

10,211 12,630

The above amounts include minimum lease payments relating to an onerous property lease in the Republic of
Ireland which are included 1n provisions (see note 25)
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30.2 Capital commitments

As of 30 June 2013, the Group had capital commutments relating to property, plant and equipment amounting to
£7 9 million (2012 £8 3 million)

30.3  Contingent transfer fees

Under the terms of certain contracts with other football clubs in respect of player transfers, additional amounts, 1n
excess of the amounts included 1n the cost of players’ registrations, would be payable by the Group if certain substantive
performance conditions are met These excess amounts are only recognised within the cost of players’ registrations when the
Company considers that it 1s probable that the condition related to the payment will be achieved For MUFC appearances, the
Company estimates the probability of the player achieving the contracted number of appearances The conditions relating to
the signing of a new contract and international appearances are only considered to be probable once they have been achieved
The maximum additional amounts that could be payable 1s £20,649,000 (2012 £19,371,000) No matenal adjustment was
required to the amounts included 1n the cost of players’ registrattons during the year (2012 and 2011 no matenal
adjustments) and consequently there was no matenal impact on the amortization of players’ registration charges in the
income statement (2012 and 2011 no material impact)

As of 30 June 2013 the potential amount payable by type of condition and category of player was

First team squad Other Total
£'000 £°000 £'000
Type of condition
MUFC appearances/new contract 12386 4,403 16,789
International appearances 3,700 160 3,860

16,086 4,563 20,649

As of 30 June 2012 the potential amount payable by type of condition and category of player was

First team squad Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Type of condition
MUFC appearances/new contract 9577 6,734 16,311
International appearances 2,700 360 3,060

12,277 7,094 19,371

31 Pension arrangements
311 Defined benefit scheme

Certain employees of the Group are members of The Football League Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
(“the Scheme”) Accrual of benefits on a final salary basis was suspended with effect from 31 August 1999 following an
actuanal review which revealed a substantial deficit

As one of 92 participating employers, the Group 1s unable to identify 11s share of the assets and habilities of the
Scheme and therefore accounts for its contnbutions as 1f they were paid to a defined contribution scheme The Group 15
advised only of the additional contnbutions 1t 1s required to pay to make good the deficit The Group has received
confirmation that the assets and habilities of the Scheme cannot be spht between the participating employers Full provision
has been made for the additional contnbutions that the Group has been requested to pay to help fund the deficit as it 1s
principally attributable to employees who have left the Group or retired These contributions could increase 1n the future if
one or more of the participating employers exits the Scheme

Based on the latest actuanal valuation as of 31 August 2011, the Group has been advised that the overall deficit of
the Scheme has increased to £25,700,000 A charge of £ml has been made to the income statement durning the year (2012
£1,792,000) being the present value of the additional contributions the Group ts expected to pay to make good the increased
deficit of the Scheme The Group has agreed to make contnibutions of £3,839,000 over a period of ten years from September
2012 The chscounted habihty as of 30 June 2013 amounts to £229,000 (2012 £205,000) due within one year and £2,191,000
(2012 £2,420,000) due after more than one year and 15 included within other payables
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31.2 Defined contribufion schemes

Contributtons made to defined contribution pension arrangements are charged to the income statement in the period
in which they become payable and for the year ended 3¢ June 2013 amounted to £1,798,000 (2012 £1,422,000, 2011
£1,428,000) As at 30 June 2013, contributions of £238,000 (2012 £198,000) due 1n respect of the current reporting penod
had not been paid over te the pension schemes

The assets of all pension schemes to which the Group contnbutes are held separately from the Group in
mdependently admimstered funds

32 Financial nsk management
321 Financial nisk factors

The Group's activities expose 1t to a vanety of financial nsks market nsk (including currency nisk and interest rate
r1sk), credit nsk and hquidity risk The Group uses denivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures, and has
designated certain denivatives as hedges of cash flows (cash flow hedge)

The policy for each of the above risks 1s described 1n more detail below
a) Market nsk
Currency risk

The Group s exposed to the following currency nisks

+  Significant revenue received 1n Euros pnmanly as a result of participation 1n European cup competitions
During the year ended 30 June 2013 the Group received a total of €40 7 mulhion of revenue denominated 1n
Euros (2012 €40 2 milhon, 2011 €55 3 million) The Group seeks to hedge the majenity of the currency nisk of
this revenue by placing forward contracts at the point at which it becomes reasonably certain that 1t will receive
the revenue

+  Sigmficant amount of sponsorship revenue denominated in US dollars During the year ended 30 June 2012 the
Group received a total of $91 0 mllion of revenue denominated in US dollars (2012 $58 0 miliion, 2011
$41 2 milion)

»  Rusks ansing from the US dollar denominated secured term loan and senior secured notes (see note 24) At
30 June 2013 the secured term loan and semor secured notes included principal amounts of US$584,880,000
(2012 US$393,000,000) denominated in US doltars which are not hedged and are therefore retranslated at the
closing rate for each reporting date The currency retranslation for the year ended 30 June 2013 resulted in a
charge to the income statement of £2,501,000 (2012 charge of £5,191,000, 2011 credit of £16,414,000)—see
note 7 Interest 1s paid on these borrowings in US dollars

+  The Group only considers hedging US dollar exposures to the extent that there 1s an excess of currency
receivable after the interest payments have been made and after taking nte consideration the credit nisk of the
counterparty

«  Payment and receipts of transfer fees may also give nise to foreign currency exposures Due to the nature of
player transfers the Group may not always be able to predict such cash flows until the transfer has taken place
Where possible and depending on the payment profile of transfer fees payable and receivable the Group will
seek to hedge future payments and receipts at the point it becomes reasonably certain that the payments will be
made or the income will be received When hedging income to be received, the Group also takes account of the
credit nsk of the counterparty

It 15 the policy of the Group to enter 1nto forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency
payments and receipts The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate nisk anising
from anticipated future income relating to participation 1n the UEFA Champions League, which are designated as cash flow
hedges The Group has also entered nto a forward foreign exchange contract to hedge the exchange rate nsk ansing from a
future payment relaung to the acquisition of a player registration, this has not been designated as a hedging instrument The
followtng table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding at the reporting date
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2013 2012

Average Forewgn Notional Fair Average Forergn Notional Fawr

exchange currency value value exchange currency value value

rate €000 £000 £°000 rate €000 £'000 12000
Sell Euro 1.1565 32,171 27,818 231 11886 28,109 23,649 876
Buy Euro — — — —_— 12506 11,000 (8,796) 91
27,818 231 14,853 967

As at 30 June 2013, the aggregate amount of gains, net of tax, under forward foreign exchange contracts deferred 1n
the cash flow hedging reserve relating to the anticipated future income from participation in the UEFA Champions League
was £231,000 [t is anticipated that the future income watl be recerved within the next 12 months, at which time the amount
deferred 1n equity will be reclassified to the revenue line within the income statement

As at 30 June 2012, the aggregate amount of gains, net of tax, under forward foreign exchange contracts deferred in
the cash flow hedging reserve relating to the anticipated future income from participation in the UEFA Champions League
was £666,000 The future income was received tn the financial year ended 30 June 2013 and consequently the amount
deferred 1n equity was reclassified to the revenue line within the income statement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated menetary assets and monetary labilities are as
fellows

2013 2012
Euro US Dollar Euro US Dollar
€000 $°000 €000 $000
Monetary assets 1,739 86,937 9,450 60,114
Monetary habihities (3,033) (584,841) {20,168) (423,591)

(1,294) (497,904) (10,718)  (363.477)

At 30 June 2013

» f pounds sterling had strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other vanables held constant, equtty and
post-tax profit for the year would have been £0 1 million higher (2012 £0 8 milhon higher)

« 1f pounds sterling had weakened by 10% against the Euro, with all other variables held constant, equity and
post-tax profit for the year would have been £0 1 million tower (2012 £1 0 milhon tower)

« f pounds sterhing had strengthened by 10% against the US dollar, with all other vanables held constant, equity
and post-tax profit for the year would have been £28 9 milhion higher (2012 £21 I milhon higher)

» 1f pounds sterling had weakened by 10% against the US dollar, with all other vanables held constant, equity and
post-tax profit for the year would have been £24 8 million lower (2012 £25 8 millicn lower)

Interest rate nsk

The Group has no sigmficant interest bearing assets other than cash on deposit which attracts interest at a small
margin above UK base rates

The Group’s interest rate nsk anses from its borrowings Bomrowings 1ssued at variable interest rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate nsk Borrowings 1ssued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk The
Group's borrowings are denominated 1n pounds sterling and US dollar Full details of the Group's borrowings and associated
interest rates can be found in note 24

The Group analyses 1ts interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis Various scenarnos are simulated taking into
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging Based on these scenanos, the
Group calculates the impact on profit or loss and equity of a defined interest rate shuft For each simulation, the same interest
shaft 1s used for all currencies The scenanos are run only for habilities that represent the major interest beanng positions
Based on the simulations performed, the umpact on equity and post-tax profit of a | 0% shift would not be matenal to any
penods presented
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Based on vartous scenarios, the Group manages its cash flow interest rate nisk where appropriate using interest rate
swaps at contract lengths consistent with the repayment schedule of the borrowings Such interest rate swaps have the
econemic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates These are approved by the Executive Board of
Manchester United plc and the Board receives updates on a regular basis 1n respect of the hedging position

The Group has entered into a number of swap agreements The following table details the interest rate swaps
committed 1o at the reporting date

2013 2012
Principal value Principal value
of loan of loan
outstanding Rate outstanding Rate
£°000 recerved Rate paid Expiry date £000 receved Rate paid Expiry date
*6,46%- 4,199 3 monthLibor Fixed6.!1%  9.July 2018 *6,828-4,199 3 monthLibor Fixed6 1% 9 July 2018
* The principal value of the interest rate swaps reduces with the secured bank loan repayment terms, see note 24

As of 30 June 2013 the fair value of these interest rate swaps was a hability of £1,337,000 (2012 £1,685,000)
b) Credit nsk

Credit nsk refers to the nsk that a counterparty will default on 1ts contractual obhigations resulting 1n financial loss to
the Group Credit nsk 1s managed on a Group basis and arises from cash and cash eqguivalents and trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments}—the maximurn credit exposure 1s £152,614,000 (2012 £137,141,000) Management does not
expect any matenal losses from non-performance by these counterparties and there are no sigmificant concentrations of credit
risk within the Group Denvative financial instruments and cash and cash equivzlents are placed with counterpartics with a
minimum Moody's rating of Aa3

Credit terms offered by the Group vary depending on the type of sale For seasonal match day facilities and
sponsorship contracts, payment 1s usually required in advance of the season 1o which the sale relates For other sales the
credit terms typically range from 14 - 30 days, although specific agreements may be negotiated in individual contracts with
terms beyond 30 days For player transfer activities, credit terms are determined on a contract by contract basis Of the net
total trade recervable balance of £33,475,000 (2012 £48,839,000), £7,913,000 (2012 £6,879,000) relates to amounts
recetvable from various other football clubs in relation to player trading and £17,259,000 (2012 £37,555,000) relates to
commercial sponsorship

As at 30 June 2013, trade receivables of £27,135,000 (2012 £44,579,000) were neither past due nor impaired
Management considers that, based on histonical information about default rates and the current strength of relationships (a
number of which are recurnng long term refationships) the credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired 15 good

As at 30 June 2013, trade recetvables of £6,340,000 (2012 £4,240,000) were past due but not impaired These relate
to independent customers for whom there 15 no recent history of default The ageing analysis of these trade receivables 1s as
follows

2013 2012

£°000 £000
Up to 3 months past due 5,609 4,168
Over 3 months past due 731 72
6,340 4,240

As at 30 June 2013, trade recervables of £6,055,000 (2012 £2,606,000) were imparred and provided for The
amount of the proviston as at 30 June 2013 was £6,055,000 (2012 £2,586,000) The individually impaired receivables
largely relate to a transfer fee recervable of £2,147,000 (2012 £2,147,000) due from one football club who have entered
administration The ageing of these receivables, based on due date, 15 as follows
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Up to 3 months
Over 3 months

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade recervables are as follows

Brought forward

Provisions for receivables impairment
Receivables wnitten off during the year as uncollectible

Carnried forward

c) Liquidity nsk

2013 2012
£'000 £'000

1,053 19
5,002 2,587
6,055 2,606
2013 2012

_£000 _£000

2586 2,680

3,470 246
(1) (340)

6,055 2,586

The Group’s policy 1s to mamntain a balance of continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of secured term
loans, semor secured notes and other borrowings as applicable The annual cash flow 1s cyclical in nature with a significant

portion of cash inflows being received prior to the start of the playing season Ultimate responsibility for hqudity nsk

management rests with the executive directors of Manchester United ple The Directors use management information tools
including budgets and cash flow forecasts to constantly monitor and manage current and future hquidity

Cash flow forecasting 15 performed on a regular basis which includes rolling forecasts of the Group’s hquidity

requirements 10 ensure that the Group has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaiming sufficient headroom on
its undrawn commutied borrowing facihities at all imes so that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants on

any of its borrowing faciliies The Group's borrowing facilities are described in note 24 Financing facilities have been

agreed at appropnate levels having regard to the Group’s operating cash flows and future development plans

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above that required for working capital management are

invested by Group finance 1n interest beanng current accounts or money market deposits At the reporting date, the Group
held cash and cash equivalents of £94,433,000 (2012 £70,603,000)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financtal

lhiabilities 1nto relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual matunty
date The amounts disclosed 1n the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than Between 1 Between 2
1 year and 2 years and 5 years Over 5 years
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Trade and other payables excluding social secunty and
other taxes(1) 63,565 11,199 7,576 1,287
Borrowings 27,833 33,060 423,074 4,321
91,398 44,259 430,650 5,608
Non-trading(2) and net settled derivative financiat
instruments
cash outflow 383 332 852 60
cash inflow (260) — — —
At 30 June 2013 91,521 44,591 431,502 5,668
Trade and other payables excluding social secunty and
other taxes(1) 69,258 9,351 14,081 1,732
Borrowings 37.317 37,334 525,283 8,652
106,575 46,685 539,364 10,384
Non-trading(2} and net settled derivative financial
mstruments
cash outflow 348 329 862 297
cash inflow {(967) — — —
At 30 June 2012 105,956 47,014 540,226 10,681
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(1) Social secunty and other taxes are excluded from trade and other payables balance, as this analysis 1s required only
for financial instruments

(2} Non-trading denvatives are included at their fair value at the reporting date
322 Camtal nsk management

The Group manages 1its capital 1o ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance Capital 1s calculated as
“equity attributable to owners of the parent” as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt Net debt 1s calculated as total
borrowings (including “‘current and non-current borrowings™ as shown 1n the balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents
and 15 used by management 1n monitoring the net indebtedness of the Group A reconcihation of net debt 1s shown in note 24

32.3 Fair value estimation

The following table presents the assets and habilines that are measured at fair value The fair value hierarchy used 1n
measuring fair value has the following levels

«  Level 1—quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or lrabilities,

= Level 2—nputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hability,
erther directly (1 e as pnices) or indirectly {1 ¢ denved from prices),

«  Level 3—inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

2013 2012
£'000 £'000
Assets
Dervative financial assets designated as cash flow hedges
(note 17) 260 876
Denvative financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(note 17) — 91
Liabibties
Dernvative financial habilities designated as cash flow hedges
(note 17) 29 —
Derivative financial habilities at fair value through profit or loss
(note 17) (1,337) (1,685)

(1,106) (718)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 1s determined by using valuation
techmques These valuation technmiques maximise the use of observable market data where 1t 15 available and rely as hitle as
possible on entity specific estimates If all sigmficant inputs required t¢ fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument 1s categorised as Level 2

All of the dervative assets and hahlities detailed above are categorised as Level 2
33 Related party transactions

As described 1n note 1 1, the immediate parent undertaking of Manchester United plc 1s Red Football LLC, a
company incorporated in the state of Delaware The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s Red Football
Limited Partnership, a limited partnership formed 1n the state of Nevada, United States of Amernica whose general partner 1s
Red Football General Partner, Inc , a corporation formed in the state of Nevada, United States of Amenca. Red Football
Limited Partnership and Red Football General Partner, Inc are controlled by famuly trusts affiliated with the Glazer fammly

The following transactions were carned out with related parttes
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331 Loans to related parties !

A subsidiary company, Manchester Umited Limited, granted loans to certain directors in 2008 The aggregate
amount of the loans was £10 0 million (£1 7 million each to Ms Darcie Glazer Kassewitz and Messrs Avram, Bryan,
Edward, Joel and Kevin Glazer} The interest rate charged on the loans from the date of 1ssue was 5 5% per annum Interest
charged dunng the year amounted to £ml (2012 £457,491) The loans were repaid 1n full on 25 Apnil 2012

33.2 Interest 1n senmior secured notes

Mr Kevin Glazer, a director of the Company, and certain members of his immediate famly hold an interest 1n the
Group’s US dollar denominated senior secured notes The principal amount of the Group’s semior secured notes held by
Mr Kevin Glazer and certain members of his immediate family at 30 June 2013 was $7 3 mullion (2012 $10 6 million) The
US dollar denominated notes attract a fixed coupon rate of 8 375% Interest payable to Mr Kevin Glazer and certain
members of his immediate farmly during the year amounted to £449,000 (2012 £558,000, 2011 £379,000) of which
£158,000 (2012 £233,000, 2011 £228,000) was accrued at the year end

333 Fees

The Group incurred a management fee of £ml (2012 £3,000,000, 2011 £7,200,000) from Red Football Lirmted
Partnership, the ultimate parent undertaking of Manchester United plc as described in note 1 1 The fees pard to Red Football
Limited Partnership were for the provision of consulting services to the Group, including strategic, sponsorship, commercial
partnership, marketing, finance and related advice

34 Subsidianes

The following companies are the principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company following the reorgamzation
transactions described in note 1 1

Descnipbion of

Subsidiaries Principal actmvity Issued share capital share classes owned
Red Football Finance Limited Finance company USD 0 01 100% Ordinary
Red Football Holdings Limited Holding company GBP 150,000,001 100% Ordinary
Red Football Sharcholder Limited Holding company GBP 99 100% Ordinary
Red Football Joint Venture Limited Holding company GBP 99 100% Ordinary
Red Football Limited Holding company GBP 99 100% Ordinary
Red Football Junior Limited Holding company GBP 100 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Lymited Commercial company GBP 26,519,248 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Football Club

Limmted Professional football club GBP 1,008,546 100% Ordinary
MU Finance plc Debt-holding company GBP 15,000,000 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Interactive Limited Media company GBP 10,000 100% Ordinary
Manchester United Commercial

Enterprises (Ireland) Limited Property investment EUR 13 100% Ordinary
Alderley Urban Investments Limited Property investment GBP2 100% Ordinary
MUTYV Limited Subscnption TV channel GBP 2,400 100% Ordinary

All of the above are incorporated and operate 1n England and Wales, with the exception of Red Football Finance
Limited which 1s incorporated and operates in the Cayman Islands and Manchester Umted Commercial Enterprises (Ireland)
Limited which 1s incorporated and operates 1n Ireland
35 Events after the reporting date
Playmng registrations

The playing registrations of certain footballers have been disposed of, subsequent to 30 June 2013, for total
proceeds, net of associated costs, of £724,000 The assoctated net book value was £mil These registrations have not been
reclassified as held for sale as the associated net book value was £nil

Subsequent to 30 June 2013 the playing registratiens of certamn players were acquired or extended for a total

consideration, including asscciated costs, of £30,061,000
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly
caused and authonzed the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf

Date 24 October 2013

Manchester United ple

By

(Registrant)

/s/ EDWARD WOODWARD
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Title Executive Vice Chairman
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